Evaluating the Uptake and Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening in Canada: A Cross-sectional Study Using Data from the Canadian Community Health Surveys

By

©Kazeem Adefemi

A Thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Division of Population Health & Applied Health Sciences,

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

September 2024

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Abstract

Background: Colorectal cancer (CRC) screening is recognised as a critical public health tool in reducing incidence and mortality of CRC, yet participation rates in Canada exhibit significant regional, racial, and sociodemographic disparities. Understanding these disparities and the various factors influencing screening behaviour is essential for developing targeted interventions and policies to increase equitable screening uptake and reduce the burden of CRC.

Aim: This thesis explores the complexities of CRC screening uptake in Canada by examining regional variations, racial and sociodemographic disparities, and concurrent participation in multiple cancer screenings.

Methods: Three studies were conducted using data from multiple cycles of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS). The first study analysed CRC screening uptake in the Atlantic Provinces, focusing on changes in barriers and predictors of screening post-implementation of provincial CRC screening programs across the four provinces in the region. This study uses the 2010 and 2017 CCHS datasets, the most recent CCHS surveys with CRC screening data for all provinces. The second study explored racial and sociodemographic disparities in CRC screening at the national level, assessing participation rates across the different population groups, using the 2017 CCHS datasets. The third study investigated the factors influencing concurrent participation in breast, cervical,

ii

and CRC screenings among Canadian women eligible for all three screening programs, using the 2017 CCHS datasets. The methodologies for the studies all included cross-sectional analyses and in-depth statistical evaluations of survey data.

Results: The first study found an increase in CRC screening uptake in the Atlantic Provinces from an average of 42% in 2010 to 54% in 2017, post-implementation of CRC screening programs, but with notable variations across the different provinces. The second study revealed a national CRC screening participation rate of 59.8%, with lower rates among lower income, immigrants, and certain minority groups, particularly South-East Asians and South Asians. The third study found that participation in both cervical and breast cancer screening (64%) was notably higher than CRC screening (53.7%), and only 27% of women participated in all three cancer screenings, with socioeconomic status and lifestyle factors being significant predictors of concurrent screening behaviors.

Conclusions: This research provides a general understanding of CRC screening participation in Canada, highlighting the need for region-specific strategies, culturally sensitive health promotion, and integrated screening approaches. The findings underscore the importance of addressing both regional and sociodemographic disparities in CRC screening. This thesis contributes to public health knowledge by identifying key areas for intervention and future research,

iii

ultimately aiming to improve CRC screening uptake and reduce disparities in cancer care.

Key Words: colorectal cancer, screening, healthcare disparities,

sociodemographic factors, public health, Canada, regional variations, concurrent screening.

General Summary

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a major public health concern and a leading cause of cancer-related deaths. Early detection through screening is crucial for reducing mortality rates. However, despite the availability of screening programs, participation rates vary widely across Canada. This thesis aimed to explore these variations in CRC screening, focusing on three critical aspects: regional differences, racial and sociodemographic differences, and the participation in multiple cancer screenings among Canadian women who are eligible for multiple screening programs.

The first part of the thesis examined the effect of CRC screening programs in Canada's Atlantic Provinces. Prior to these programs, CRC screening rates were relatively low in this region. The introduction of organised screening programs aimed to increase participation. The study found that although screening rates improved from 42% to 54% on average, they still fell short of the national target of 60%. Notably, there was differences in progress across these provinces, highlighting the necessity of targeted strategies that cater to each province's distinct demographic and healthcare characteristics.

The second study shifted focus to a broader national perspective, exploring racial and sociodemographic variations in CRC screening across Canada. The study found that while the overall national screening rate was almost 60%, participation varied among different population sub-groups. Lower income, immigrants, and certain minority ethnic groups, especially those from South-East Asian and South Asian backgrounds, participated less in CRC screening. This suggests that barriers like cultural differences, language issues, and systemic challenges are influential and highlight the need for culturally sensitive, inclusive health communication and educational approaches.

The third part investigates the simultaneous involvement of eligible Canadian women in breast, cervical, and CRC screenings. Surprisingly, only a quarter participate in all three, with those of higher income and healthier lifestyles being more likely to screen.

Together, this research offers broader view of CRC screening in Canada, identifying key gaps and opportunities for improvement. It suggests that localfocused health policies and inclusive communication strategies are crucial for effectively engaging diverse populations.

vi

Acknowledgements

This research was supported financially by the Cancer Research Training Program (CRTP) of the Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute (BHCRI). Over and above the financial support, I am also grateful for the opportunity to learn, collaborate and network with academics and researchers from all across the Atlantic region that the CRTP provides. Also, I acknowledge the financial assistance received from the Aging Research Council of Newfoundland & Labrador (ARC-NL) Graduate Fellowship program.

I owe a great debt of gratitude to so many people who have supported me through the last four and half years and without whom my doctoral program and this thesis won't have been successful.

First and foremost, I am grateful to my supervisor Dr. Peter Wang and my cosupervisor, Dr. John Knight. Peter, thank you for trusting in me from the very first day and for being my mentor, teacher, and supporter over the last four years. Thank you, especially for your unwavering support and guidance every time I needed extra support and for your kindness towards my family. John, thank you for always making time to guide, provide feedback and support me, despite your very busy schedule, especially through the data acquisition process. Thank you also to Dr. Yun Zhu, the third member of my supervisory committee. Your support through the data analyses process was invaluable. You all have been kind, wonderful and supportive, and I am grateful for the opportunity to work with you and learn from your extensive knowledge and experience.

To Pablo Navarro, thank you for being a mentor, boss, and a wonderful friend. Academically, professionally, and personally, the last few years on this Island would have been much tougher without you. I am grateful for your support and friendship and all those hikes through the wonderful trails this Island has to offer. My sincere gratitude to all the great people at NL Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR), especially Tyrone White, Rochelle Baker, Sarah Mackey, Rick Audas and Colin Walsh. You have all enriched my experience here, supported and contributed to the success of my doctoral program more than you know.

To the staff of the Research and Graduate Studies (RGS), especially Amy Carroll, thank you for your consistent support and assistance. Thank you for listening to my endless questions, answering my countless emails, and making sure everything ran smoothly. I am also grateful to the staff of the Research Data Centre (RDC-MUN), especially Sinikka and Miranda, for all your support and patience through what seemed like an unending data analyses process.

This whole journey wouldn't have been possible without the help and support of all the wonderful friends that I have made along the way, especially Mohammad Pirchel, Newman Dieyi, Lucy Nakibuuka, Tasneem Jaffar, and Andrea Diamond. It

viii

wasn't always easy, but I feel so privileged and grateful to share this journey with you all and I remain forever grateful for your support and friendship.

Finally, to my darling wife, Awawu Ajoke, my sons, Amjad and Alim, my daughters, Aneefah and Ameerah and the memory of my parents, AbdulGaniy and Idowu, Adefemi, none of this would be possible without your love, support, patience, and encouragement. Thank you, Ajoke Mi, for being my most steadfast support and for all your love, patience, dedication, and commitment to the family. None of this would be possible without your support and I am forever grateful.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
General Summary	v
Acknowledgements	vii
List of Tables	xv
List of Figures	xvii
List of Abbreviations	xviii
Funding Support	xx
Chapter One: Overview and Introductions	2
1.1. Overview	2
1.2. Colorectal Cancer in Canada: A Public Health Concern	3
1.3. Disparities in CRC Screening Participation	4
1.4. Organised Screening Programs in Canada	5
1.5. Comparative Analysis with Other Cancer Screening Programs	6
1.6. Thesis Goal and Objectives	7
1.7. Theoretical Framework: Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Servi	ces Use8
Chapter Two: Background	12
2.1. Colorectal Cancer: An overview	12
2.2. The Large Intestine	13
2.3. Risk Factors of Colorectal Cancer	15
2.3.1. Modifiable Risk Factors of CRC	16
2.3.2. Genetic Risk factors	19
2.4. Natural History of Colorectal Cancer	25
2.5. Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer	28
2.6. Colorectal Cancer Screening	36

2.6.1. Benefits of Colorectal Cancer Screening	38
2.6.2. Colorectal Cancer Screening Modalities	39
2.6.3. Screening Guidelines and Recommendations	48
2.6.4. Barriers and Facilitators to CRC screening	52
2.7. CRC Screening in Canada	57
2.7.1. Effect and Challenges of CRC Screening in Canada	67
2.7.2. CRC Screening in Atlantic Canada	69
2.8. Concurrent Screening Participation	72
2.8.1. Breast Cancer Screening	75
2.8.2. Cervical Cancer Screening	77
2.8.3. State of Concurrent Screening Participation	80
2.8.4. Optimising Concurrent Screening Participation and Future Directions	82
2.9. Use of Secondary Data in Health Research	84
2.9.1. Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS)	87
2.10. Andersen's Behavioural model of health service use	95
2.10.1. Evolution of the Andersen model	95
2.10.2. Andersen model and cancer screening research	97
2.10.3. Challenges and critiques of the Andersen model	99
Chapter Three	. 102
Paper 1: Colorectal Cancer Screening Untake in Atlantic Canac	la
Pofers and After the Colon Screening Dreams What Has	ia,
Before and Arter the Colon Screening Programs. What has	4.0.0
Changed?	. 102
3.1. Abstract	104
3.2. Co-authorship Statement	107
3.3. Introduction	108
3.4. Methods	114
3.4.1. Study Design	114
3.4.2. Data Source	114
3.4.3. Outcome Variables	116

3.4.4. Independent Variables	118
3.4.5. Statistical Analyses	119
3.4.6. Ethics Statement	121
3.5. Results	121
3.5.1. Demographic Characteristics	121
3.5.2. Screening Participation	127
3.5.3. Reasons for and Barriers to CRC Screening	129
3.5.4. Factors associated with screening participation	135
3.6. Discussion	140
3.6.1. Implications of Findings and Recommendations	148
3.6.2. Strength and Limitations	150
3.7. Conclusion	151
Chapter Four	152
Paper 2: Pacial And Sociodemographic Distribution	of Colorectal
raper 2. Racial And Sociodemographic Distribution	
Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu	idy152
4.1. Abstract	idy152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 	idy152 153 155
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract	152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract	152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract	idy152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 	idy152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 	idy152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 	idy152
Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables. 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 4.5. Results	idy152
Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 4.5. Results 4.5.1. Demographic distribution	idy152153155156159161163165165165165
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 4.5. Results 4.5.1. Demographic distribution 4.5.2. CRC Screening Participation 	idy152
 Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 4.5. Results 4.5.1. Demographic distribution 4.5.2. CRC Screening Participation 4.5.3. Barriers and Predictors to Screening 	idy152
Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Stu 4.1. Abstract 4.2. Co-authorship Statement 4.3. Introduction 4.4. Methods 4.4.1. Design 4.4.2. Study variables 4.4.3. Statistical Analysis 4.4.4. Ethics Statement 4.5. Results 4.5.1. Demographic distribution 4.5.2. CRC Screening Participation 4.5.3. Barriers and Predictors to Screening 4.6. Discussion	idy152

4.6.2. Strength and Limitations	185
4.7. Conclusion.	
Chapter Five	
Paper 3: Factors associated with concurrent Participation	on in
Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer among Canadian	n Women -
a cross-sectional study.	
5.1. Abstract	
5.2. Co-authorship Statement	190
5.3. Introduction	191
5.4. Methods	195
5.4.1. Design and Population	195
5.4.2. Variables	196
5.4.3. Statistical Analysis	198
5.5. Results	199
5.5.1. Distribution of screening participation	200
5.5.2. Distribution of screening patterns across sociodemographic cha	racteristics 205
5.5.3. Reported barriers to screening participation	211
5.5.4. Factors Associated with Concurrent Screening Participation	213
<i>5.6</i> . Discussion	222
5.6.1. Implications for Policy and Practice	226
5.6.2. Strengths and Limitations	228
5.7. Conclusion	229
Chapter Six: Summary and Conclusions	232
6.1. Thesis Overview	232
6.2. Summary of Findings	234
6.2.1. Paper 1: Summary of Findings and Conclusions	234
6.2.2. Paper 2: Summary of Findings and Conclusions	237
6.2.3. Paper 3: Summary of Findings and Conclusions	239

6.3. Synthesis of Key Findings	241
6.3.1. Implications of Findings for Screening Policy and Practice	246
6.4. The Covid-19 Pandemic and Screening Participation	251
6.5. Recommendations for Future Research	254
6.6. Concluding Remarks	256
7. References	259
Appendix A: Research Contract/Approval for CCHS Data	294
Appendix B: CRC Module/Questionnaire in CCHS	300

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Comparison of the various CRC Screening Modalities 45
Table 2.2: Summary of Provincial Colon Screening Programs in Canada
Table 2.3: Summary of Recruitment and Reminder Notification Systems in
Provincial Colon Screening Programs across Canada
Table 3.1: Details of Provincial CRC Screening Programs in Atlantic Canada 112
Table 3.2: Demographic Characteristics of Respondents in 2010 and 2017 124
Table 3.3: CRC Screening Participation by Province in 2010 and 2017 129
Table 3.4: Distribution of (Up to Date) CRC Screening Participation by
Demographic Characteristics
Table 3.5: Self-reported reasons for CRC Screening participation - 2010
Table 3.6: Self-reported barriers to CRC Screening – 2017 134
Table 3.7: Factors associated with being up to date CRC screening in Atlantic
Provinces 2010 and 2017, Stratified by Sex137
Table 4.1: Demographic Characteristics of Canadians Aged 50-74 from the
Canadian Community Health Survey, 2017 167
Table 4.2: Cancer Screening Participation Rates by Province, CCHS 2017 171
Table 4.3: Racial and Socio-demographic Distribution of Population Up to Date
with CRC Screening, CCHS 2017 173
Table 4.4: Self-reported barriers to CRC Screening, CCHS 2017 174

Table 4.5: Factors associated with CRC Screening Overall and Stratified by Sex,
CCHS 2017
Table 5.1: Demographic Distribution of Women Aged 50-69 years – CCHS 2017
Table 5.2: Population characteristics 204
Table 5.3: Patterns of Concurrent Cancer Screening Participation among women
aged 50-69, Canada 207
Table 5.4: Distribution of screening participation pattern by sociodemographic
characteristics
Table 5.5: Self reported barriers to Cancer Screening among women aged 50-69
years, Canada 212
Table 5.6: Factors associated with CRC screening among women with BC and
BC+CC screening participation
Table 5.7: Multivariable multinomial regression of factors associated full, partial
(any 2), single or no cancer screening participation, using 'no screening' as the
reference category

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Overview of the Large Intestine and Rectum
Figure 2.2: Overview of changes from normal colorectal cell to CRC
Figure 2.3: Sectional view of the Colon showing developing Polyp and Cancer
(From: American Gastroenterological Association, 2021
Figure 2.4: Age-standardised Incidence Rates per 100 000 of CRC in Males and
Females by Global regions, 2020
Figure 2.5: CRC Mortality by age group at diagnosis, sex, world region and
Human Development Index (HDI), 2000
Figure 2.6: Significance of Screening in the Natural History of CRC
Figure 2.7: Sensitivity, Specificity and CRC-Specific Death Averted for CRC
Different Screening Modules (From: Doubeni, 2023 - in the public domain) 40
Figure 2.8: Screening Pathway for 'Average Risk' Population in Canada (From:
Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020 – in the public domain)
Figure 2.9: Status of Provincial Colon Screening Programs in Canada (Canadian
Partnership Against Cancer, 2021

List of Abbreviations

- APC Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
- ASIR Age-standardized Incidence rates
- ASMR Age-standardized Mortality rates
- BMI Body mass index
- Biallelic A mutation that occurs on both alleles of a single gene
- CRC Colorectal cancer
- CCHS Canadian Community Health Survey
- CTFPHC Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care
- FAP Familial adenomatous polyposis
- FIT Fecal Immunochemical Test
- FOBT Fecal occult Blood Test
- HCAs Heterocyclic amines
- HNPCC Hereditary Non-Polyposis colorectal cancer
- IL-6 interleukin-6
- NL Newfoundland & Labrador
- MAP MUTYH-associated polyposis

- MMR DNA Mismatch Repair gene
- RCT Randomised Controlled Trial
- TNF-a tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- TME Tumor Microenvironment

Funding Support

This research work was supported by the Cancer Research Training Program (CRTP) of the Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute, with funds generously provided by the Canadian Cancer Society's JD Irving, Limited – Excellence in Cancer Research Fund. I was also supported through the Aging Research Centre-Newfoundland and Labrador (ARC-NL) Graduate Fellowships program and the Dean's Fellowship of the Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland & Labrador. 1. Chapter One: Overview and Introductions

Chapter One: Overview and Introductions

1.1. Overview

Colorectal cancer (CRC) remains a significant public health concern in Canada, representing the third most commonly diagnosed cancer and a leading cause of cancer-related morbidity and mortality (Tung et al., 2018; Canadian Cancer Society, 2022). Despite being one of the few cancers that can be effectively prevented and diagnosed early through consistent participation in screening programs, the burden of CRC in Canada continues to be a growing public health issue (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017; Brenner et al., 2022).

However, there is inadequate national-level data to evaluate CRC screening patterns, trends, and gaps across the country. Furthermore, there is a paucity of studies investigating the facilitators and barriers to CRC screening participation at the national level (Lee et al., 2023). This study, leveraging data from the Canadian Community Health Surveys, aims to address these gaps by shedding light on the uptake and disparities in CRC screening across the country, evaluating the various factors influencing participation, and assessing the effect of organised provincial screening programs in improving CRC screening participation, particularly in the Atlantic provinces.

1.2. Colorectal Cancer in Canada: A Public Health Concern

The burden of CRC in Canada is substantial and concerning, with an estimated 24,300 new cases and 9,400 deaths in 2022 (Canadian Cancer Society, 2022). While the incidence and mortality rates have declined in recent decades, likely due to reduced risk factors, improved screening, and advancements in treatment, there are concerning trends that warrant attention (Brenner et al., 2022).

One such trend is the increasing incidence of CRC among adults aged under 50 years old in both Canada and the United States. In 2019, 20% of CRC cases in the U.S. were in people under 55, nearly double the 11% rate in 1995 (Siegel et al., 2023). A similar pattern is emerging in Canada (Canadian Cancer Society, 2023). The increasing rates among people in their under 50 are thought to be driven by factors such as unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol consumption, and family history (Araghi et al., 2019; Canadian Cancer Society, 2023). Additionally, CRC is being diagnosed at more advanced stages in younger adults (Blair et al., 2022), further exacerbating the burden.

Looking ahead, CRC incidence and mortality rates in Canada are projected to increase from 2030 onward, driven primarily by rising rates in the 40-59 age group, despite expected decreases among people aged over 70 over the next decade (Cancer Care Ontario, 2020; Poirier et al., 2019). Population growth and aging are contributory factors to this projected increase (Poirier et al., 2019).

Organised CRC screening programs in Canada recommend testing for averagerisk adults aged 50-74. This has contributed to better early detection and survival rates (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019), still more targeted interventions may be needed to address the increasing burden, especially among lower-income groups and adults aged 50-59 (Poirier et al., 2019).

In summary, despite overall declining CRC rates, the rising incidence among younger adults and particularly among lower socioeconomic groups, represent concerning trends that necessitate further research. Such evidence can inform public health action to improve screening participation across the country and possibly mitigate the growing concerns around CRC.

1.3. Disparities in CRC Screening Participation

One of the critical aspects of CRC screening in Canada is the evident disparities in participation across various sociodemographic lines, including income, education, and race (Singh et al., 2015; Blair et al., 2022). Current understanding suggests that lower-income groups and individuals with less education are often less likely to participate in CRC screening (Amina et al., 2019; Baccolini et al., 2022). Similarly, racial, and ethnic minorities in different parts of the country report lower screening rates compared to people who identify as white or have higher socioeconomic status (Amina et al., 2019; Baccolini et al., 2022).

These disparities are often rooted in systemic issues beyond individual choices. Factors such as access to healthcare, cultural barriers, language proficiency, and lack of trust in the healthcare system can and often play significant roles in influencing participation rates (Blair et al., 2019). Addressing such disparities require a clear understanding of the complex, interconnected factors that shape health care behaviour and decisions, and a concerted effort involving healthcare providers, policymakers, community leaders, and organisations that work directly with various population groups.

1.4. Organised Screening Programs in Canada

Organised CRC screening programs have been established in several Canadian provinces with the goal of increasing screening rates and reducing the incidence and mortality of CRC (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020). These programs typically involve sending screening invitations and test kits to eligible individuals aged 50-74 years old, providing easy access to screening tests, and ensuring follow-up care for those with abnormal results (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020).

While these programs have reportedly contributed to increasing screening participation rates, their effectiveness is likely to vary across regional and provincial lines. Factors such as program design, implementation strategies, and resource allocation play critical roles in determining their success and effects of the screening programs (Brouwers et al., 2011). Moreover, these programs are not immune to the disparities and inequalities mentioned above. There is, therefore, a need to tailor these programs to better reach and serve underserved populations. Such interventions will require a thorough understanding of the barriers these groups face and the development of targeted strategies to overcome them.

1.5. Comparative Analysis with Other Cancer Screening Programs

In addition to focusing on CRC screening, this study also undertakes a comparative analysis with participation in other cancer screening programs, namely breast and cervical cancer. This assessment is crucial in understanding the broader context of cancer screening in Canada and identifying shared challenges and opportunities. Similar to CRC, breast and cervical cancer screenings also face issues related to disparities in participation and the effectiveness of organised screening programs (Adu et al., 2017; Alam et al., 2022).

By comparing CRC screening with breast and cervical cancer screening participation, this study aims to draw insights that could inform more effective screening strategies across different types of cancer. Also, CRC screening participation might benefit from better understanding of the various factors associated with participation in other cancer screening programs.

1.6. Thesis Goal and Objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to provide a comprehensive evaluation of CRC screening participation in Canada, with a focus on identifying disparities, barriers, and determinants of screening uptake. The specific objectives include:

- 1. To assess the effect of organised provincial CRC screening programs in Atlantic Canada on screening participation rates, and to compare the factors associated with screening participation before and after the establishment of these programs. (Paper 1)
- 2. To examine the current state of CRC screening participation across Canada by assessing sociodemographic and racial disparities in screening uptake and identifying associated factors affecting participation. (Paper 2)
- 3. To investigate the patterns of concurrent participation in breast, cervical, and CRC screening among Canadian women, and to identify factors associated with concurrent participation in some or all three screening programs. (Paper 3)
- To provide a comprehensive understanding of the facilitators and barriers to CRC screening participation in Canada, with a particular focus on disparities among different population groups.

5. To inform the development of targeted strategies and interventions aimed at improving CRC screening participation rates, reducing disparities, and addressing the barriers faced by underserved populations.

1.7. Theoretical Framework: Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use

To provide a comprehensive understanding of the factors influencing CRC screening participation and to interpret the findings from this research, the Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use will be employed as the overarching theoretical framework.

The Andersen Behavioral Model, initially developed in the 1960s and subsequently revised, offers a conceptual framework for examining the determinants of health services utilisation (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Andersen, 1995; Jin et al., 2019). The model posits that an individual's use of health services is influenced by three main groups or categories of factors: predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, and need (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Andersen, 1995).

Predisposing characteristics include demographic factors (e.g., age, sex, marital status), social structure (e.g., education, ethnicity, occupation), and health beliefs (e.g., attitudes, values, knowledge about health and illness).

Enabling resources refer to the means and resources available to individuals that facilitate or impede the use of health services. These include personal and family resources (e.g., income, health insurance), as well as community resources (e.g., availability and accessibility of healthcare facilities).

The need factor encompasses both perceived and evaluated need for healthcare services. Perceived need refers to an individual's subjective assessment of their health and functional status, while evaluated need is based on professional assessments of an individual's health status and the necessity for medical care (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Lee et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2019).

In the context of CRC screening, the Andersen's Behavioral Model provides a comprehensive framework for understanding the complex interplay of predisposing, enabling, and need factors that influence an individual's decision to participate in screening programs (Lee et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2019). By examining these factors, this research aims to identify the barriers and facilitators to screening participation, as well as the disparities that exist among different sociodemographic and racial groups.

The application of this theoretical framework will guide the interpretation of the key findings from the three studies in this thesis, allowing for a deeper understanding of the determinants of CRC screening participation in Canada. Additionally, we hope that the insights gained from this research can inform the development of targeted interventions and strategies aimed at addressing the

identified barriers and disparities, ultimately improving screening participation rates and reducing the burden of CRC in the country.

2. Chapter Two: Background

Chapter Two: Background

2.1. Colorectal Cancer: An overview

CRC remains a significant challenge in the global battle against cancer. Globally, CRC ranks third in terms of incidence and second in mortality, accounting for approximately 1.8 million new cases and 881,000 deaths in 2018 (Bray et al., 2018). The rates of both incidence and mortality are substantially higher in males than in females (Sung et al., 2021). In North America, CRC remains a significant public health concern, with the United States and Canada collectively reporting over 170,000 new cases annually (Siegel et al., 2020). Specifically, in Canada, CRC is the second most commonly diagnosed cancer in women and the third in men, with an estimated 24,300 Canadians diagnosed with CRC – accounting for 10% of all new cancer cases in 2022 and 9,400 deaths, representing 11% of all cancer-related deaths in 2022 alone (Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2022). As a complex malignancy that originates from the inner lining of the colon or rectum, both parts of the large intestine, the impact of CRC extends beyond these statistics as it affects individuals, families, and healthcare systems in complex, multifaceted ways (American Cancer Society, 2020).

As one of the most prevalent cancers globally, understanding its biology and natural history is paramount for effective prevention, early detection, and treatment. Moreover, the burden of CRC in Atlantic Canada is particularly noteworthy, with the region exhibiting a higher prevalence of risk factors and

incidence of CRC compared to other parts of the country (Brenner et al., 2020; Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2020b; Marrett et al., 2008). Consequently, this chapter provides a broad look at CRC, from the structure of the large intestine and risk factors of CRC to natural history of the disease. It also reviews the implementation of CRC screening programs in Atlantic Canada and across the country aimed at reducing the personal, health system and economic burden of this important cancer.

2.2. The Large Intestine

The large intestine is essentially a tubular structure that forms the terminal part of the gastrointestinal track. The large intestine commences at the terminal ileum, which is the last part of the small intestine, as the cecum (Loda et al., 2017). Macroscopically, the large intestine is divided into the right/proximal colon and the left/distal colon. The right colon consists of the cecum, ascending colon, hepatic flexure, and transverse colon. The left colon consists of the descending colon, the splenic flexure and the sigmoid colon. Measured endoscopically, the rectum is about 15cm long and is often misclassified as the colon (Loda et al., 2017). The Large Intestine



© Canadian Cancer Society



Microscopically, the tube-like structure of the colon has four layers. From the inside out these layers include, the single lining of columnar epithelia cells called the mucosa, where most colorectal tumour (adenomas) arise, the sub-mucosa, the muscularis layer and lastly, the serosa, which is the outer connective tissue. (Loda et al., 2017).

The mucosa layer of the colon is of particular interest in CRC as this is where adenomas form (Loda et al., 2017). Microscopically, the colorectal mucosa layer consists of a single, flat layer of columnal epithelia cells, including goblet cells that secrete mucus. The flat layer is punctuated at intervals by blindly ending tubular structures called *the crypts of Lieberkuhn* (or just crypts) (Loda et al., 2017). Current evidence suggest that proliferative activities occur at the bottom of these crypts, from where new cells travel upwards towards the surface. Abnormal proliferative activities most likely beginning in these crypts, likely due to genetic changes, form the basis and beginning of CRC tumours (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019; Loda et al., 2017).

The contents of the colon range from mostly fluid in the cecum and proximal colon, then progressively semi-solid and solid towards the end of the distal colon as water and electrolyte absorption occur throughout the colon (Loda et al., 2017; Song et al., 2015). The key contents of the colon that impact CRC risk include dietary fibre, undigested residue, bacteria, faecal bile salts and fat. Excess of bile salts, undigested dietary fat, and proliferation of certain types of bacteria have been suggested as among dietary exposures that play key roles in development of colorectal tumours (Coussens & Werb, 2002; Loda et al., 2017; Song et al., 2015; Yamagishi et al., 2016).

2.3. Risk Factors of Colorectal Cancer

CRC is a complex malignancy. Like most cancers, its etiology is multifactorial, with genetic determinants, environmental exposures, and lifestyle choices and behaviors all contributing to its development (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Epidemiologically, CRC cases can be broadly categorized into two main types based on their origin: sporadic or genetic (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Sporadic CRC, the most common type, accounts for over 80% of new cases and occurs without a clear hereditary link or identifiable high-risk genetic mutations (American Cancer Society, 2020).

While genetic CRC accounts for a smaller proportion of cases (estimated at 5-15%), up to 25% of those diagnosed with CRC have a family history of the disease (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). This suggests that there are still unknown genetic factors that contribute to CRC risk, beyond currently identifiable high-penetrance mutations (Loda et al., 2017; Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). The complex interplay of factors contributing to CRC susceptibility can be broadly categorised as modifiable risk factors (significant in sporadic CRC) and genetic risks (inherited mutations).

2.3.1. Modifiable Risk Factors of CRC

Modifiable risk factors encompass lifestyle choices, behaviors, and exposures that significantly influence the risk of developing CRC (Hay et al., 2016; Rawla et al., 2019). These include a diet high in red and processed meats, physical inactivity, obesity, excessive alcohol consumption, and long-term smoking.
Diets high in red and processed meats have been consistently linked to increased CRC risk. When cooked at high temperatures, these meats produce carcinogenic compounds like heterocyclic amines (HCAs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), which can damage colonic cell DNA (Song et al., 2015; World Cancer Research Fund, 2018). Additionally, the typical "Western diet," characterized by high fat, high phosphate, low calcium, and low vitamin content, has been shown to trigger early-onset intraepithelial neoplasia in animal models and may contribute to the higher CRC incidence in Western countries (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Song et al., 2015). Conversely, diets rich in fruits, vegetables, and whole grains offer protective benefits, likely due to their high fiber content and antioxidants, which counteract carcinogenic effects (Coussens & Werb, 2002; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019).

Physical inactivity and obesity, which often lead to chronic inflammation, also increase CRC risk. Chronic inflammation, marked by the release of proinflammatory cytokines like tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a) and interleukin-6 (IL-6), can cause DNA damage and promote tumor growth in the colon and rectum in humans (Coussens & Werb, 2002; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Loda et al., 2017). Excessive alcohol consumption and prolonged smoking further compromise immune responses and increase CRC susceptibility (Clinton et al., 2020; World Cancer Research Fund, 2018).

While the precise pathways through which these dietary and lifestyle factors contribute to carcinogenesis are not fully understood, research suggests processed meats produce HCAs, PAHs, and N-nitroso compounds during digestion, all of which are carcinogenic and can induce DNA mutations in colon cells (Coussens & Werb, 2002; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). In essence, CRC develops due to the progressive accumulation of genetic mutations and damage. Its etiology can be conceptualised as occurring across multiple levels as illustrated in Figure 2.2 below. The figure illustrates how the interplay between the various risk factors, the mechanisms of action of these factors on the colon epithelium, genetic changes, and finally, the morphological transformation of normal colorectal mucosa cells all progressively lead to carcinogenesis in the colon and rectum (Yamagishi et al., 2016).



Figure 2.2: Overview of changes from normal colorectal cell to CRC

2.3.2. Genetic Risk factors

While most CRC cases are sporadic, a notable proportion can be attributed to inherited gene mutations (known as hereditary or familial CRC). Several specific genetic disorders, most of which are inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion, are associated with a very high risk of developing colon cancer (Rustgi, 2007). Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and Lynch syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer [HNPCC]) are the most common of the hereditary colon cancer syndromes. Together, these two conditions account for about 5-15% of CRC cases, with Lynch syndrome being the more prevalent of the two (Arnold et al., 2020; Rustgi, 2007). However, as mentioned previously, a large proportion of sporadic CRC cases also carry one or more mutations in cancer-predisposing genes; the majority of these are not Lynch syndrome or FAP (Arnold et al., 2020). In fact, there is a growing consensus that genetic factors play a critical role in the development and progression of almost all colorectal tumors (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019). Similar molecular genetic lesions have been found in both sporadic and familial colorectal neoplasms (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019).

2.3.2.1. Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)

FAP was the first recognized polyposis syndrome and remains the best characterised (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). It is an autosomal dominantly inherited syndrome marked by the emergence of hundreds to thousands of colorectal adenomatous polyps during the second or third decade of life (Rustgi, 2007). Patients with this disorder have a strong predisposition for early-onset colorectal cancer, as well as other malignancies (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). Synonyms for FAP include familial polyposis coli and adenomatous polyposis coli. Additionally, several variants of the syndrome exist, namely Gardner syndrome,

Turcot syndrome, and attenuated adenomatous polyposis coli (AAPC or AFAP) (Curia et al., 2020). Men and women are equally affected. Only a small fraction (about 1%) of all CRC cases are due to FAP, and this fraction appears to be decreasing with improved diagnostic and preventive measures (Curia et al., 2020).

Mutations in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene, a tumor suppressor gene, are responsible for FAP syndrome (Coussens & Werb, 2002). One allele with the mutated gene is inherited from an affected parent. An acquired (somatic) mutation in the other APC allele results in developing adenomas, as the loss of both functioning copies of the APC gene allows uncontrolled cell growth (Coussens & Werb, 2002). It is worth noting that mutations of the APC gene also play a role in the development of sporadic colorectal cancers, with as many as 80% of sporadic CRC cases exhibiting somatic mutations of the APC gene (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). However, the specific types and combinations of mutations differ between FAP and sporadic CRC (Coussens & Werb, 2002; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019).

The distinguishing presentation of FAP is the growth of profuse adenomatous colon polyps at a young age (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). The average age of polyp development is 16 years, but polyps can emerge in patients as young as eight (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). The number and size of these polyps increase over time, ultimately reaching anywhere from hundreds to

thousands. The polyps have a slight predisposition for the distal (left-sided) colon (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016).

Individual colon adenomas in patients with FAP are endoscopically and histologically identical to sporadic adenomatous polyps and do not have an intrinsically higher malignant potential (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Rustgi, 2007). However, nearly all patients with FAP will develop CRC due to the vast number and early onset of polyps (Curia et al., 2020; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). Polyp number and age are key determinants of cancer risk: the more polyps and the younger the age of onset, the higher the risk. Without treatment, the average age of cancer onset is 39 years, and life expectancy is significantly reduced (Curia et al., 2020; Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Rustgi, 2007).

2.3.2.2. MUTYH-associated Polyposis (MAP)

MUTYH-associated polyposis (MAP) is a similar but rarer form of hereditary CRC (Curia et al., 2020). MAP is an autosomal recessive syndrome caused by biallelic germline mutations in the base excision repair gene MUTYH (Curia et al., 2020). It can also present with multiple adenomas, typically fewer than the hundreds seen in FAP, and its manifestation can vary from individual to individual (Curia et al., 2020). There is growing evidence that germline mutations in the MUTYH

gene may contribute to a substantial fraction of hereditary CRC cases that occur without a dominantly inherited genetic syndrome (Curia et al., 2020).

2.3.2.3. Lynch Syndrome (HNPCC)

Lynch syndrome (or HNPCC) is an autosomal dominant syndrome that is more common than FAP, accounting for about 2-5% of all CRC cases (Rustgi, 2007). Lynch syndrome is often suspected based on a strong family history of CRC, endometrial cancer, and other related cancers. The syndrome is named in honor of Dr. Henry Lynch, who pioneered research in this area (Rustgi, 2007).

Lynch syndrome is confirmed through genetic testing for disease-causing mutations in one of the DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes, most commonly MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, or PMS2 (Rustgi, 2007). Individuals with Lynch syndrome typically have a germline mutation in one allele of an MMR gene, with the second allele inactivated by a somatic mutation (Rustgi, 2007).

These MMR genes are essential for correcting spontaneous errors during DNA replication (Rustgi, 2007). When damaged, these errors accumulate, leading to microsatellite instability (MSI) and a significantly increased risk of malignant transformation (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Unlike the numerous polyps seen in polyposis disorders, individuals with Lynch syndrome usually develop fewer than ten polyps, which are often

indistinguishable from sporadic polyps on endoscopy (Tamura et al., 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016). However, compared to polyps in the general population, Lynch syndrome polyps tend to appear earlier (in the third or fourth decade of life), grow larger and more frequently, and progress to cancer more rapidly (Rustgi, 2007). In the absence of screening, most patients remain asymptomatic until cancer develops, making early detection through screening crucial (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Loomans-Kropp & Umar, 2019; Winawer et al., 1993).

The hallmark of Lynch syndrome is the predisposition to early-onset and/or multiple malignancies (Arnold et al., 2020; Arnold et al., 2017). Without intervention, patients with Lynch syndrome face an 80% lifetime risk of developing CRC, with an average age of onset 20 years earlier than sporadic CRC (Loomans-Kropp & Umar, 2019; Sung et al., 2021). CRCs in Lynch syndrome tend to be multiple, located proximally, and poorly differentiated (Rustgi, 2007; Yamagishi et al., 2016). There is also an increased risk of other cancers, including endometrial, ovarian, ureteral, renal pelvic, gastric, small intestinal, and hepatobiliary cancers (Loomans-Kropp & Umar, 2019; Sung et al., 2021). Even with aggressive management, the risk of cancer-related mortality remains significant (Leddin et al., 2018). Early identification of individuals at risk for Lynch syndrome is essential but can be challenging, as the diagnostic criteria continue to evolve (Leddin et al., 2018; Leddin et al., 2010).

2.3.2.4. Regional Considerations: Atlantic Canada

The Atlantic provinces of Canada have been shown to experience a relatively higher prevalence of CRC risk factors compared to other regions in Canada (Brenner et al., 2022; Ruan et al., 2023; Tung et al., 2018). The underlying reasons for this are not fully understood, but factors such as dietary habits, genetic predispositions, and environmental factors might contribute to this elevated risk (Ruan et al., 2023; Tung et al., 2018).

Regarding genetic predispositions, a combination of founder effects, genetic isolation, specific genetic syndromes, and gene-environment interactions have been suggested to contribute to the apparent higher genetic predisposition to CRC in the region (Tung et al., 2018). The region's demographic composition, with a higher proportion of older adults, may also play a role (Darvishian et al., 2023; Decker et al., 2023). Research efforts such as genome-wide association studies and whole-genome sequencing could help to uncover the specific genetic and environmental factors contributing to higher CRC risks in the region.

2.4. Natural History of Colorectal Cancer

Adenomatous polyps, resulting from intraepithelial neoplasia of the colon and rectum, represent one of the earliest precursors to colorectal carcinoma (Loda et al., 2017). The adenoma-carcinoma sequence describes the stepwise progression

from normal colorectal epithelial cells to benign adenomas and then to invasive carcinomas (Winawer & Zauber, 2002; Yamagishi et al., 2016). The term "dysplasia" refers to the morphological, molecular, and histological changes in cellular structure and tissue architecture that characterize intraepithelial neoplasia (Coussens & Werb, 2002).

Current evidence supports the single crypt model as the origin of tumor development (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Loda et al., 2017; Yamagishi et al., 2016). This model proposes that tumor development begins with abnormal cellular changes in a single crypt of Lieberkühn, the blind-ended glands of the colon mucosa (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019). These changes involve two phases: increased cellular growth ("hyperproliferative cells") at the crypt base, followed by a shift in the proliferative compartment to the upper crypt, where new cells accumulate (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Continued cell division sustains this hyperproliferation and alters the crypt, forming aberrant crypt foci (ACF), considered precursors to colon adenomatous polyps (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016).

While progression from ACF to adenoma and then to carcinoma depends on adenoma size and dysplasia severity, evidence suggests that adenomas can progress, stabilise, or even regress (Yamagishi et al., 2016). Adenoma size is the most critical determinant of villous growth and dysplasia, while the level of

dysplasia is the most significant risk factor for carcinogenesis (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016).

This progression from ACF to carcinoma is gradual, typically taking 5-30 years, with a median of 10 years (Yamagishi et al., 2016). Although every adenoma has malignant potential, only a few progress to cancer (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Most stabilise, some regress, and a small proportion may develop directly invasive clones (Yamagishi et al., 2016). Studies estimate the annual growth and transformation rate of adenomas at 0.25%, increasing to 17% for villous adenomas and 37% for those with high-grade dysplasia (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Yamagishi et al., 2016). Consequently, individuals with high-grade dysplasia adenomas have a significantly higher risk of metachronous cancer. Adenoma size and dysplasia level (low, moderate, high grade) are crucial in determining this risk (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019; Loda et al., 2017; Yamagishi et al., 2016).

CRC symptoms typically manifest in the fifth or sixth decade of life and include changes in bowel habits, hematochezia (fresh blood in stool), abdominal pain, rectal pain, tenesmus (feeling of incomplete bowel emptying), and/or narrowed stools (; Loda et al., 2017; Winawer & Zauber, 2002). Constitutional symptoms like nausea, vomiting, unexplained weight loss, loss of appetite, weakness, fatigue, and dizziness may also occur (Greten & Grivennikov, 2019; Loda et al., 2017; Winawer & Zauber, 2002).



Figure 2.3: Sectional view of the Colon showing developing Polyp and Cancer (*From: American Gastroenterological Association, 2021 - in the public domain*)

2.5. Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer

CRC is one of the most common neoplasms in humans and perhaps the most frequent form of hereditary neoplasia. CRC incidence and mortality rates vary markedly around the world and have changed significantly over the past couple of decades (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017). According to the World Health Organization GLOBOCAN database, rates of both incidence and mortality are substantially higher in males than in females, and regional incidence and mortality of CRC varies over 10-fold (ASR incidence: 23.4 vs 16.2 per 100 000 worldwide; ASR mortality: 11.1 vs 7.2 per 100 000 worldwide, respectively) (Bray et al., 2018; Morgan et al., 2023), as seen in Figures 2.4 and 2.5 below. The highest incidence rates are in Australia and New Zealand, Europe, and North America, and the lowest rates are found in Africa and South-Central Asia (Morgan et al., 2023). These geographic differences appear to be attributable to differences in dietary, lifestyle, and environmental exposures that interact with a background of genetic susceptibility (American Cancer Society, 2020; Decker et al., 2023; Ferlay et al., 2015).



Figure 2.4: Age-standardised Incidence Rates per 100 000 of CRC in Males and Females by Global regions, 2020 (Adapted with permission from: Morgan, et al., 2023)

	Males								Females									
	<50 years		50-74 years		75+ years		<5	<50 years		50-74 years		75+ years						
	Cases	%	ASR	Cases	%	ASR	Cases	%	ASR	Cases	%	ASR	Cases	%	ASR	Cases	%	ASR
World region																		
Eastern Africa	1,557	24.5	1.1	3,775	59.3	23	1,033	16.2	68.6	2,076	30.2	1.5	3,762	54.8	19	1,033	15.0	46.5
Middle Africa	443	19.9	0.8	1,350	60.8	20.7	429	19.3	73.5	355	17.7	0.7	1,186	59.1	16.3	465	23.2	56
Northern Africa	1,034	17.5	1.1	3,275	55.5	18.6	1,591	27.0	85	1,035	18.4	1	2,913	51.7	15.8	1,682	29.9	64.8
Southern Africa	309	15.1	1.1	1,313	64.0	31.8	430	21.0	124	307	16.2	1	1,046	55.3	19.6	538	28.5	77.2
Western Africa	1,354	24.6	1.1	3,289	59.7	20.4	864	15.7	75.4	1,127	25.4	0.9	2,605	58.8	14.5	699	15.8	47.5
Caribbean	183	5.5	1	1,697	51.3	37.4	1,427	43.2	172.8	192	5.2	1	1,593	43.3	31.1	1,891	51.4	168.3
Central America	814	14.8	1.1	3,037	55.3	22.1	1,643	29.9	75.2	680	13.8	0.8	2,538	51.3	15.8	1,727	34.9	58.9
South America	2,144	8.2	1.1	14,651	56.0	35	9,380	35.8	150.3	2,211	8.6	1.1	12,337	47.7	25.6	11,290	43.7	115.7
Northern America	2,480	7.3	1.6	18,403	54.0	33.4	13,222	38.8	120.4	1,975	6.6	1.3	12,884	43.1	21.9	15,023	50.3	93.6
Eastern Asia	10,580	5.1	1.2	119,698	57.5	48.8	77,812	37.4	245.6	7,810	4.9	0.9	70,760	44.2	27.8	81,412	50.9	173.9
South-Eastern Asia	3,447	10.7	1.1	19,207	59.6	33.2	9,551	29.7	158.5	2,698	10.9	0.9	12,434	50.0	19	9,727	39.1	99.4
South Central Asia	6,369	17.8	0.7	22,109	61.7	13.8	7,370	20.6	41.3	4,673	20.0	0.6	13,525	57.9	8.4	5,160	22.1	24.6
Western Asia	1,652	13.3	1.2	7,276	58.8	37.1	3,454	27.9	152.4	1,394	14.3	1.2	4,957	51.0	24.1	3,374	34.7	99.2
Central-Eastern Europe	1,554	3.2	1.1	30,993	64.1	76.6	15,831	32.7	274.4	1,493	3.3	1.1	22,673	50.4	40.2	20,840	46.3	146.7
Northern Europe	475	2.7	1	7,353	41.3	42.3	9,983	56.0	252.7	503	3.2	1.1	5,331	33.4	28.8	10,123	63.4	177.3
Southern Europe	669	2.1	0.9	13,192	41.8	50.4	17,722	56.1	267.7	654	2.7	0.9	7,828	32.9	27.2	15,341	64.4	146.5
Western Europe	731	2.1	0.9	14,387	42.2	43.2	18,995	55.7	229.7	631	2.2	0.8	8,581	30.5	23.8	18,941	67.3	146.2
Australia/New Zealand	151	4.0	1.2	1,554	41.4	35.1	2,050	54.6	209.3	135	4.1	1	871	26.5	18.8	2,277	69.4	174.5
Melanesia	27	9.7	0.7	195	69.9	31.3	57	20.4	133.7	26	15.0	0.7	114	65.9	16.7	33	19.1	64.9
Micronesia/Polynesia	1	1.5	0.2	47	71.2	44.7	18	27.3	155.3	3	6.4	0.7	33	70.2	28.6	11	23.4	65
HDI																		
Low HDI	3,383	23.9	1.1	8,357	59.0	21.4	2,433	17.2	72.2	3,425	25.8	1.1	7,422	55.9	16.8	2,423	18.3	53.8
Medium HDI	7,602	17.4	0.8	27,166	62.1	15.4	9,001	20.6	46.6	5,940	19.1	0.6	17,380	55.8	9.6	7,823	25.1	32.3
High HDI	16,592	7.0	1.2	143.258	60.4	42.9	77.166	32.6	199	13.205	7.2	1	93.083	50.6	25.9	77,783	42.3	139.8
Very high HDI	10,002			,			,200			10,200			20,000	30.0				
very men nor	8,393	3.8	1.2	107,883	48.9	46.8	104,167	47.3	217.1	7,403	3.9	1.1	69,989	36.7	27.2	113,454	59.4	143.3
World	35,974	7.0	1.1	286,801	55.6	36.9	192,862	37.4	177.3	29,978	7.1	0.9	187,971	44.8	22.3	201,587	48.0	123.6

Figure 2.5: CRC Mortality by age group at diagnosis, sex, world region and Human Development Index (HDI), 2000 (with permission from: Morgan, et al., 2023)

In the United States, the lifetime incidence of CRC in patients at average risk is approximately 4% (American Cancer Society, 2020), while in Canada, the lifetime incidence and mortality of CRC in males are 7.1% and 3.1%, respectively. This translates to estimates that about 1 in 14 men will develop CRC during their lifetime, and 1 in 32 will die from the disease. This estimate is slightly lower for females, for whom about 1 in 18 Canadian women will develop CRC during their lifetime, and 1 in 37 will die from it, meaning a lifetime incidence and mortality of 5.5% and 2.7%, respectively (Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2020a, 2020b). The Canadian national incidence of CRC has been trending downward over the last decade; however, there are notable variations across provinces and territories. For example, provinces such as Newfoundland and Labrador have historically reported higher rates, potentially attributed to a combination of genetic predispositions and lifestyle factors. In contrast, provinces like British Columbia have observed relatively lower incidence rates (Araghi et al., 2019; Brenner et al., 2019; Tung et al., 2018).

Low socioeconomic status (SES) is a significant modifier of CRC risk, likely associated with at least part of the variation in CRC incidence across regions (Blair et al., 2019). Some studies estimate the CRC risk to be approximately 30 percent higher in the lowest SES quintile compared with the highest SES (Mansouri et al., 2013; Wardle et al., 2016; Warren Andersen et al., 2019). Potentially modifiable behaviours such as physical inactivity, unhealthy diet, smoking, and obesity are thought to account for a substantial proportion (estimates of one-third to one-half) of this socioeconomic disparity in the risk of CRC (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017; Bauer et al., 2022). This particularly relates to the intersection of barriers that people in the lowest SES quintile experience (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017). Lower rates of CRC

screening in lower SES groups also contribute to this disparity, as early detection and intervention are crucial for improving CRC outcomes (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017; Bauer et al., 2022; Clinton et al., 2020; Rawla et al., 2019). Age is another modifier of CRC risk, with CRC particularly uncommon before age forty (Arnold et al., 2017). The majority of CRC cases are diagnosed in individuals aged 50 and above; however, incidence rates begin to increase between the ages of 40 and 50, and age-specific incidence rates increase in each succeeding decade thereafter (Araghi et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2017). There are growing concerns and increasing evidence showing a demographic shift in CRC incidence, with increasing incidence in the under-50 age group and reducing cases among older adults (Li et al., 2021; Morgan et al., 2023). These increases have been argued to be predominantly left-sided (distal colon) cancers in general, and rectal cancer in particular (Li et al., 2021). The reason(s) underlying this trend may be multifactorial (Li et al., 2021; Morgan et al., 2023).

A meta-analysis of 20 studies concluded that significant risk factors for earlyonset CRC included CRC history in a first-degree relative (relative risk [RR] 4.21, 95% CI 2.61-6.79), hyperlipidemia (RR 1.62, 95% CI 1.22-2.13), obesity (RR 1.54, 95% CI 1.01-2.35), and alcohol consumption (RR for high versus nondrinkers 1.71, 95% CI 1.62-1.80) (O'Sullivan et al., 2022). Other risk factors for this demographic shift (e.g., hypertension, metabolic syndrome, ulcerative colitis, chronic kidney disease, diet, sedentary behavior, and occupational exposure to

organic dusts) have also been highlighted in other studies (Arnold et al., 2017; Darren et al., 2022; Loomans-Kropp & Umar, 2019). CRC incidence has also been increasing in several transitional countries, such as Brazil and Costa Rica (Arnold et al., 2017). Again, the underlying reason for this rise is yet unclear but believed to be reflective of the global shift towards a more "Western" diet and reduced physical activity levels (Ferlay et al., 2015; Li et al., 2021; Morgan et al., 2023). Additionally, gradual shift toward right-sided or proximal colon cancers among older adults (that is, aged 50+) has been observed both in the United States and internationally (Stoop et al., 2012; Tomaszewski et al., 2021). This change in the anatomic distribution of CRCs may be, in part, related to improvements in diagnosis and treatment, and increased screening with removal of adenomatous polyps in the distal colon (Arnold et al., 2017). Colonoscopy is believed to be more effective in preventing left-sided than right-sided CRCs, which could also contribute to a shift in the distribution of cancers in the colon (Graser et al., 2009; Stoop et al., 2012; Tomaszewski et al., 2021). It is likely that part of the difference is due to aspects of quality relating to the colonoscopy (poor rightsided preps, incomplete colonoscopy, anatomic configurations compromising visibility), but the biology may also differ between CRCs of the right and left colon (Graser et al., 2009; You et al., 2015). For example, serrated adenomas, which are flatter, more difficult to visualize endoscopically, often carry a different type of mutations, and more likely to cause microsatellite unstable CRCs, are

more common in the right colon (Loda et al., 2017; You et al., 2015). Although all these issues may contribute to a shift toward right- rather than left-sided cancers, there also appears to be a true increase in the incidence of CRC, especially in the ascending colon and cecum (Arnold et al., 2017).

In fact, current modeling estimates predict a global CRC incidence of 3.2 million cases by the year 2040, which would be a 63% increase from the 1.8 million cases observed in 2020 if current incidence trends remain (Morgan et al., 2023). While the largest relative increase in CRC incidence is expected to occur in lowto middle-income and transitional countries, the most cases, in absolute terms, are still expected to be recorded in North America and western European countries (Morgan et al., 2023).

Additionally, CRC-related mortality is projected to increase by about 74%, from 0.9 million annual deaths in 2020 to over 1.6 million deaths by 2040, in absolute terms (Morgan et al., 2023). Again, while the mortality rate is expected to double in lower- to middle-income countries, most of these deaths are projected to occur in the developed countries of North America and western Europe. These regions could see CRC-related mortality increase from 832, 376 deaths in 2020 to 1.4 million deaths in 2040 (Morgan et al., 2023). For Canada, specifically, Ruan et al. (2023) project a 45% increase in annual CRC cases from 26,053 in 2020 to 37,697 in 2040 and a 44% increase in annual CRC related deaths from 9,361 to 14,175 within the same time frame. This projected increase in incidence and

mortality from CRC further emphasises the pressing need to understand, design, and implement interventions to reduce the anticipated increase in health, financial, and quality-of-life burdens of CRC in the future (Ferlay et al., 2015; Li et al., 2021; Morgan et al., 2023). So far, screening remains the most important tool in this regard (Ferlay et al., 2015; Li et al., 2021).

2.6. Colorectal Cancer Screening

Despite advancements in screening and treatment, CRC remains a leading cause of cancer-related deaths globally and in Canada. With these advances in screening modalities and treatments options, CRC mortality rates have decreased in recent decades (Ellison & Saint-Jacques, 2023). The five-year net survival rate currently stands at 65%—early-stage diagnoses (stages I and II) have survival rates exceeding 90%, while five-year survival for late-stage diagnoses can be as low as 15% (Canadian Cancer Society, 2023; Ellison & Saint-Jacques, 2023). However, the absolute mortality numbers, especially in North America, remain a significant concern for healthcare professionals and policymakers (Ellison & Saint-Jacques, 2023).

The previous discussion on the epidemiology and natural history of CRC highlighted the silent and subtle, yet deadly, nature of the disease. CRC often progresses without noticeable symptoms in its initial stages (Rawla et al., 2019). Without preventive measures like screening, many individuals remain unaware of

their condition until it reaches advanced stages (Ramos et al., 2023). This asymptomatic progression is a compelling argument for organised, accessible screening programs.

Early detection offers numerous benefits, including improved prognosis, less aggressive treatment options, and a higher chance of successful treatment (Levin et al., 2018; Mendivil et al., 2019). Early diagnosis can also significantly decrease potential complications and the costs associated with treatment (Levin et al., 2018; Mendivil et al., 2019; Ramos et al., 2023). As illustrated in Figure 2.6, screening can interrupt the adenoma-carcinoma pathway, either by removing precancerous polyps (adenomas) or by aiding the diagnosis of preclinical cancer. This often leads to more effective treatment with fewer complications and potentially lower costs (Knudsen et al., 2016). Therefore, screening benefits individuals, the healthcare system, and the economy.



Figure 2.6: Significance of Screening in the Natural History of CRC

(with permission from: Knudsen et al. 2016)

2.6.1. Benefits of Colorectal Cancer Screening

Early detection of CRC offers numerous health benefits to individuals. Primarily, early-stage CRC is more likely to be localised, meaning it has not spread to other parts of the body. This contributes to the relatively higher 5-year survival rate of about 90% (Canadian Cancer Society, 2023; Ellison & Saint-Jacques, 2023) underscoring the importance of early detection. Additionally, early diagnosis often necessitates less invasive treatment options, such as localised surgery, leading to improved post-treatment quality of life (Arnold et al., 2020; Ellison & Saint-Jacques, 2023; Ramos et al., 2023).

Early detection also improves healthcare system efficiency. Treating early-stage cancers typically requires fewer resources than treating advanced-stage cancers, resulting in shorter hospital stays and less need for intensive interventions (Levin et al., 2008; Mendivil et al., 2019). This frees up resources for other patients and reduces the strain on healthcare professionals (Mendivil et al., 2019). Additionally, early detection and treatment can lessen the demand for palliative care services often required for advanced cancer (Mendivil et al., 2019). By focusing on prevention and primary care, the health system can achieve better overall public health outcomes (Levin et al., 2008; Mendivil et al., 2019).

The economic implications of early CRC detection are substantial. Treating earlystage CRC is considerably less expensive than treating advanced disease. In Canada, the average, historical cost of treating a stage I CRC patient is estimated at \$27,000, while treating a stage IV patient can exceed \$50,000 (Maroun et al., 2003). Early detection thus leads to significant cost savings. Moreover, it reduces indirect costs like lost productivity due to illness or premature death (Gheorghe et al., 2021; Maroun et al., 2003). Early diagnosis also allows patients to return to work sooner, contributing to the economy (Gheorghe et al., 2021; Ramos et al., 2023).

2.6.2. Colorectal Cancer Screening Modalities

CRC screening is one of the most recent additions to organised, public health cancer screening programs, and it has seen considerable changes over the past two decades (Inadomi et al., 2021). In the late 20th century, as the burden of CRC became more pronounced, there was a growing recognition of the need for systematic screening (Eisinger et al., 2008). Initial efforts were fragmented and opportunistic, often based on individual physician recommendations. However, as evidence mounted regarding the efficacy of organised screening, countries and states began to implement more structured programs, with a focus on evidence-based practices and standardised protocols (Bénard et al., 2018; Buskermolen et al., 2019; Eisinger et al., 2008). Today, there are several screening modalities available, broadly categorised into stool-based tests, radiology tests, and endoscopy tests, each with varying levels of sensitivity and specificity for colon polyps and cancer (Eisinger et al., 2008). Screening protocols, guidelines, and

recommendations also differ for individuals with a family history or genetic risk of CRC (high-risk population) compared to the general population with 'average risk' of CRC. These screening modalities are evaluated based on efficacy, invasiveness, and the risk of potential complications (Bénard et al., 2018; Buskermolen et al., 2019; Butterly, 2020).



Figure 2.7: Sensitivity, Specificity and CRC-Specific Death Averted for CRC Different Screening Modules (From: Doubeni, 2023 - in the public domain)

2.6.2.1. Stool-based Tests.

Stool-based tests have been a cornerstone of non-invasive CRC screening for decades. They detect blood or DNA markers in the stool that may indicate the presence of cancer or precancerous polyps, especially larger ones (Crouse et al., 2015). There are two main types: fecal immunochemical tests (FIT) and stool DNA tests (Crouse et al., 2015; Forbes et al., 2006).

FIT is considered more sensitive and has less dietary and medication restrictions during stool sample collection compared to the older guaiac fecal occult blood test (gFOBT) (Grobbee et al., 2017; Liles et al., 2012). FIT is now the preferred stool-based test for CRC (Grobbee et al., 2017; Hol et al., 2010), especially since 2008 when it was endorsed by multiple professional societies across North America (Levin et al., 2008; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 2008). The convenience of at-home sample collection and mailing for analysis, along with cost-effectiveness, make FIT particularly suitable for population-wide screening (Grobbee et al., 2017; Hol et al., 2010). FIT has a reported sensitivity of 79% and specificity of 94% for detecting CRC, but lower sensitivity (24%) for advanced adenomas (Winawer & Zauber, 2002). FIT is recommended annually or biennially by most jurisdictions including CTFPH, with positive results prompting a follow-up colonoscopy for confirmation and potential polyp removal (Bénard et al., 2018; Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care, 2016; Smith et al., 2019).

Stool DNA tests, a newer option, detect DNA mutations associated with CRC or precancerous polyps (Sabatino et al., 2015). The multitarget stool DNA test (FIT-DNA) is the only test currently approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for CRC screening (Smith et al., 2019). Its efficacy is similar to FIT, with 92% sensitivity and 87% specificity for CRC, but 40% sensitivity for advanced adenomas (Smith et al., 2019). Recommended every three years by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, a positive FIT-DNA result also necessitates a follow-up colonoscopy (Sabatino et al., 2015; Tinmouth et al., 2016).

2.6.2.2. Endoscopy Tests

Endoscopy, considered the gold standard for CRC screening, involves inserting a flexible tube with a camera (endoscope) into the rectum and colon to visualise the lining and detect polyps or cancer (Tomaszewski et al., 2021). Colonoscopy examines the entire colon and rectum, while flexible sigmoidoscopy examines the rectum and lower third of the colon (Graser et al., 2009). Colonoscopy is recommended every ten years, while sigmoidoscopy is recommended every five to ten years by most national screening guidelines, including by CTFPH in Canada (Buskermolen et al., 2019; Graser et al., 2009). Colonoscopy has a 95% sensitivity for detecting CRC, compared to 60-70% for sigmoidoscopy (Buskermolen et al., 2019; Graser et al., 2009). Positive results typically lead to biopsy or polypectomy. While endoscopy, especially, colonoscopy has the highest

sensitivity and specificity for pre-cancerous adenomas and CRC diagnosis (Buskermolen et al., 2019), as seen in Table 2.1 below, it is also the most invasive and resource-intensive. Endoscopy tests require extensive bowel preparations, which can be a barrier to participation (Rabeneck et al., 2008; Tomaszewski et al., 2021).

2.6.2.3. Radiology Tests

The radiology tests are not as popular as the stool-based and endoscopy tests and are also relatively newer. Conseqently, they are not included in the screening modalities or options of most juridictions (You et al., 2015). These tests involve the use of imaging tests to detect polyps or cancer in the colon. There are two types of radiology tests: computed tomography colonography (CTC) and doublecontrast barium enema (DCBE) (Sofic et al., 2010; You et al., 2015). CTC uses a CT scanner to create images of the colon, instead of inserting an endoscope. CTC has a sensitivity of 90% for detecting CRC (Heresbach et al., 2011; Senore et al., 2018; Sofic et al., 2010). However, a positive result also requires follow-up with a colonoscopy for confirmation and polypectomy. In contrast, the DCBE uses Xrays and a contrast dye to create images of the colon. It has a sensitivity of 60-70% for detecting CRC, but often reserved for patients who cannot have a colonoscopy, for personal or medical reasons (Heresbach et al., 2011). Similar to CT colonography, a positive result requires follow-up with a colonoscopy. The

U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, American College of Gastroenterology and American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations for both radiology tests are every five years (Lew et al., 2018; Sabatino et al., 2015).

Radiology tests have been reported to have higher sensitivity and more effective at detecting CRC and advanced adenoma compared to stool-based tests (Lew et al., 2018). They are also less expensive and less invasive compared to endoscopy tests (Lew et al., 2018; Sabatino et al., 2015). However, they require significant bowel preparation and expose patients to radiation. Additionally, positive results still require a follow-up colonoscopy (Forbes et al., 2006; Graser et al., 2009; Heresbach et al., 2011). Radiology tests are often not recommended for people with a high risk of CRC, such as people with a family history of CRC or a personal history of polyps or inflammatory bowel disease as colonoscopy offers more effective poly identification and removal (Lew et al., 2018; Nagata et al., 2017; Sabatino et al., 2015). They are also not the primary screening tests in Canada, the United States or much of the developed world (Knudsen et al., 2021).

Screening	Level of	Recommen	Sensitivity and	Pros	Cons	
Procedure	recomm	ded	Specificity			
	endation	Frequency				
Colonoscopy	Tier 1	Every 10	Adenomas ≥6mm:	Prevention by	Tedious bowel	
		years	Sensitivity 75-93%,	treating pre-	preparations.	
			Specificity 94%.	malignant lesions.	High quality	
			Adenomas ≥1cm:	High sensitivity for	standards needed, so	
			sensitivity 89-98%,	CRC and pre-	operator dependent.	
			Specificity 89%	cancerous lesions.	Low but possible risk	
				Long screen	of serious adverse	
				intervals if negative	events	
FIT	Tier 1	Every 1-	CRC: 74% sensitivity,	Non-invasive.	Frequency of testing.	
		2years	96% specificity.	Relative low cost	Colonoscopy needed	
			Advanced Adenomas:	Reasonably high	if positive.	
			24% sensitivity, 94%	sensitivity for CRC	Low sensitivity for	
			specificity		pre-cancerous lesions	
Multi-target	Tier 2	Every 3 years	CRC: 1-time	Non-invasive	More expensive than	
stool DNA test			sensitivity of 92%.	High 1-time	FIT	
			Advanced Adenomas:	sensitivity for CRC	Lower specificity	
			40% sensitivity, 86%	Fairly high	than FIT	
			specificity	sensitivity for		
				Advanced		
				Adenomas		
СТ	Tier 2	Every 5 years	CRC: sensitivity 96%	High sensitivity for	Tedious bowel	
Colonography			Adenomas ≥6mm:	CRC and advanced	preparations.	
			sensitivity 73-98%,	adenomas	Radiation exposure	
			Specificity 89-91%		High cost	
Flexible	Tier 2	Every 5-10	Same as	Prevention by	Tedious bowel	
sigmoidoscopy		years	Colonoscopy	treating pre-	preparations.	
				malignant lesions.	High quality	
				High sensitivity for	standards needed, so	
				CRC and pre-	operator dependent.	

Table 2.1: Comparison of the various CRC Screening Modalities

		cancerous lesions.	Low but possible risk
		Long screen	of serious adverse
		intervals if negative	events
			Unable to detect
			proximal CRC.

*FIT: Fecal Immunochemical Test. *CT: Computed Tomography

2.6.2.4. Screening Modalities Comparison

While efficacy (capacity to detect cancer or adenomas) and accessibility (general uptake) are key indicators for comparing CRC screening modalities, these do not always tell the full story (Knudsen et al., 2021). The US Preventive Services Task Force conducted a modelling study to evaluate the potential benefits and costs of the different screening modalities, alone and in combination (Knudsen et al., 2021). The study included the five major screening modalities available and recommended in Canada and across North America, that is, the FOBT, FIT, FIT-DNA, CTC, flexible sigmoidoscopy, and colonoscopy. The study compared the potential benefits of screening, measured in Life Years Gained (LYG) per 1000 persons screened, with the burden of screening was measured in number of colonoscopies required - either as follow-up or surveillance test, and cathartic bowel preparations required as part of screening or surveillance per 1000 persons screened. Potential harm or adverse effects of screening, included

serious gastrointestinal events (e.g., perforations or gastrointestinal bleeding), gastrointestinal events (e.g., diarrhoea, nausea or vomiting etc.), cardiac events (arrythmias, cardiac or respiratory arrest) respiratory events etc. per 1000 persons screened (Knudsen et al., 2021)

The study found that found that four screening modalities resulted in similar LYG with clinically significant benefits vs burden and harm ratio. Annual FIT results in 244 LYG per 1000 persons screened, CTC every 5years in 248 LYG, flexible sigmoidoscopy every 10 years with annual FIT in 256 LYG and colonoscopy every 10 years in 270 LYG per 1000 persons screened. The screening burden, measured as the number of colonoscopies required post screening, ranged from 900 colonoscopies, with annual FIT, to 1,750 colonoscopies per 1000 persons screened, for colonoscopy every 10 years, while harm from screening was around 23 complications per 1000 person screened. Similarly, the reduction in lifetime risk of death from CRC in the population was reportedly 81%, 82%, 85% and 87% for annual FIT, CTC every 5 years, flexible sigmoidoscopy every 10 years with annual FIT and Colonoscopy every 10 years, respectively (Knudsen et al., 2021).

As with other areas of clinical and population health, CRC screening is constantly evolving. Understanding new technologies, changing demographics, and ongoing research will continue to shape screening efficacy, uptake, and impact on the

CRC burden. The challenge lies in integrating these changes into a cohesive, effective, and equitable screening strategy for the general population.

2.6.3. Screening Guidelines and Recommendations

Screening guidelines and strategy vary, generally, by location but always include screening strategy for people at high risk of CRC, and organised screening programs for the 'average' risk general population (Eisinger et al., 2008). Screening can be opportunistic, in which screening is identified and referred through engagement with a health care practitioner. However, there is increasing preference for CRC screening as an organised public health program that offers equal access for all individuals in the population who meet the screening criteria (Blair et al., 2020; Eisinger et al., 2008).

The choice of screening modality for opportunistic screening depends on provider and patient preferences. But for organised screening programs, this generally includes one of FIT every year or two or FIT-DNA every 3 years with sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy every 10 years (Bénard et al., 2018). CRC screening programs generally target people aged 50-74 years (the USPSTF is considering widening this age range to 45-75 due to increasing early-onset CRC) (US Preventive Services Task Force, 2021) and the CTFPH guideline recommends FIT/gFOBT tests every two years or flexible sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy every 10

years for Canadians aged 50-74 years (CTFPH, 2016). Based on currently available evidence on risk versus benefits of screening, the CTFPH discourages CRC screening for people aged above 75 years and colonoscopy as a first-level screening test for CRC in people of all ages (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b; CTFPH, 2016). Figure 2.8 below shows the screening guideline and the 'screening pathway' for the average risk general population.



Figure 2.8: Screening Pathway for 'Average Risk' Population in Canada (From: Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020 – in the public domain)

Screening strategy for people at higher risk of CRC can be more complicated depending on whether they have a family history of CRC or not, and the type of genetic condition/predisposition to CRC suspected or confirmed (Leddin et al., 2018; Leddin et al., 2010). For people with HNPCC, for instance, the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology recommends full colonoscopy beginning between ages 20-25 and continued at intervals of 1-2 years (Leddin et al., 2018). Also, because the progression from colon adenoma to cancer is much faster in people with HNPCC relative to the general populations, polypectomy is recommended for all adenomas observed during colonoscopy, regardless of their size (Leddin et al., 2018). For FAP, however, flexible sigmoidoscopy annually or semi-annually beginning at puberty and continued until age 35 is also recommended by the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology. After 35 years, the interval can be reduced to every three years if no polyps have been detected. Once polyps emerge, however, annual colonoscopy becomes necessary (Leddin et al., 2018).

The Canadian Association of Gastroenterology and Canadian Cancer Society recommend that people with one or more second degree relatives (SDRs) with CRC or at least, one first degree relative (FDR) with non-advanced adenoma can be categorised as average risk and can follow the FIT every 1-2 years recommended screening strategy (Leddin et al., 2018; Leddin et al., 2010). However, the recommendation is different for people with at least one FDRs with 'advanced adenoma' or CRC.

Advanced adenoma is defined as adenoma 1cm or greater in size, villous histology or with moderate to high grade dysplasia. The Canadian Association of Gastroenterology classifies as 'high risk', people who have one FDR with CRC or two or more FDRs with CRC or advanced adenoma (Leddin et al., 2018). For the former category, recommended screening strategy is colonoscopy starting between age 40-50 years or 10 years earlier than the age of CRC diagnosis in the FDR and every 5-10 years plus FIT every 1-2 years, subsequently. For the latter category (2+ FDR with CRC or advanced adenoma), recommended screening strategy is colonoscopy every 5 years starting at age 40 or 10 years before the earliest age of CRC diagnosis in the FDR (Leddin et al., 2018).

2.6.4. Barriers and Facilitators to CRC screening

Despite growing evidence supporting CRC screening for prevention (or early diagnosis) and efforts by governments and policymakers to ensure accessible CRC screening programs, CRC screening uptake remains sub-optimal and faces a wide range of barriers and challenges (Adhikari et al., 2022; Ahmed et al., 2023; Almadi et al., 2015; Atkinson et al., 2015; Blair et al., 2020; Brouwers et al., 2011b; Sabatino et al., 2015). These barriers can be categorised as personal, organisational, and screen-related.

One personal barrier is sex, with females reportedly demonstrating lower CRC screening uptake (Daskalakis et al., 2020; Unanue-Arza et al., 2021). This
disparity has clinical implications for CRC incidence and mortality. However, it's worth noting that while the overall trend shows lower uptake among females, some studies report relatively higher uptake of fecal tests - gFOBT and FIT, among females in several jurisdictions. Females also seem to be more likely to participate in fecal tests compared to other screening modalities (Crouse et al., 2015; Portillo et al., 2018).

Educational attainment also plays a role, with lower screening uptake among individuals with less than high school education (Crouse et al., 2015; Klabunde et al., 2005). This suggests a lack of awareness or understanding of early detection benefits, highlighting the importance of educational interventions and health literacy in promoting screening (Crouse et al., 2015; Inadomi et al., 2021; Janz et al., 2003; Kobayashi et al., 2014).

Socioeconomic status (SES) further complicates the issue (Crouse et al., 2015; Farr et al., 2022). While lower SES is often associated with reduced screening uptake (Mansouri et al., 2013; Wardle et al., 2016), some studies show a nuanced effect depending on interaction with other factors (Blair et al., 2019; Warren Andersen et al., 2019). This suggests that while SES is influential, other factors contribute to the multifaceted nature of screening uptake.

Rural residence is another barrier (Arcury et al., 2005; Davis et al., 2018; Honein-AbouHaidar et al., 2013). Rural inhabitants, potentially due to challenges in accessing healthcare, are less likely to undergo screening compared to

urban/suburban counterparts, emphasising the need for improved rural healthcare access and infrastructure.

Co-morbidities also affect screening behaviour (Kiviniemi et al., 2011; Lo et al., 2015; Mansouri et al., 2013; Park et al., 2022). Certain conditions like diabetes and prior cardiovascular events are associated with poorer uptake, while others like breast and lung cancers have been associated with increased uptake (Mansouri et al., 2013; Schoenborn et al., 2019). This multidimensional effect suggests that the nature of co-morbidity, its management, and perceived impact on health influence screening decisions.

Knowledge and attitudes towards CRC and screening are also influential (Almadi et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2020). Even individuals with higher education may hold negative attitudes towards CRC and screening, suggesting that attitudes affect screening behaviour independently of education level (Crawford et al., 2016; Kruse-Diehr et al., 2023; Shi et al., 2020). This highlights the importance of targeted awareness campaigns and interventions to improve health literacy and emphasise preventive health benefits (Brouwers et al., 2011b; Inadomi et al., 2021).

From a healthcare organisation perspective, the absence of a regular healthcare provider or family physician is a significant barrier to CRC screening uptake (Lofters et al., 2015; Triantafillidis et al., 2017; Zarychanski et al., 2007). This is particularly problematic as physicians often act as gatekeepers to screening,

initiating discussions about its importance and providing referrals for appropriate tests. Additionally, several provinces in Canada, notably Alberta, still require a GP referral for CRC screening, further emphasising the pivotal role of healthcare providers in facilitating access (Adhikari et al., 2022). The lack of a screening recommendation from a trusted healthcare professional can significantly reduce the likelihood of individuals pursuing screening, especially among older adults who may be more reliant on their physician's guidance (Triantafillidis et al., 2017; Zarychanski et al., 2007). Therefore, addressing this barrier requires strategies to improve access to primary care providers and encourage proactive communication about CRC screening within the healthcare system. Similarly, removing the requirement for a GP referral has also been suggested (Adhikari et al., 2022).

Screen-related barriers also play a role in deterring individuals from undergoing CRC screening. Concerns about potential risks or adverse events associated with screening procedures can create anxiety and hesitancy among individuals (Rabeneck et al., 2008; Shen et al., 2018; Tomaszewski et al., 2021). Additionally, the perceived unpleasant nature of certain tests, such as the embarrassment associated with handling feces for fecal tests (van Rossum et al., 2008; Young & Cole, 2009) or the physical discomfort of bowel preparations for endoscopy, can contribute to negative perceptions and avoidance (Rabeneck et al., 2008; Tomaszewski et al., 2021). Addressing these screen-related barriers

requires clear communication about the safety and potential benefits of screening, as well as efforts to minimise discomfort and inconvenience associated with certain tests (Inadomi et al., 2021; Issaka et al., 2019).

On the positive side, several facilitators have been identified to promote CRC screening uptake (Adhikari et al., 2022; Kruse-Diehr et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2015). Regular encounters with healthcare services or providers, for instance, have been shown to significantly increase the likelihood of individuals undergoing CRC screening (Triantafillidis et al., 2017). This suggests that consistent interaction with the healthcare system not only increases awareness but also provides opportunities for screening discussions and recommendations. Similarly, having supplemental health insurance, potentially indicative of higher socioeconomic status or educational level, has been associated with significantly higher CRC screening uptake (Issaka et al., 2019; Triantafillidis et al., 2017). This may be due to increased financial resources and access to a broader range of healthcare options (Triantafillidis et al., 2017). Moreover, individuals with comorbidities requiring regular healthcare utilisation also demonstrate increased screening uptake (Schoenborn et al., 2019). This could be attributed to opportunistic screening during medical consultations for other health conditions, although the underlying dynamics warrant further exploration (Schoenborn et al., 2019). Understanding these facilitators is crucial for developing effective

interventions to improve CRC screening rates and reduce the burden of this preventable disease.

2.7. CRC Screening in Canada

While the overarching goal of CRC screening across all jurisdictions in Canada is the early detection and prevention of cancer, CRC screening in the country is characterised by individual provincial and territorial screening programs, each with its varying methods and strategies (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). Following the publication of the first CRC screening guidelines in 2001 by the CTFPH (2016) recommending CRC screening for the general population, individual jurisdictions began establishing screening programs based generally on the guidelines. Currently, organised CRC screening programs are available to individuals who are asymptomatic and at average risk of CRC in one territory and nine provinces – see Figure 2.9 below. The Northwest Territories and Nunavut do not currently have screening programs, while Quebec just established theirs in early 2024 (Gouvernement du Québec, 2024). In these jurisdictions without organised screening programs, CRC screening services are often available to individually opportunistically through engagement or encounter with their health care provider (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021).



Figure 2.9: Status of Provincial Colon Screening Programs in Canada

(Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021 - in the public domain)

As per the national guidelines, all jurisdictions with organised CRC screening programs target people who are average risk of CRC between the ages of 50 and 74 (some jurisdictions screen people up to 75 years – *see Table 2.2 below*) and employ stool-based CRC tests as the first level test (see patient flow in Figure 2.8 above). Currently, one Province (Manitoba) still offers gFOBT tests, while the other provinces and territories offer FIT tests for the colon screening programs.

Table 2.2 below summarises details of the provincial/territorial CRC screening programs. The primary advantage of organised CRC screening programs over opportunistic screening is that it makes screening available and accessible for the general population through several mechanisms (Eisinger et al., 2008; Wilkinson et al., 2022).

Organised programs proactively invite eligible individuals to participate in screening at regular intervals, increasing awareness and reducing the reliance on individual initiatives or provider recommendations. They also often employ reminder systems to prompt individuals who have not responded to initial invitations, further enhancing participation rates. These programs also adhere to standardised protocols for screening tests, ensuring consistent quality, and reducing variability in test performance and interpretation. This helps minimise errors and ensures that all participants receive a similar level of care (Wilkinson et al., 2022).

Similarly, the programs often have centralised systems for managing screening data, facilitating tracking of participation, test results, and follow-up procedures (Wilkinson et al., 2022). This ensures that individuals with abnormal results are promptly referred for further evaluation and treatment and receive support navigating the process. Lastly, organised screening programs aim to reach a broader segment of the population, including those who may not regularly seek healthcare or have access to a primary care provider. This helps reduce

disparities in screening uptake across different socioeconomic groups and geographic regions (Eisinger et al., 2008; Wilkinson et al., 2022). Collectively, these factors contribute to higher screening rates and improved outcomes in organised programs compared to opportunistic screening, where individuals rely on their own initiative or sporadic provider recommendations, often leading to missed opportunities and lower overall participation (Denis et al., 2007; Eisinger et al., 2008). Additionally, the awareness and promotion that accompany establishment of organised screening programs often contribute to improve the overall awareness, understanding and perception of CRC and CRC prevention in the general population (Eisinger et al., 2008; Levin et al., 2018).

Provincial CRC screening programs are responsible for promoting CRC screening, recruiting/inviting eligible individuals to participate in the screening and ensuring reminders, notification of results and follow-up when necessary (see figure 2.8 above). As seen in *Table 2.3* below, the promotional and recruitment strategies deployed by the different provincial programs vary remarkably (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021).

Some jurisdictions design and implement elaborate promotional strategies, such as Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month, distribution of promotional materials or social media campaigns, while others rely on general public awareness campaigns. Invitation letters mailed to the target population, with or without the test kit included, is perhaps the most common recruitment strategy. Other

programs require or encourage physician referral, others allow self-referral to the screening program for eligible individuals. A few jurisdictions also send out reminder notifications, usually in the form of a second invitation letter, to individuals with tests still outstanding. There is no denying that these varying strategies affect awareness level, and perhaps attitudes towards CRC screening. However, their effect on screening uptake requires further and ongoing assessment (Wilkinson et al., 2022). Lastly, results of the screening are often mailed out to the individuals and/or their healthcare provider (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020, 2021).

Jurisdiction	Program name	Program Start date & Status	Recruitment/Invitation Method	Screening Test Details	Normal Result Communication & Recall
Yukon (YT)		2017; Full	Physician referral; Self-referral in	*FIT every	Care Provider contacts
	ColonCheck Yukon	program,	person; FIT kits are distributed at	2years, from	participants to provide results.
		territory	public events	50-74 years	Recall reminder and kit mailed
		wide			together every 2 years
Northwest	In planning stages		Opportunistic		No formal recalls, up to
Territories (NT)			physician/NP/community health		participant or care provider to
			nurse referral		initiate screening again
Nunavut (NU)	Under development		Physician referral.		
			Referral through other screening		
			programs		
British	Colon Screening	2013; Full	Physician referral	FIT every	Results mailed to participant;
Columbia	Program	program,		2years, from	Requisitions for FIT mailed to
(BC)		in 4 out of		50-74 years	participants when next due for
		the 5			FIT
		Health			
		Authorities			
Alberta (AB)	Alberta Colorectal	2007; Full	Physician or nurse practitioner	FIT every 1-	Results mailed to participant; No
	Cancer Screening	program,	referral	2years, from	recall reminder, Care providers
	Program	province		50-74 years	refer eligible participants
	(ACRCSP)	wide			

Table 2.2: Summary of Provincial Colon Screening Programs in Canada

(SK) for Colorectal program, Cancer program, province referral; Self-referral by phone 2years, from Recall reminder and kit mailed Manitoba (MB) ColonCheck 2007; Full Letter campaigns; Physician FOBT every Care Provider contacts program, referral; Self-request made online, province program, referral; Self-request made online, province 2years, from participants to provide results. Québec (QC) Programme québécois de phone, or in person; Referrals 50-75 years Recall reminder and kit mailed after 2 years Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Recall reminder and kit mailed after 2 years Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Previously, opportunistic screening trough physician cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral (Québec Colorectal Cancer Sreening referral referral referral Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Cancer province wide 50-75 years together every 2 years Manitoba (MB) ColonCheck 2007; Full Letter campaigns; Physician FOBT every Care Provider contacts program, referral; Self-request made online, proyince phone, or in person; Referrals 2years, from participants to provide results. Québec (QC) Programme québécous every Program announced in February 2024 Recall reminder and kit mailed Québec (QC) Programme québécous Program announced in February 2024 Previously, opportunistic screening through physician referral Québec Colorectal (PQDCCR) referral referral Forgram Forgram Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening referral Forgram Forgram Forgram Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Manitoba (MB) ColonCheck 2007; Full Letter campaigns; Physician FOBT every Care Provider contacts program, program, referral; Self-request made online, 2years, from participants to provide results. province phone, or in person; Referrals 50-75 years Recall reminder and kit mailed Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Recall reminder and kit mailed Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Previously, opportunistic screening through physician cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral referral Previously, opportunistic screening through physician (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening referral Fogram Results mailed to participant and Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Manitoba (MB) ColonCheck 2007; Full Letter campaigns; Physician FOBT every Care Provider contacts program, program, referral; Self-request made online, 2years, from participants to provide results. province wide through other screening programs 50-75 years Recall reminder and kit mailed Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Recall reminder and kit mailed dépistage du cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) Previously, opportunistic screening through physician referral (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) eferral Kesults mailed to participant and Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Image: Program, program, program, program, province province phone, or in person; Referrals 50-75 years Recall reminder and kit mailed Québec (QC) Programme québécois de program announced in February 202* After 2 years Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 202* Previously, opportunistic screening through physician Québec (QC) Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Previously, opportunistic screening through physician Québec (QC) Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Previously, opportunistic screening through physician Québec (QC) Cancer colorectal (PQCCR) referral Ferral Figure de Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Program Ferral Figure de Program) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Province province phone, or in person; Referrals 50-75 years Recall reminder and kit mailed after 2 years Québec (QC) Programme québécois Program announced in February 202⊀ after 2 years dépistage du ✓ Previously, opportunistic screening physician February 202⊀ cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral referral February 202⊀ (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening February 202⊀ February 202⊀ Program) Kalled invitation, recall and **FIT every Recall reminder and kit mailed
wide through other screening programs after 2 years Québec (QC) Programme québécois de Program announced in February 2024 Image: Construction of the screening through physician dépistage du Previously, opportunistic screening through physician referral cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral Image: Colorectal Cancer Screening (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Image: Colorectal Cancer Screening Image: Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Québec (QC) Programme québécois de dépistage du cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) Program announced in February 2024 Previously, opportunistic screening through physician referral Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full
dépistage du Previously, opportunistic screening through physician cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) Program Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full
cancer colorectal (PQDCCR) referral (Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) Mailed invitation, recall and Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full
(Québec Colorectal Cancer Screening Frogram) Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Colorectal Cancer Screening Program) Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Program) Program) Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
Ontario (ON) ColonCancerCheck 2008; Full Mailed invitation, recall and **FIT every Results mailed to participant and
program, reminder letters; Physician referral. 2years, from Care Provider; Recall reminder
province self-referral by calling Telehealth 50-74 years sent in 2 years
wide Ontario; Self-referral through
mobile screening coaches
New Brunswick NB Colon 2014; Full Mailed invitation letter FIT every 2 Result mailed to participant; re-
(NB) Cancer Screening program, years, from invitation and eligibility
Programprovince50-74 yearsquestionnaire sent after 2 years
wide

Nova Scotia	Colon Cancer	2009; Full	Mailed invitation letter and FIT kit	FIT every 2	Result mailed to participant;
(NS)	Prevention	program,	sent after 2 weeks	years, from	Recall reminder & Kit mailed
	Program	province		50-74 years	every 2 years
		wide			
Prince Edward	Colorectal Cancer	2011; Full	Mailed invitation letter; Physician	FIT every 2	Result mailed to participant;
Island (PEI)	Screening	program,	referral; Self-referral by phone,	years, from	Recall reminder & Kit mailed
	Program	province	email, online or in person	50-75 years	every 2 years. In-person KIT
		wide			pick-up available
Newfoundland	NL Colon Cancer	2012; Full	Physician referral; Self-referral by	FIT every 2	Result mailed to participant;
and	Screening Program	program,	phone, email or in person; Referral	years, from	Recall reminder & Kit mailed
Labrador (NL)		province	through other screening program;	50-74 years	every 2 years
		wide	Website		

**FIT, Fecal immunochemical test; ** gFOBT kit was distributed until June 2019

In cases of abnormal fecal test results, most provincial screening programs have system navigational support personnel or support in place to notify people and/or their health care provider of an abnormal result, invite the individuals for followup diagnostic colonoscopy and support them through this process (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019, 2021).

Furthermore, most provinces and territories have a different screening requirement or guideline for people at higher risk of CRC, especially due to personal or family history of CRC and presence of specific genetic mutations. Generally, these population begin screening, on average, at age 40 or ten years earlier than their family member with CRC or advanced adenoma diagnosis, usually with colonoscopy every five or ten years (Leddin et al., 2018; Leddin et al., 2010).

These programmatic differences reflect the diverse healthcare landscapes and population needs across the various jurisdictions of Canada, with government and policy makers adapting the national guidelines to their specific demographic and population needs. However, these differences also create a wide range of challenges with improving screening uptake uniformly across the country. It means that the effect and outcomes of CRC screening differs across jurisdictions. These factors make underscores the importance of assessing the effect of CRC screening programs and highlighting best practices.

Table 2.3: Summary of Recruitment and Reminder Notification Systemsin Provincial Colon Screening Programs across Canada

Jurisdiction	Promotional Strategies	Reminder Notification
Yukon	Awareness campaign for Colorectal Cancer Awareness	Nil
	Month (March) (web, social media, posters, radio,	
	community outreach)	
Alberta	Social media campaign (Facebook, Instagram,	Nil
	Twitter) program website program brochures	
	community events, booths at conferences	
Saskatchewan (SK)	Program website	Reminder letter sent 9
	Promotional and educational resources for health care	weeks after initial invitation
	providers and public	
	Radio and print advertisement	
Manitoba	Education events for healthcare providers	Reminder letter sent 56
	Public awareness activities	days after initial invitation
	Social media	
	Program website	
Ontario	Physician-linked correspondence program	Reminder letter sent 4
	Screening Activity Report (SAR) is an online	months after initial
	interactive report for physicians in a	invitation
	Patient Enrollment Model practice and provides	
	screening data to help improve cancer screening rates	
	and appropriate follow-up. The Sioux Lookout and	
	Zone SAR was developed to support primary care	
	physicians and nurses supporting screening in 27 First	
	Nation communities.	
	Public awareness campaigns (social media)	
QC	Promotion to PCP of the current guidelines which	Nil
	indicate that average risk individuals should be	
	screened by FIT test	

NB	Promotional and educational campaigns for health	Reminder letter sent 12
	care providers and professionals (printed materials,	weeks after initial invitation
	program updates)	
	Public awareness campaigns (social media, digital	
	strategy, radio ads, presentations at community	
	events	
PEI	Awareness campaign for Colorectal Cancer Awareness	Nil
	Month (March) with public advertising (web, print	
	ads, TV, radio)	
NL	Education and posters for health care providers	Nil
	Social media campaign (Facebook, Twitter)	
	Presentations at health symposiums and community	
	events	

Abbreviations: AB, Alberta; BC, British Columbia; MB, Manitoba; NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; ON, Ontario; PEI, Prince Edward Island; QC, Quebec; SK, Saskatchewan

2.7.1. Effect and Challenges of CRC Screening in Canada

Evidence from provincial program evaluations suggests that CRC screening programs have contributed to CRC detection and outcomes in Canada (Kobayashi et al., 2014; Logan et al., 2012; Pilonis et al., 2020; Portero de la Cruz & Cebrino, 2023), despite a scarcity of national-level studies. Increased uptake and participation across demographics are a key indicators of program effectiveness. While national data are scarce, Major et al. (2013) reported a 16.1% average participation rate in the first round of provincial programs between 2009 and 2011. Singh et al. (2015) later reported a 55.2% national participation rate, with significant variation across jurisdictions (ranging from 41.3% in the Territories to 67.2% in Manitoba). Participation was higher in regions with organised programs (62.8%) than in those without or in development (48.4%).

Current data suggest further progress towards the 60% national screening target (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). This increased participation translates into earlier CRC detection, fewer late-stage diagnoses, and improved outcomes (Tinmouth et al., 2016).

However, challenges persist, particularly among disadvantaged groups. A Canadian Partnership Against Cancer review identified barriers to accessing CRC screening, highlighting disparities (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b). A significant challenge across populations is the disparity in colonoscopy quality, a crucial screening component. Collaborative efforts are underway to standardise care, emphasising adequate polyp detection, appropriate follow-up, and minimising complications (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b).

Low-income/SES populations face provider, support, and education-related barriers (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b). Lack of provider recommendations or referrals often lead to poor awareness and de-prioritisation of screening (Durand et al., 2021; Lofters et al., 2015). Fear, misconceptions, and negative attitudes also affect decision-making (Kobayashi et al., 2014). Practical challenges like scheduling conflicts and low health literacy compound these issues (Horshauge et al., 2020; Kobayashi et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2020; Unanue-Arza et al., 2021).

Visible minorities face multifaceted barriers (Adu et al., 2017; Amina et al., 2019; Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b; Cobb et al., 2022; Honein-AbouHaidar et al., 2013). Health system navigation difficulties, exacerbated by language barriers, hinder communication and understanding (Crawford et al., 2016). Lack of culturally appropriate materials and low health literacy contribute to misunderstandings and low perceived importance of screening (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b). Fear, embarrassment, family responsibilities, and reliance on family for guidance pose additional challenges.

As mentioned previously, individuals in rural/remote areas face additional/unique barriers (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b; Darvishian et al., 2023). Lack of regular healthcare providers hinders screening promotion and referral. Geographical distances, limited facilities, and transportation issues lead to delayed or missed invitations/screening kits (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b).

2.7.2. CRC Screening in Atlantic Canada

The Atlantic Canadian provinces—NL, NB, NS, and PEI—share unique sociodemographic and healthcare dynamics. While they have lagged behind other provinces in CRC screening organisation and participation, the period between 2010 and 2014 saw a noticeable shift (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). Initially, screening uptake was lower than the national average, reflecting the early stages of organised programs (Darvishian et al., 2023). However, uptake seem to have increased over time. Following the inception of its Colon Cancer Prevention Program in 2009, Nova Scotia saw a steady rise in screening participation. New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island are also reporting increased screening, attributable, at least, in part, to the enhanced public awareness and streamlined processes heralded by the screening program. Newfoundland and Labrador experienced a more modest increase (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). Nevertheless, peculiar challenges remain, notably the region's unique geographical and socioeconomic dynamics.

Atlantic Canada's mix of urban centers, rural towns, and remote areas impacts healthcare accessibility. Reaching screening centers can be challenging, particularly for those in remote communities. However, some provincial health authorities have addressed this through decentralized services, satellite centers, and mobile units (Nova Scotia Health Authority, 2017).

The region's sociocultural fabric, while rich in community ties that can be leveraged for awareness, also presents barriers due to traditional beliefs that may hinder screening uptake (Shi et al., 2020). Studies have highlighted how specific attitudes and cultural values, such as fatalism (the belief that health outcomes are predetermined and unchangeable), distrust of the medical system, concerns about privacy and modesty, and stigma associated with cancer, can

negatively impact preventive health behaviors like cancer screening in various communities (Kobayashi et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2020).

The region's demographic composition, with an increasingly aging population and a substantial portion residing in rural or remote areas, poses a complex challenge to screening efforts (Decker et al., 2023; Tung et al., 2018). While older individuals are generally more likely to undergo CRC screening due to increased awareness and more engagement with health care services (Decker et al., 2023), the combination of an aging population and a large proportion of individuals living in rural or remote areas, as is common in the Atlantic provinces, can create significant barriers to screening uptake (Rat et al., 2018). Older adults in these areas often face challenges with transportation, limited access to healthcare facilities, and fewer healthcare providers. These factors can result in delayed or missed screening opportunities, ultimately hindering overall screening rates in the region (Shi et al., 2020). Tailored public health campaigns, mobile units, telehealth, and collaborations with local leaders can improve both awareness and reach (Inadomi et al., 2021; Rat et al., 2018).

Additionally, most Atlantic provinces have a considerable low-income/SES population (Darvishian et al., 2023; Tung et al., 2018). Economic disparities influence screening decisions, as individuals may deprioritise preventive care due to financial constraints, lack of awareness, or competing priorities (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017b). Consequently, improving economic

conditions through government welfare services, could indirectly enhance screening uptake.

Compared to other provinces, the evolution of CRC screening uptake in Atlantic Canada offers some insights. Ontario and British Columbia, with established programs, consistently report higher participation rates (BC Cancer, 2020; Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021; Darvishian et al., 2023; Rabeneck et al., 2014). However, the gap with Atlantic Canada seems to be narrowing (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). By understanding the successful strategies employed in these provinces and the specific barriers to screening in each Atlantic province, governments, policymakers, and program administrators can design tailored policy changes and screening interventions. These interventions can adapt best practices, reach underserved populations, and ultimately improve CRC screening uptake across the board.

2.8. Concurrent Screening Participation

CRC, breast (BrCa), and cervical (CC) cancers are significant contributors to the Canadian cancer burden, accounting for an estimated 54,650 (24%) of overall cancer incidences and 15,280 (18%) of cancer-related deaths in 2022 (Darren et al., 2022). Concurrent participation, meaning participation in multiple (2 or 3) cancer screenings around the same time, is rooted in the understanding that if eligible individuals, especially women, participate in all relevant screenings, the

combined impact could be pivotal in early detection and prevention of multiple cancers. This approach is important due to shared risk factors and potential cooccurrence of these cancers (Njor et al., 2023; Sabatino et al., 2012).

In Canada, organised screening programs for CRC, BrCa, and CC have been established, targeting specific age groups as recommended by CTFPHC (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019). The CTFPHC recommends mammography for BrCa screening every 2-3 years for women aged 50-74, CC screening with a Pap test every 3 years for women aged 25-69, and CRC screening with fecal tests every 2 years or flexible sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy every 10 years for individuals aged 50-74 (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019; Major et al., 2015), though provincial variations in the implementation of these guidelines exist.

The rationale for concurrent cancer screenings is multifaceted. Epidemiologically, different cancers share risk factors like diet, physical activity, tobacco use, genetics, and environmental factors (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019). This overlap suggests that individuals at risk for one type of cancer may also be at risk for others (Boffetta & Hainaut, 2019). making concurrent screening a potentially efficient way to assess multiple risks simultaneously.

Practically, consolidating screenings could improve efficiency and reduce healthcare costs (Brouwers et al., 2011a). By combining screening appointments or tests, healthcare systems can streamline procedures, optimise resource

allocation, and minimise the burden on both patients and providers. Early detection of multiple cancers through concurrent screenings can lead to better prognoses and treatment options (Brouwers et al., 2011a), potentially reducing the need for more invasive and costly interventions later on.

Additionally, concurrent screenings provide valuable opportunities for education and engagement (Baccolini et al., 2022; Brouwers et al., 2011a). Each interaction with the healthcare system allows providers to reinforce the importance of preventive care, update personal health records, and tailor health messages to the individual's specific risk profile. This can lead to increased health literacy, empowered decision-making, and improved overall health behaviours (Baccolini et al., 2022; Brouwers et al., 2011a).

Despite these benefits and efforts to increase screening rates, many populations remain below national targets (Alam et al., 2022; Blair et al., 2019; Major et al., 2015; Sabatino et al., 2015; Schoenborn et al., 2019). Suboptimal uptake is evident in the fact that many cancers are diagnosed at late stages: 49% of CRC, 17.3% of BrCa, and 28.3% of CC are diagnosed at stage III or IV (Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2018). While the 17.3% late-stage diagnosis rate for BrCa is relatively low, it still represents a significant number of cases that could potentially benefit from earlier detection and intervention. Understanding the successes and challenges of different screening programs is

crucial to promoting better adherence to guidelines and improving early detection rates across all cancer types.

2.8.1. Breast Cancer Screening

BrCa remains the most common cancer among Canadian women (Canadian Cancer Society, 2023), making screening programs a key public health objective. Screening is widely recognised as essential for early detection, associated with improved survival rates and treatment options (Bauer et al., 2022). The CTFPH recommends mammograms every two to three years for women aged 50 to 74 at average risk, though provincial programs vary (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017a; Lu et al., 2012; Major et al., 2015). Mammography is the primary modality, with supplemental screening like MRI or ultrasound sometimes recommended for high-risk women or those with dense breast tissue (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2017a).

Historically, breast cancer screening has been a focus of campaigns globally, with movements like "Pink Ribbon" raising awareness and increasing uptake (Wilkinson et al., 2022). With an 88% 5-year survival rate for stages I-III, breast cancer patients have some of the highest survival rates, partly attributable to screening advances (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019). A systematic review by Tonelli et al. (2011) estimated that increased mammography uptake, especially among women aged 50-69, led to a 21% reduction in breast cancer

mortality in Canada. A Canadian Partnership Against Cancer report (2017a) also suggests that stable breast cancer incidence and mortality since the early 1990s is linked to mammography screening.

Despite this progress, breast cancer screening remains sub-optimal among certain groups (Adu et al., 2017; Bonafede et al., 2019). Socioeconomic status is a barrier, with women in lower economic groups facing challenges due to transportation costs, lower health literacy, and inability to take time off work (Adu et al., 2017; Bonafede et al., 2019; Lofters et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2012; Siu, 2016). Cultural and linguistic barriers, fear and anxiety, and health system factors like access to providers and facilities also contribute (Adu et al., 2017; Bonafede et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2012; Siu, 2016). Additionally, individual decision-making regarding the perceived benefits and harms of breast cancer screening, including the potential or concern for overdiagnosis and overtreatment, can influence participation (Jin et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020).

It's important to acknowledge the potential harms associated with breast cancer screening. Overdiagnosis, the detection of cancers that may not have caused harm in a woman's lifetime, can lead to unnecessary treatment and associated side effects (Jin et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020). Mammograms can also produce false-positive results, leading to anxiety and additional testing, or false-negative results, delaying diagnosis and treatment (Adu et al., 2017). Radiation exposure from mammograms, although low, is a cumulative risk (Adu et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2017; Lee

al., 2020). Balancing the benefits of early detection with these potential harms is crucial for informed decision-making about screening participation (Jin et al., 2019).

Addressing these barriers requires tailored interventions to improve access, awareness, and address concerns specific to each population group. Open communication between healthcare providers and patients about the potential benefits and harms of screening is essential to ensure informed decision-making (Jin et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020).

2.8.2. Cervical Cancer Screening

CC remains the third most common cancer among women, especially those aged 35-44 (Caird et al., 2022). The CTFPHC recommends screening from age 25 to at least 69, with three consecutive negative tests in the last 10 years (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019). Pap tests every three years are typical, but HPV testing, due to its higher sensitivity for detecting high-risk HPV strains, is increasingly used, often in conjunction with Pap tests (co-testing) for improved accuracy (Caird et al., 2022; Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019). The shift towards HPV testing reflects the continuous evidence-based improvement in screening practices.

CC screening is a public health success in Canada, with routine Pap tests contributing to earlier diagnoses and significant reductions in CC incidence and mortality (Caird et al., 2022). Current statistics show a higher likelihood of early-stage CC diagnosis in Canada (Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2019). Between 1984 and 2020, the age-standardised incidence rate (ASIR) dropped from 13 to 7.1 per 100,000, with an average annual percentage change (AAPC) of -1.8%. The age-standardised mortality rate (ASMR) also decreased by an average of 2.1% within the same period (Caird et al., 2022; Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee, 2019). However, this decline has slowed recently (Brenner et al., 2019), and further progress requires improved access, availability, and uptake of screening (Caird et al., 2022).

Challenges to CC screening uptake mirror those for BrCa and CRC, including personal factors (e.g., socioeconomic status, health literacy), health system factors (e.g., accessibility, provider availability), and screening-related factors (e.g., perceptions, beliefs, attitudes) (Alam et al., 2022; Bacal et al., 2019; Baccolini et al., 2022; Decker et al., 2009). "Screening complacency" is a notable factor, where the perceived lower risk and severity of CC, perhaps due to screening program success, may lead to lower prioritisation compared to other cancers (Atkinson et al., 2015). Similar to BrCa, rural/remote women, those in minority ethnic/migrant groups, and women with lower SES may have less access

or inclination to participate (Kurani et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2013; Lofters et al., 2011; McCowan et al., 2019).

The introduction of widespread HPV vaccination programs has the potential to significantly reduce CC incidence in the long term by preventing HPV infections, the primary cause of CC (Caird et al., 2022). However, in the short to medium term, it's crucial to maintain and potentially increase screening uptake. This is because the vaccine's full impact will take time to manifest, and there are still individuals who may not have been vaccinated or may be infected with HPV strains not covered by the vaccine (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2023). Continued screening efforts are essential to ensure early detection and treatment of CC in these populations, bridging the gap until the vaccine's full preventive potential is realised (Caird et al., 2022).

Widespread HPV vaccination, reminders, and educational interventions can help improve uptake (Caird et al., 2022) and address the remaining challenges. These efforts should focus on increasing awareness of the importance of screening even in the era of vaccination, dispelling misconceptions about CC risk, and addressing barriers to access for vulnerable populations (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2023).

2.8.3. State of Concurrent Screening Participation

Numerous studies have examined participation rates and factors associated with breast, cervical, and CRC screening individually. These predictors fall under personal/demographic factors (socioeconomic status, language, knowledge, beliefs, attitudes), health system factors (accessibility, provider availability), and screening-related factors (convenience, perception, patient experience) (Farr et al., 2022; Lo et al., 2013; Sabatino et al., 2015; Tatari et al., 2020). However, with each program administered separately, information on concurrent participation in all three and its predictors in Canada is scarce (Vahabi et al., 2021).

Examining individual programs, CRC screening lags behind breast and cervical cancer screening in Canada (McCowan et al., 2019). Reviews show 64-70% of eligible women are up-to-date with mammography and Pap tests, while CRC screening struggles to reach the 60% national target (Crawford et al., 2016; Major et al., 2015; McCowan et al., 2019; Schoenborn et al., 2019). Barriers likely affect women differently. For some females, barriers may only exist for one of the screening programs, while such barriers might affect all three screening programs for others. This makes evaluating concurrent participation in multiple cancer screening program and understanding the various correlates of screening, particularly important.

Limited national data exist on concurrent screening rates in Canada. Vahabi et al. (2021) found that 48% of eligible Ontario women participated in all three screenings, 37% in one or two, and 15% in none. BrCa and CRC screening was the most common combination for those participating in two. This 48% rate aligns with international findings, ranging from 50% in the Netherlands, Denmark, and Scotland (53.7%, 55%, 52%) (Kregting et al., 2022; McCowan et al., 2019; Njor et al., 2023) to 30% in England (35%) and Japan (27%), and even 11.5% in France (Dawidowicz et al., 2020; Ishii et al., 2021; Rebolj et al., 2020).

This variation may stem from differences in eligible populations, program design/implementation (e.g., invitations, modalities), or screening culture (health-seeking behaviors, risk perception, attitudes) (Crawford et al., 2016; Horshauge et al., 2020; Kregting et al., 2022; Lin et al., 2020; Tatari et al., 2020). Concurrent participation rates in England and Scotland (35% and 52% respectively) offer insights, as these are jurisdictions that have screening culture and organisation comparable to Canada. In both studies, CRC screening had the lowest participation, with breast and cervical being the most common combination (McCowan et al., 2019; Rebolj et al., 2020). This suggests that screening organisation and cultural factors may significantly influence concurrent participation, perhaps even more so than individual program participation.

Understanding these influences is key to optimising screening program strategies and improving overall cancer prevention efforts.

2.8.4. Optimising Concurrent Screening Participation and Future Directions

Promoting concurrent screening participation offers significant benefits, primarily a holistic approach to cancer prevention. By facilitating early detection across multiple fronts, it increases the chances of timely interventions, improving prognosis and reducing mortality (Horshauge et al., 2020; Ishii et al., 2021; Jung, 2020; Lu et al., 2012). This is particularly important given the shared risk factors among BrCa, CC, and CRC.

From a health system perspective, concurrent screenings can lead to long-term cost savings. Early detection often translates to less aggressive and costly treatments, shorter hospital stays, and more efficient resource allocation (Caird et al., 2022). Additionally, integrated screening programs can improve the patient experience by streamlining scheduling and reducing the burden of multiple appointments (Tangka et al., 2022).

However, challenges exist in the current system. Fragmented communication between programs, lack of integrated records, and logistical hurdles like scheduling and time off work hinder concurrent participation (Tatari et al., 2020; Tonelli et al., 2011; Vahabi et al., 2016). Personal and socio-cultural barriers, including low health literacy, fear, anxiety, and perceived inconvenience, also play a role (Tangka et al., 2022; Tatari et al., 2020; Tonelli et al., 2011; Vahabi et al., 2016). Belief systems, attitudes, language barriers, and limited access due to socioeconomic status or rural residence further complicate matters.

To overcome these challenges, public health policies should evolve to promote concurrent screenings. Integrating BrCa, CC, and CRC screening programs could create a "one-stop-shop" experience. This might involve co-locating services or coordinating schedules, as piloted in Alberta's 2021 integrated initiative (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2023). Similar interventions evaluated by the CDC's Colorectal Cancer Control Program in the United States demonstrate the feasibility of integrated screening (Tangka et al., 2022).

In the interim, targeted education, awareness, and outreach programs, particularly for underserved populations, are essential. These interventions should address specific barriers and utilise culturally relevant materials and messengers. Investing in healthcare provider training to promote concurrent screening as routine care is also crucial (Zhu et al., 2022). Continued research is needed to clarify the requirements for effective integrated programs, ensuring that as medical advancements enhance screening tests, policies and strategies adapt to make concurrent participation a standard practice.

2.9. Use of Secondary Data in Health Research

Increasing digital technology and capacity to store and analyse large amount of data have significantly revolutionised epidemiological and health research (Benchimol et al., 2015). Large administrative and/or survey datasets, as secondary data sources, have become invaluable resources for understanding and informing health policies and practice (Benchimol et al., 2015; Schneeweiss & Avorn, 2005). Secondary data, which encompasses large administrative and survey datasets collected for purposes other than the research at hand, has emerged as a critical resource for understanding population health trends, evaluating health interventions, and informing evidence-based policies and practices (Schneeweiss & Avorn, 2005). These datasets, often collected on national or regional scales, offer considerable information on health behaviors, chronic conditions, healthcare utilisation, and the social determinants of health (Benchimol et al., 2015).

Secondary data offer several important advantages for health research. First, collecting primary data can be a resource-intensive endeavor, requiring substantial financial investments and time commitments for participant recruitment, data collection, and entry. Secondary data eliminate these costs to the researcher, allowing researchers to allocate resources more efficiently and accelerate the research process. Even when access fees are involved, they are

typically lower than the expenses associated with primary data collection (Lofters et al., 2017; Roos & Nicol, 1999).

Second, large-scale surveys, such as the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS), often employ rigorous sampling methodologies to ensure that the data are representative of the target population. This representativeness enhances the generalizability of research findings, making them more applicable to broader populations. The large sample sizes also increase statistical power, enabling the detection of subtle associations or differences that might be missed in smaller studies (Béland, 2002; Lofters et al., 2017).

Third, frequent (for example, annual) surveys, like the CCHS, collect data over multiple years, allowing researchers to track changes in health indicators, behaviours, and outcomes over time. Even though different samples are often collected for the different iteration of the survey, this temporal analysis of multiyear data, is invaluable for understanding the evolution of health trends, evaluating the long-term impact of interventions, and identifying emerging public health issues (Béland, 2002; Lofters et al., 2017).

Lastly, many large secondary datasets are readily accessible to researchers through data sharing agreements or public repositories (Lofters et al., 2017). This accessibility facilitates timely analysis and knowledge generation, fostering collaboration and accelerating the pace of research (Lofters et al., 2017).

While secondary data offers numerous benefits, it also presents certain challenges (Benchimol et al., 2015; Sanmartin et al., 2016; Schneeweiss & Avorn, 2005). For one, secondary data may not always align with the specific research questions being investigated. Variables of interest may be absent, definitions may differ from those used in the research, or data quality issues like inconsistent or missing values may arise. Researchers often have to carefully assess the suitability of the data for their research questions and address any limitations through appropriate data cleaning and analysis techniques (Benchimol et al., 2015).

Additionally, the sheer volume and complexity of large datasets can be daunting. Managing and analysing such data often requires specialised software, robust computing tools, and expertise in data manipulation and statistical analysis. Researchers often need to invest time and resources in acquiring the necessary skills or collaborating with data scientists/analysts to effectively handle these datasets (Sanmartin et al., 2016; Schneeweiss & Avorn, 2005).

Similarly, secondary data, particularly those containing sensitive health information, raise ethical concerns regarding privacy and confidentiality. Researchers often have to adhere to stringent data protection protocols, ensuring that data are anonymised or de-identified and that access is restricted to authorised personnel. Moreover, researchers often have to submit their analyses outputs and findings to strict vetting rules to ensure no risk of disclosure exists.

These can and often contribute to tedious and slow research process (Sanmartin et al., 2016; Schneeweiss & Avorn, 2005).

2.9.1. Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS)

The datasets used for the studies included in this thesis came from the CCHS. The CCHS has become a crucial resource for health research in Canada. Conducted annually by Statistics Canada, this cross-sectional survey provides a comprehensive and detailed snapshot of the health of Canadians at the subprovincial (that is, health region) (Béland, 2002).

According to Statistics Canada, the CCHS is designed to fulfill several key objectives:

- Health Surveillance: It supports health surveillance programs by providing reliable and timely data on health status, health behaviors, and healthcare utilisation at national, provincial, and health region levels. Such data are essential for monitoring population health trends, identifying emerging health issues, and evaluating the effectiveness of health interventions and policies.
- 2. Research on minority population groups and rare characteristics: The large sample size of the CCHS enables researchers to study small populations and rare health conditions that might be difficult to capture in smaller

studies. This is particularly valuable for understanding health disparities and the needs of specific sub-populations.

- 3. Timely and accessible information: The CCHS aims to release data in a timely manner and make it easily accessible to a wide range of users, including researchers, policymakers, healthcare providers, and the public. This promotes transparency, evidence-based decision-making, and public awareness of health issues.
- 4. Flexibility and responsiveness: The survey incorporates a rapid response option, allowing it to adapt to emerging health concerns and collect data on new or evolving health issues promptly. This flexibility ensures that the CCHS remains relevant and responsive to the changing health landscape in Canada.

2.9.1.1. History and Evolution of the CCHS

Since its inception in 2000, the CCHS has undergone several transformations to enhance its scope and relevance (Statistics Canada, 2015; 2017). In 2007, the survey transitioned from a biennial to an annual collection cycle, enabling more timely data collection and analysis. It also introduced a consistent core content, ensuring the tracking of key health indicators over time. Then in 2012/2013 the CCHS integrated content from the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS),
which collects direct physical measurements like blood pressure and cholesterol levels. This integration provided a more comprehensive view of health by combining self-reported data with objective health measures (Statistics Canada, 2017).

Another major redesign in 2015 involved changes to the sampling methodology, content, and target population. These changes aimed to improve the survey's efficiency, relevance, and ability to capture emerging health issues. Due to the significant methodological and content changes implemented in the 2015 redesign, researchers are asked to avoid or exercise caution when comparing CCHS data from before and after this period, as direct comparisons may not be appropriate given the methodological differences (Statistics Canada, 2017).

2.9.1.2. Sampling, Data Collection, and Processing

The CCHS employs a complex, multi-stage sampling design to ensure the representativeness of the Canadian population. Since 2015, a multi-stage sample allocation strategy has been used to give appropriate and representative sample distribution to the health regions and the provinces. For each age group (18 and over, 12 to 17), the sample is first allocated among the provinces using a power allocation of 0.75 according to the size of their respective population. Each province's sample is then allocated among its health regions using a power

allocation of 0.35 according to the size of the population in each health region (Statistics Canada, 2015).

Also, from 2015 onwards, the CCHS has used two sampling frames: an area frame for adults (18 and older) and a list frame from the Canadian Child Tax Benefit (CCTB) records for youth (12-17). Using the area frame, a sample of dwellings is selected to target the population aged 18 and over (Statistics Canada, 2017). During collection, all members of the dwelling are listed, and persons aged 18 years or over are automatically selected using various selection probabilities based on age and household composition. One person aged 12 - 17 years is also pre-selected to complete the survey (Statistics Canada, 2017). Data collection is conducted through computer-assisted in-person and telephone interviews, ensuring standardised procedures and minimising data entry errors (Statistics Canada, 2017).

The CCHS questionnaire is modular, with a core component covering general health topics and optional modules, such as CRC screening participation, that can be selected by provinces and territories to address their specific health priorities. The survey covers a wide range of health-related topics, including chronic diseases, health behaviors, healthcare utilisation, and social determinants of health (Statistics Canada, 2017). However, as a consequence of this modular approach, optional modules are often missing for different provinces or territories across different years (Béland, 2002; Statistics Canada, 2017).

The collected data undergoes a rigorous processing phase at Statistics Canada, which includes:

- Checking for inconsistencies, out-of-range values, and logical errors in the data.
- Assigning numerical codes to categorical responses and standardising open-ended responses.
- Calculating new variables based on existing data (derived variables), such as body mass index (BMI), physical activity levels or socioeconomic status indicators.
- Assigning weights to each respondent to account for the complex sampling design and ensure that the results are representative of the Canadian population, even when analysis are done at the sub-population or regional level.
- Addressing missing data, particularly for household income, using statistical imputation methods to estimate missing values based on available information (Statistics Canada, 2015; 2017).

Additionally, to protect respondent confidentiality, the CCHS implements strict disclosure control measures. These measures include removing direct identifiers, suppressing, or aggregating data for small cell sizes, and applying statistical techniques to minimise the risk of re-identification. Statistics Canada places a high priority on data quality and employs various measures to ensure the accuracy and reliability of CCHS data. These measures include:

- Tracking and reporting response rates to assess the representativeness of the sample and identify potential nonresponse bias.
- Conducting thorough checks to identify and correct inconsistencies or errors in the data.
- Providing comprehensive training to interviewers and implementing quality control procedures to ensure standardised data collection (Statistics Canada, 2015; 2017).

However, the CCHS, like any survey, is subject to potential errors and limitations. These include the inherent variability associated with sampling a subset of the population rather than conducting a complete census. Statistics Canada provides coefficients of variation (CVs) to quantify the sampling error associated with different estimates and survey weights for analyses. Also, errors can occur during data collection, processing, or analysis. This may include respondent recall bias, interviewer error, or data entry mistakes. Statistics Canada implements quality control measures to minimise these errors.

While the linkage to income tax records improves the accuracy of income data, it is not possible for all respondents due to factors like consent withdrawal or

missing tax information. Lastly, substantial aspect of CCHS data rely on selfreported information. This may be subject to recall bias or social desirability bias (Statistics Canada, 2015; 2017).

Lastly, Statistics Canada adheres to strict ethical guidelines to protect the privacy and confidentiality of CCHS respondents. Key ethical considerations include:

- Informed Consent: Participants are informed about the purpose of the survey, the voluntary nature of participation, and the measures taken to protect their confidentiality.
- Data Anonymisation: Direct identifiers are removed from the data before it is released to researchers.
- Restricted Data Access: Access to the master data files is limited to authorised researchers who agree to comply with strict confidentiality protocols (Statistics Canada, 2017).

2.9.1.3. Relevance of CCHS for Cancer Screening Research

The CCHS is an important resource for health research in Canada, offering a wealth of data on various health topics, including cancer screening (Lofters et al., 2017). Its comprehensive nature allows researchers to investigate the prevalence of cancer screening behaviours, identify disparities in uptake across different

population groups, and examine the factors that influence screening decisions (Lofters et al., 2017).

For cancer screening research specifically, the CCHS provides crucial information on:

- Cancer Screening Uptake: The survey collect data on participation in various cancer screening programs, including CRC, BrCa, and CC screening. These data can be useful for monitoring trends, evaluating the effect of screening programs on reported participation levels, and identifying populations with lower screening rates.
- Barriers to health service utilisation: The CCHS collects self-reported data on the barriers individuals face in accessing and participating in cancer screening. This includes lack of awareness, fear or anxiety, and accessibility barriers. Understanding these barriers is crucial for developing targeted interventions to improve screening uptake.
- Impact of public health programs: The CCHS allows researchers to assess the effect and/or contributions of organised cancer screening programs to population-level screening rates. By comparing data before and after program implementation, where available, researchers can estimate the effect of these programs and identify potential areas for improvement.

By leveraging CCHS data, researchers can generate evidence-based insights that inform the development of effective cancer prevention and control strategies. This includes tailoring interventions to specific populations, addressing barriers to screening, and promoting equitable access to services. The CCHS can play a vital role in advancing our understanding of cancer screening behaviours and ultimately contributes to reducing the burden of cancer in Canada (Lofters et al., 2017.

2.10. Andersen's Behavioural model of health service use

The Andersen Behavioral Model (Andersen model) remains major theoretical framework in health services research, providing a robust framework for understanding the multifaceted factors that influence individuals' utilisation of health services (Andersen, 1995). Initially introduced in 1968 by Ronald M. Andersen, a medical sociologist and health services researcher, the model has since undergone several revisions and expansions, solidifying its position as a widely adopted theoretical framework in the field (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973

2.10.1. Evolution of the Andersen model

At its core, the Andersen model holds that the use of health services, defined as any contact between individuals and the healthcare system (e.g., preventive services, diagnostic tests, treatment, rehabilitation), is a function of three primary categories of factors: predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, and need (Andersen, 1995). Predisposing characteristics include demographic attributes (age, sex, marital status), social structural elements (education, ethnicity, occupation), and health beliefs (attitudes, values, knowledge). These factors shape an individual's perceptions of health and illness and their inclination to seek healthcare. Enabling resources, including personal finances, health insurance, and community-level healthcare accessibility, determine an individual's capacity to utilise services. Lastly, the need component, said to encompass both perceived and evaluated health needs, represents an individual's perceived health status and the objective necessity for medical care (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Andersen, 1995).

A significant milestone was reached in 1995 with Andersen's seminal paper, "Revisiting the Behavioral Model and Access to Medical Care: Does It Matter?" (Andersen, 1995). This version expanded the model to incorporate feedback loops, acknowledging that health outcomes and consumer satisfaction could, in turn, influence predisposing factors and perceived need. It also introduced the concept of the health care system as an enabling factor, highlighting the role of national health policy and resources in determining population health.

The most recent update to the model, published in 2001 by Andersen and Davidson, further expanded the framework by emphasising the role of contextual

and community-level factors (Andersen et al., 2001). This version argues that both individual and community characteristics can predispose, enable, or suggest a need for health services use. For example, the socioeconomic status of a neighborhood may not only reflect individual income but also serve as a community-enabling factor, influencing access to care (Brown et al., 2004).

The model's evolution also includes adaptations for specific populations. For instance, the Behavioral Model for Vulnerable Populations (Gelberg et al., 2000) was developed to better understand health services use among homeless people, recognising their unique predisposing (e.g., childhood characteristics) and enabling (e.g., competing needs) factors. Additionally, the model has been adapted to explore the use of complementary and alternative medicine (Fouladbakhsh & Stommel, 2007), demonstrating its flexibility in addressing diverse healthcare contexts.

2.10.2. Andersen model and cancer screening research

The Andersen model's popular use in health services research stems from its comprehensive and adaptable nature (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023). It has been employed to investigate a wide array of health behaviours, including preventive care utilisation, chronic disease management, mental health service use, and vaccination uptake (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Babitsch et al., 2012). The model's

ability to accommodate both individual and contextual factors, as well as health behaviours, makes it particularly valuable for understanding disparities in healthcare utilisation across diverse populations. For instance, it has been used to examine the impact of individual factors like self-efficacy and decisional balance on CRC screening adherence (Jin et al., 2019), as well as the influence of contextual factors like government subsidies and access to information on screening uptake (Chan et al., 2022).

With regards to cancer screening, specifically, the Andersen model has been applied to various contexts. For instance, Jin et al. (2019) utilised the Andersen model to investigate CRC screening adherence among Korean Americans, identifying enabling factors like income, regular check-ups, doctor recommendations, self-efficacy, and decisional balance as significant predictors. The study highlights the importance of both structural (e.g., access to healthcare) and psychosocial (e.g., self-efficacy) factors in facilitating screening behaviour.

Similarly, Chan et al. (2022) employed the Andersen model to examine CRC screening uptake in Hong Kong, finding that the availability of government subsidies and educational materials were key enabling factors. This study underscores the role of contextual factors, such as health policies and information dissemination, in promoting screening participation.

In the context of breast cancer screening, studies like the one by Jin et al. (2019) have used the Andersen model to identify factors associated with mammography adherence among Korean American women. Their findings emphasised the importance of knowledge, self-efficacy, and positive attitudes towards screening, highlighting the need for tailored interventions to address these factors.

These studies, among others, demonstrate the versatility and utility of the Andersen model in understanding cancer screening participation across diverse populations and settings. By identifying the specific predisposing, enabling, and need factors that influence screening behaviors, the Andersen model can inform the development of targeted interventions and policies to improve screening rates and ultimately reduce the burden of cancer (Chan et al., 2022; Jin et al., 2019).

2.10.3. Challenges and critiques of the Andersen model

While the Andersen model offers a valuable framework, its application presents certain challenges. One key issue is the variability in how variables can and have been operationalised across studies. For instance, socioeconomic status may be classified as a predisposing factor in some studies and an enabling factor in others (Babitsch et al., 2012). This inconsistency can hinder comparisons between studies and complicate the interpretation of findings.

The Andersen model has faced critiques for its potential neglect of cultural factors and its limited consideration of psychosocial factors like stress, social support, and coping mechanisms (Babitsch et al., 2012). These factors can significantly influence health beliefs, perceived need, and ultimately, health service utilisation (Babitsch et al., 2012). In response to these critiques, some researchers have expanded the Andersen model to incorporate cultural and psychosocial dimensions. For example, Bradley et al. (2002) expanded the model to include psychosocial factors in the context of long-term care use, while others have emphasised the need to consider cultural factors in understanding health service utilisation among diverse populations (Lederle et al., 2021).

Additionally, the model has been criticized for its linear structure, which may not fully capture the complex and often non-linear pathways to health service utilisation (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Babitsch et al., 2012). Some studies have attempted to address this by proposing alternative models that incorporate more complex relationships between the Andersen model's components (Herrmann et al., 2017).

Despite these challenges and critiques, the Andersen model remains a valuable tool for health services research. Its adaptability and potential for expansion have allowed researchers to tailor the model to specific contexts and populations, enhancing its relevance and applicability. In chapter six, the Andersen model is used to synthesis and summarise the findings of the three studies in this thesis.

Using the model as a lens to interpret and make sense of the various factors affecting CRC screening participation in the Canadian context serves two functions. One, it highlights this thesis contribution to our understanding of the factors associated with CRC screening participation. And consequently, the avenues and potential targets for interventions for improving health service utilisation.

Chapter Three

Paper 1: Colorectal Cancer Screening Uptake in Atlantic Canada, Before and After the Colon Screening Programs. What Has Changed?

Adefemi, K., Knight, J. C., Zhu, Y. and Wang, P. P.

Adefemi, K., Knight, J. C., Zhu, Y., & Wang, P. P. (2024). Evaluation of population-based screening programs on colorectal cancer screening uptake and predictors in Atlantic Canada: insights from a repeated cross-sectional study. *BMC Global and Public Health*, *2*(1), 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s44263-024-00061-6</u>

Copyright ©Adefemi, K et al (2024). A version of this chapter has been published in the BMC Global and Public Health Journal – DOI:

https://doi.org/10.1186/s44263-024-00061-6

Also, preliminary results from this chapter were presented at the *2022 Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute/Terry Fox Research Institute (BHCRI/TFRI) Cancer Research Conference* on November 7-8, 2022. This chapter was presented at the *2023 Annual Meeting of the American College of Epidemiology* on September 11-14, 2023, and the *2023 Canadian Cancer Research Conference* on November 12 –14, 2023 (both poster presentations).

An earlier version of the chapter was published as an open-access pre-print article in the Research Square Preprint Platform as an open-access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium provided Research Square Preprint Platform is cited as the source.

3.1. Abstract

Background: Colorectal cancer (CRC) poses a significant public health challenge in Canada, with the Atlantic Provinces bearing a particularly high burden. The implementation of population-based colon screening programs is aimed to address this concern. However, limited research exists on the impact of these programs, including their uptake, barriers, and predictors of screening participation. This study aimed to examine the impact of the first few years of the CRC screening programs in the Atlantic provinces of Canada by assessing changes in screening uptake, barriers, and predictors of screening among eligible populations.

Methods: Employing a repeated cross-sectional design, this study analysed data from a representative sample of 7614 respondents in 2010 and 6850 in 2017 from the Atlantic provinces aged 50–74 years, extracted from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS). The outcomes measured were CRC screening rates, changes in factors associated with screening uptake, and barriers to participation. Potential factors examined included age, sex, income, education, smoking, and health status.

Results: The proportion of adults aged 50–74 years who meet CRC screening requirements increased from 42% in 2010 to 54% in 2017 yet below the national target of 60%. New Brunswick reported the most significant increase in screening prevalence (18%, p < 0.05). Participation in fecal tests increased from 19.6 to 32.4%. Despite these improvements, disparities in screening participation remained, with lower uptake observed among individuals with lower income and education levels. Age (> 60 years, AOR 1.95 95% CI 1.39 - 2.73, 2010 and 2.09 95% CI 1.49 - 2.94, 2017), the presence of multiple chronic health conditions (2.69 95% CI 1.91 - 3.78, 2010 and 2.11 95% CI 1.50 - 2.96, 2017), having a regular healthcare provider (2.27 95% CI 1.32 - 3.89, 2010 and 1.91 95% CI 1.30 - 2.80, 2017), and nonsmoking status (AOR 1.68 95% CI 1.25 - 2.25, 2010 and 2.55 95% CI 1.95 - 3.33, 2017) were factors consistently associated with CRC screening participation.

Conclusion: This study shows that while CRC screening uptake increased across the Atlantic provinces between 2010 and 2017, barriers to and disparities in screening participation persist. This highlights the need for targeted interventions to improve awareness, access, and screening uptake, particularly among disadvantaged groups, to promote equitable healthcare outcomes. Continued

efforts should focus on reducing barriers to screening and leveraging available evidence to inform interventions aimed at mitigating the CRC burden in the region.

3.2. Co-authorship Statement

Kazeem Adefemi drafted this chapter and substantively revised it, made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the study results. Dr. Peter Wang substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Yun Zhu revised the work and made substantial contributions towards study design and analysis.

All authors read and approved the final version of this chapter.

3.3. Introduction

Despite being one of the few cancers that can be effectively prevented; the health, financial and health resources burden of CRC in Canada remain a growing and significant public health concern (Tung et al., 2018). CRC remains the third most diagnosed cancer in Canada and the second leading cause of cancer-related death (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020). Current estimates from Canadian Cancer Society (2022) project that 24,300 new cases of CRC were diagnosed in 2022, with 9,400 associated mortality. The burden of CRC is particularly concerning in the Atlantic Provinces of Canada (Decker et al., 2023). With age-standardized incidence rates and age-standardised mortality rates ranging from 102.9, and 42.4 in Newfoundland and Labrador to 62.1 and 26.7 in New Brunswick respectively, CRC incidence and mortality is highest among all age groups in the Atlantic provinces compared to the rest of Canada (Brenner et al., 2022; Canadian Cancer Society, 2022).

CRC screening is critical for reducing the incidence and mortality of this disease. CRC screening modalities, especially stool- tests, guaiac faecal occult blood testing (gFOBT) or Faecal immunochemical testing (FIT), Flexible Sigmoidoscopy and Colonoscopy, work by intervening in the cancer progression process; either by detection and subsequent removal of pre-cancerous adenomatous polyps or the early detection of CRCs in asymptomatic individuals (Adhikari et. al., 2022; Andersen et al., 2019). Multiple randomised, cohort and observational studies

have demonstrated the importance and effectiveness of the various CRC screening modalities for reducing CRC incidence and mortality (Araghi et al., 2019, Buskermolen et al., 2019).

However, participation rate, that is, the proportion of eligible individuals who comply with the recommended screening guidelines, is a major factor in the effectiveness of CRC screening. Low participation rates undermine the impact of any screening strategy. Some modelling studies suggest participation rates of 65-70% will be required to optimise the impact of CRC screening (Adhikari et al., 2022). Current guidelines from the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPH), recommends CRC screening for Canadians aged 50-74 with stoolbased tests – gFOBT or FIT every two years or flexible sigmoidoscopy every ten years for the general, average-risk, population through organised, population based screening programs, and sets a target of 60% participation rate for screening at the provincial and national level to ensure the effectiveness of screening programs (Decker et al., 2023).

Zarychanski et al. (2007) and Singh et al. (2015) evaluated CRC screening participation rates in Canada before the widespread implementation of provincial screening programs. Zarychanski et al. (2007) found that less than 24% of adults eligible for screening reported any history of CRC screening in 2003, with 18% up to date with screening. While screening participation rates increased to over 50% in 2012 (Singh et al., 2015), screening rates remain lower for under-served

populations, especially low income, rural/remote residents, and minority groups who continue to face additional barriers to screening (Butterly, 2020). Singh et al. (2015) concluded that sociodemographic factors, especially income, education and access to a regular healthcare provider remained strong predictors of CRC screening even in Provinces that had well-established provincial colon screening programs.

Although Atlantic Provinces established population-based colon screening programs between 2009 and 2014 (see Table 3.1 below), CRC incidence and mortality continue to be higher in the region compared to other parts of Canada, and current estimates suggest screening rates are low and inequities in screening access remain (Singh et al., 2015) Evaluating the impact and effect of these provincial screening programs is crucial for understanding where progress is being made and where inequities remain or where more work must be done to achieve the goals of CRC prevention in the region.

While the primary aim of screening is to reduce the burden of CRC, this can also be achieved with opportunistic screening. The advantages of organised, public health screening program, over opportunistic screening are numerous. One, it increases knowledge and awareness of the importance of screening, and the role of screening in cancer prevention. Two, it reduces barriers to, and inequity in access to screening resources/opportunities. Essentially, organised screening programs have the potential to increase both the uptake and effectiveness of

screening. With the Atlantic provinces experiencing significantly higher agestandardised incidence and mortality rates from CRC, achieving optimal returns from the CRC screening programs is crucial. Unfortunately, there is a dearth of research evaluating changes in screening uptakes due to the screening programs. This study therefore provides a first look at CRC screening uptake before and a few years after the onset of the screening programs. The study also evaluates changes in barriers and access to these screening by evaluating changes in associated with screening uptake among the general population.

Province	Program name	Program Start	Recruitment/Invita	Screening Test	Normal Result		
		date & Status	tion Method	Details**	Communication & Recall		
New Brunswick	NB Colon	2014; Full	Mailed invitation letter	FIT* every 2	Result mailed to participant;		
	Cancer Screening	program,		years, from 50-74	re-invitation and eligibility		
	Program	province wide		years	questionnaire sent after 2		
					years		
Nova Scotia	Colon Cancer	2009; Full	Mailed invitation letter	FIT every 2 years,	Result mailed to participant;		
	Prevention	program,	and FIT kit sent after	from 50-74 years	Recall reminder & Kit mailed		
	Program	province wide	2 weeks		every 2 years		
Prince Edward	Colorectal Cancer	2011; Full	Mailed invitation	FIT every 2 years,	Result mailed to participant;		
Island	Screening	program,	letter; Physician	from 50-75 years	Recall reminder & Kit mailed		
	Program	province wide	referral; Self-referral		every 2 years. In-person		
			by phone, email,		KIT pick-up available		
			online or in person				

Table 3.1: Details of Provincial CRC Screening Programs in Atlantic Canada

Newfoundland	NL Colon Cancer	2012; Full	Physician referral; FIT every 2 years,		Result mailed to participant;	
and	Screening	program,	Self-referral by phone,	from 50-74 years	Recall reminder & Kit mailed	
Labrador	Program	province wide	email or in person;		every 2 years	
			Referral through other			
			screening program;			
			Website			

*FIT = Fecal Immunochemical Test for 'asymptomatic, average risk individuals' aged 50-74.

** All Provincial Colon Cancer Screening programs are designed in line with guidelines from the CTFPH, that is, CRC screening for individuals at average risk between the ages of 50 and 74, with a fecal test every 2 years or flexible sigmoidoscopy/Colonoscopy test every 10 years.

Details from: Canadian Partnership Against Cancer (2021).

3.4. Methods

3.4.1. Study Design

In this study, we employed a repeated cross-sectional design, which involved secondary analysis of cross-sectional data from the 2010 and 2017 cycles of the CCHS (Statistics Canada, 2010; 2017). Unlike longitudinal studies that follow the same individuals over time, repeated cross-sectional studies analyse data from different samples at multiple time points. This approach allows for the examination of trends and changes in population-level outcomes (Rafferty et al., 2015), such as CRC screening uptake. For this study we focused on responses to the CRC screening questionnaire module administered to older adults across the Atlantic provinces.

3.4.2. Data Source

Data for this study were obtained from the master files of the 2010 and 2017 CCHS. The survey is a national, cross-sectional survey conducted by Statistics Canada to collect detailed health status, health care utilisation, sociodemographic details, and determinants of health from people aged 12 years and over living in all the health regions of the ten provinces and three territories of Canada. The CCHS interviews an approximate sample of 130,000 people every two years and produces annual microdata files that are available to researchers for analyses.

The survey uses a multi-stage, cluster sampling technique to ensure a representative sample of the country is sampled for data collection (Statistics Canada, 2017). Although sampling for the CCHS excludes full-time members of the armed forces, and people living on reserves/settlements and certain remote regions, especially remote regions of Quebec, this is collectively less than 3% of the Canadian population. Households are randomly selected as the final sampling unit for the CCHS with interviewers administering computer assisted personal interview (CAPI) in multiple languages (Statistics Canada, 2017). The sampling and data collection design of the CCHS allow researchers to access reliable demographic and health status estimates that are valid at the health region level (Statistics Canada, 2017).

For this study, data for respondents aged 50-74 years old resident in the Atlantic Provinces, namely, New Brunswick (NB), Newfoundland & Labrador (NL), Nova Scotia (NS) and Prince Edward Island (PEI) were analysed. There were 62,909 and 56,950 respondents sampled to be representative of 28,878,418 and 30,985,500 Canadians respectively in the 2010 and 2017 surveys. Sample from the Atlantic provinces were 7,614 (representative of: 1,449,028) and 6,850 (representative of: 1,472,700) respectively in both surveys (Statistics Canada, 2010; 2017). All analyses were performed with the use of survey weights provided with the microdata files by Statistics Canada to adjust for the complex sampling design and ensure that the estimates are representative of the general

population. The 2010 and 2017 master files were accessed and analysed for this study through the Statistics Canada's Research Data Centers (RDC) program at Memorial University of Newfoundland.

It is noteworthy that the CRC Screening module is an optional component of the CCHS. The 2010 and 2017 master files were selected for analyses as questions on CRC screening were administered in all the provinces of interest in these two survey years. Additionally, the CCHS underwent a major redesign starting in 2013 'to review the sampling methodology, adopt a new sample frame, modernise the content and review the target population' (Statistics Canada, 2017). Consequently, Statistics Canada advises against merging pre- and post- 2015 files for analyses. Nonetheless, comparing estimates from 2010 and 2017, analysed separately, still provides valuable insight into changes and trends in utilisation of health care resources such as cancer screening.

3.4.3. Outcome Variables

The two main outcome variables for this study were CRC screening history – 'ever-screen' and up to date with CRC screening – 'screen up-to-date.' The CRC screening guideline from the CTFPH recommends screening for individuals at average risk of CRC between the ages of 50 and 74, every 2 years with a fecal test, either the guaiac fecal occult blood test (gFOBT) or fecal immunochemical

test (FIT), or sigmoidoscopy once every 10 years. In line with this guideline, ever-screen was defined as any history of exposure to any CRC screening test fecal test or endoscopy (sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy). Similarly, screen up-todate was defined as participation in the fecal test in the 2 years or endoscopy tests in the 10 years prior, to the survey. Screening participation or screening uptake is used interchangeably, subsequently, to refer to being 'screen up-todate.'

Participation in any fecal or endoscopy test was included in the definition of the outcome variables for two reasons. One, the CCHs question simply asks respondents if they 'ever had a fecal/sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy test – lifetime' (Yes/No) and 'last time respondents had the test.' There were no data to distinguish if the test(s) were opportunistic, diagnostic or as part of the public health CRC screening program in the provinces. However, previous studies suggest that patients' self-report may not be reliable in distinguishing screening from diagnostic CRC tests (Singh et al., 2015). Additionally, participation in CRC tests for non-screening purposes also serve as screening for CRC as patients do not need to repeat the tests for screening purposes within the recommended timeline (Helsingen et al., 2019; Eisinger et al., 2008).

3.4.4. Independent Variables

The main predictor variables analysed in this study were comprised of sociodemographic and health behavior factors that have been shown in previous studies to be associated with CRC and/or CRC screening uptake. The key sociodemographic variables analysed included age (5 year age categories from 50-74 years), sex, marital status (categorised as married/common law, widowed/divorced/separated, and single/never married), highest education level (categorised as, less than high school education, high school graduation, and post-secondary education) and total household income (categorised as less than \$40K, \$40k-\$60K, \$60k - \$80K, \$80k-\$100k and over \$100k). This study also evaluated the effect of self-reported health status aggregated into three categories (Great, Good and Poor) from the five categories in the CCHS, access to a regular health care provider (Yes or No), body weight, using Body mass index (BMI), international standards (obese, over-weight, normal weight and under-weight) and number of chronic health conditions (comorbidity) (0, 1-2, 3-5 and 6+) on history, and up-to-date status for CRC screening. Regarding comorbidity, respondents were asked "do you have Asthma/high blood pressure/diabetes etc. (Yes/No/Don't know), the 'yes' responses were aggregated as number of chronic health conditions reported. The key health behavior variables evaluated for this study included smoking status (non-smoker, occasional smoker, and daily smoker), physical activity level (inactive, moderately

active, and very active) and consumption of the recommended daily fruit and vegetables (Less than 5 serve daily, 5-10 serve daily and 10+ serve daily) - see Appendix C for relevant sections of the CCHS questionnaire. Also, 'Don't know', 'Refusal' and 'Not stated' responses were aggregated as missing data. Since the proportion of missing data were less than 5% on average, complete case analysis was conducted, excluding missing data.

3.4.5. Statistical Analyses

All analyses were weighted and bootstrapped using survey weights and 500 replicate bootstrap sampling weights provided with the master files by Statistical Canada. The use of survey weights for sub-group analyses ensures that estimates are representative of the target population of the selected Provinces and to adjust for the complex survey sampling design. Only weighted proportions are reported as per Statistics Canada's confidentiality and data protection requirements.

Descriptive analyses using survey procedures in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc. 2013) was performed to evaluate the distribution of the various sociodemographic and health behaviour characteristics. We estimated the proportions of respondents with a history of CRC screening and those that are up to date with CRC screening by year – 2010 and 2017, by modality – Fecal or Endoscopy and by province,

then bivariate analyses was performed to determine differences in screening prevalence across different sociodemographic groups and province of residence. We first conducted multivariable logistic regression analyses with each of the potential predictor variables, adjusting for age and sex a priori. Then we developed full multivariable logistic regression models with all variables except for education level. Multicollinearity between independent variables, particularly age and income, was tested using an inflation factor of 5 as the cutoff. Given the apparent correlation between education level and income, only income was included in the full model to avoid multi-collinearity. Lastly, we stratified the analyses by sex to assess if the predictors of screening uptake significantly vary for males and females. Results are reported as weighted percent (%) and odds ratios (OR) with their associated 95% confidence intervals (CI) in compliance with Statistics Canada's confidentiality and data protection requirements. The threshold for significance is p <0.05.

All analyses were performed for people aged 50-74, the recommended age group for CRC screening and people resident in the Atlantic Provinces during the survey. While the 2017 CCHS distinguished between sigmoidoscopy and colonoscopy in the questionnaire, this distinction was not present in 2010. To ensure consistency, responses were aggregated under the broader term 'endoscopy test' for both years. Similarly, while the 2010 CCHS asked respondents for reasons for undertaking the CRC screening, the 2017 CCHS

collected data on reasons for not screening among respondents who reported no history of CRC screening. These variables were analysed to provide insights into the self-reported barriers affecting screening behaviours of respondents across the region.

3.4.6. Ethics Statement

Given the extensive checks and review required to access CCHS data at the secured RDC, review and approval of this study by the Human Research Ethics Board (HREB) of Memorial University of Newfoundland & Labrador was not required.

3.5. Results

3.5.1. Demographic Characteristics

The distribution of demographic characteristics among respondents in this study is shown in Table 3.2. Overall, there was a slightly higher proportion of females (51%) than males in both years, with a notable decrease in the proportion of females in NL from 52% to 50% between 2010 and 2017. The provinces experienced an overall aging trend, with the proportion of people in their fifties decreasing from an average of 48% to 42%, while the proportion of people in their 60s and 70s increased by an average of 5% and 2% respectively. However,

these demographic changes varied across provinces. For example, NB had the highest decrease in the proportion of people in their 50s (11%), NL had the highest increase in the proportion of people in their 60s (5%), and NS had a 4% increase in the proportion of people in their seventies.

The proportion of people who were married or in a common-law relationship remained consistent across all provinces at about 75% of respondents. In terms of education, there was a reduction in the proportion of people with postsecondary education from 57% to 54% on average, while the proportion of people with less than a high school education decreased from 26% to 21%. However, there was a 9% increase in the proportion of people with high school education.

The income gap between the rich and the poor widened between 2010 and 2017. The proportion of people with a household income of at least \$80,000 almost doubled from 21% to 41%, while those with a household income of \$40,000 or less decreased slightly by 6%. Among the four provinces, respondents in NL reported the lowest average household income, while respondents in NS reported the highest.

The number of people with three or more chronic health conditions increased by 5%, with PEI experiencing the most pronounced increase in comorbidity (7%). This was associated with a 3% average reduction in the population reporting having access to a regular healthcare provider. However, there was an increase

in the proportion of people reporting very active physical activity level (20% to 34%), and reduction in self-reported physical inactivity (54% to 27%). Also, the proportion of individuals reporting daily smoking decreased slightly from 17% to 16%.

	Atlantic Provinces, % of Population									
	New Brunswick		Newfound & Labrador		Nova Scotia		Prince Edward Island		Atlantic Average	
Characteristics	2010 (%) Weighted	2017 (%) Weighted	2010 (%) Weighted	2017 (%) Weighted	2010 (%) Weighted	2017 (%) Weighted	2010 (%) Weighted	2017 (%) Weighted	2010 (%) Weighted	2017 (%) Weighted
	n=237,836	n=260,620	n=167,397	n=194,962	n=291,758	n=332,344	n= 42,726	n= 51,684	n=739,718	n= 839,611
Sex										
Female	51.0	51.2	52.1	50.3	53.1	52.1	50.1	50.2	51.6	51.0
Male	49.0	48.8	47.9	49.7	46.9	47.9	49.9	49.8	48.4	49.0
Age										
50-54	24.8	17.5	23.1	21.0	25.0	18.4	22.0	21.1	23.7	19.5
55-59	26.4	23.1	23.6	19.6	23.9	23.0	22.9	21.6	24.2	21.8
60-64	21.0	26.6	23.9	23.7	21.2	24.0	24.4	22.0	22.6	24.1
65-69	16.0	18.2	17.4	23.0	17.7	18.5	16.1	18.8	16.8	19.6
70-74	11.9	14.5	12.0	12.8	12.2	16.2	14.6	16.5	12.7	15.0
Marital Status										
Married, Common- Law	76.3	74.2	80.2	73.7	76.1	73.5	79.2	74.9	77.9	74.1
Widow, Separated, Divorced	16.4	18.1	14.7	19.0	18.3	17.1	14.8	15.8	16.0	17.5
Single, Never Married	7.3	7.6	5.2	7.2	5.5	9.4	5.8	9.2	6.0	8.4
Missing	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0
Education										
Post Sec. Sch	54.0	50.5	51.4	53.0	62.8	59.0	60.8	54.7	57.2	54.3
Sec. Sch	19.7	28.7	14.2	21.6	11.8	22.0	10.7	19.5	14.1	22.9

Table 3.2: Demographic Characteristics of Respondents in CCHS 2010 and 2017, Atlantic Provinces
Less Sec. Sch	21.3	19.0	32.7	24.5	23.7	15.8	28.3	23.7	26.5	20.8
Missing	5.0	1.7	1.7	0.9	1.7	3.2	0.3	2.2	2.2	2.0
Household Income										
LESS \$39,999	33.3	26.4	37.1	28.6	30.4	23.5	28.8	25.3	32.4	25.9
\$40,000 - \$59,999	17.8	17.2	19.9	18.5	17.3	16.6	19.4	20.2	18.6	18.1
\$60,000 - \$79,999	14.5	13.9	10.1	14.4	13.5	14.6	14.5	15.0	13.1	14.5
\$80,000 - \$99,999	5.8	12.8	6.0	7.6	5.9	11.6	7.0	11.4	6.2	10.9
\$100k+	14.5	29.7	12.8	30.8	17.4	33.7	14.8	28.1	14.9	30.6
Missing	14.2		14.1		15.5		15.5		14.8	
Self-reported Health Status										
Great	45.4	47.1	55.1	55.9	48.4	51.9	63.1	56.7	53.0	52.9
Good	47.8	47.8	39.2	39.6	44.8	41.9	29.5	37.3	40.3	41.6
Poor	6.8	4.8	5.4	4.5	6.9	5.7	7.3	5.9	6.6	5.2
Weight*										
Underweight	1.0	1.0	0.3	1.4	1.0	0.7	1.1	0.2	0.8	0.8
Normal weight	28.3	21.1	26.9	14.7	31.1	21.5	33.4	25.5	29.9	20.7
Overweight	34.4	31.8	37.9	38.6	37.7	36.5	36.6	36.5	36.7	35.9
Obese	30.6	41.9	30.3	39.4	26.6	36.6	26.1	32.4	28.4	37.6
Missing	5.7	4.2	4.8	5.9	3.7	4.7	2.8	5.4	4.2	5.0
Number of Comorbidities#										
0	23.2	16.4	19.8	14.7	21.2	17.8	27.3	25.2	22.9	18.5
1-2	44.7	45.6	45.8	48.3	46.0	46.2	44.8	40.5	45.3	45.1
3-5	25.1	31.1	29.6	31.6	28.0	30.7	23.5	30.2	26.6	30.9
6+	7.0	7.0	4.8	5.3	4.8	5.3	4.4	4.1	5.2	5.4
Regular Care Provider - Yes	93.8	96.2	93.8	90.5	95.7	91.5	92.3	87.1	93.9	91.3

Physical Activity level**										
Very active	20.3	32.9	16.5	36.4	24.2	33.7	18.1	32.9	19.8	34.0
Moderately active	24.2	31.9	23.6	32.5	23.0	36.4	25.0	37.0	24.0	34.4
Inactive	52.3	30.0	56.7	27.0	51.0	26.1	55.0	26.5	53.7	27.4
Smoking										
Daily smoker	17.3	9.7	18.1	21.1	18.9	15.4	14.9	16.9	17.3	15.8
Occasional smoker	2.3	2.7	2.2	2.9	2.6	3.6	6.5	3.2	3.4	3.1
Non-smoker	80.1	87.6	79.2	75.9	78.2	80.9	78.7	79.9	79.1	81.1

*Weight categories based on BMI international standards. **Physical activity levels according to the World Health Organization's standards #Comorbidities include a wide range of chronic health conditions from migraine, diabetes, high blood pressure to fibromyalgia and cancer (non-specific)

Sec. Sch: Secondary School

3.5.2. Screening Participation

The prevalence of people who have a history of CRC screening participation in the Atlantic provinces increased from 53% in 2010 to 67% in 2017, indicating a 14% increase in screening participation rate during the study period (Table 3.3). NB saw the highest increase in screening participation rates, from 50% to 70%, and respondents in NB reported the highest screening participation rates in 2017. NL, which initially had one of the highest screening rates in 2010, reported the slowest increase and the lowest CRC screening uptake in 2017, increasing from 54.5% to 62.8%. This trend was similar for the population of people who were up to date with CRC screening guidelines. On average, the proportion of individuals up to date with fecal tests (<2 years) or sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy (<10 years) increased by almost 13% from 42% to 54.5%, still falling short of the national target of 60%. NB recorded the highest increase in up-to-date CRC screening, from the lowest rate of 39% in 2010 to 57% in 2017, second only to NS with a screening rate of 59.6%. These two provinces saw statistically significant increases in the proportion of people up to date with CRC screening. In contrast, NL reported only a 5% increase in screening rates, from 44% in 2010 to 49% in 2017. When considering the breakdown of different screening tests, there was a slight drop in the proportion of people up to date with endoscopy tests, accompanied by a notable increase fecal test uptake (19.6% to

32.4%), which aligns with the emphasis on fecal test as the primary screening test for CRC with the onset of CRC screening programs in the Atlantic provinces.

Table 3.4 provides the demographic distribution of respondents who are up to date with CRC screening. In 2010, 53% of women were up-to-date with CRC screening, compared to 47% of men; by 2017, women's participation slightly decreased to 52%, while men's participation increased to 48%. This change shows a modest convergence in screening rates between the sexes over the study period, except for PEI, where men reported a higher screening participation rate of 54% in 2017. Further, on average, while screening participation increased among people in their 60s and 70s by 3% and 2% respectively, from 2010 to 2017, it decreased by 5% among people in their 50s.

In 2010, screening participation was highest among married individuals, people with income above \$80,000, and those with post secondary school education. While this pattern remains consistent in 2017, there was decline in screening rates among married individuals (80% to 76%) and people with post secondary education (62% to 57%) but increase screening among people who earn \$80,000+ (36% to 42%). Between 2010 and 2017, CRC screening participation almost doubled among people who report a high school education (12% to 23%).

		Atlantic Provinces; % of Population								
Screening	NB		N	NL		NS		EI	Atlantic	
Tests									Avera	ge
	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017
Any exposure to CRC Screening test - 'Ever-Screen '	50.4	70.3	54.5	62.8	53.8	69.7	54.8	66.6	53.4	67.3
Fecal test <2yrs	13.8	28.6	18.9	23.0	21.3	44.3	24.5	33.7	19.6	32.4
Endoscopy test <10yrs	25.2	28.3	25.0	25.8	21.2	15.3	17.8	18.8	22.3	22.1
Either/both – Screen_up- to-Date	39.0	56.9	43.9	48.8	42.5	59.6	42.3	52.5	41.9	54.5
Change, 2010 to 2017 (%)	17	.9*	4	.9	17	.1*	10).2	12	2.6

Table 3.3: CRC Screening Participation by Province in 2010 and 2017

Abbreviations: NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; PEI, Prince Edward Island.

* Significant at *p*> 0.05 – *z* test of equal proportions

3.5.3. Reasons for and Barriers to CRC Screening

The self-reported reasons for undertaking CRC tests (2010) are listed in Table 3.5, while barriers or reasons for not participating in CRC screening (2017) are listed in Table 3.6. Overall, 57.5% of respondents completed the fecal test for a "check-up," and approximately 29% did so to follow-up on a medical problem. Similarly, about 29% completed a sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy for a check-up, while 46% did so for follow-up. Among people who had not undergone CRC screening, approximately 41% and 50% did not participate because they

considered the fecal and endoscopy tests, respectively, to be unnecessary. Additionally, 24% and 37% did not participate because their healthcare provider reportedly deemed the CRC screening tests unnecessary.

Table 3.4: Distribution of (Up to Date) CRC Screening Participation by Demographic Characteristics, CCHS 2010 and 2017, Atlantic Provinces

Demographic	Atlantic Provinces; % of Population										
Characteristics	Characteristics NB		N	NL		NS		PEI		Atlantic	
									Ave	erage	
	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017	2010	2017	
Sex											
Female	51.7	51.0	53.3	57.0	56.0	54.9	51.3	46.0	53.1	52.2	
Male	48.3	49.0	46.7	43.0	44.0	45.1	48.7	54.0	46.9	47.8	
Age											
50-54	17.3	14.4	23.5	18.8	15.9	13.7	15.1	14.1	18.0	15.3	
55-59	24.7	19.5	20.6	16.3	25.9	22.5	18.4	22.0	22.4	20.1	
60-64	23.4	30.7	25.0	26.9	23.6	26.4	30.8	25.2	25.7	27.3	
65-69	20.5	18.6	17.6	24.0	20.3	18.8	17.7	20.3	19.0	20.4	
70-74	14.1	16.8	13.3	14.0	14.3	18.6	18.1	18.5	14.9	17.0	
Marital Status											
Married,	79.4	75.3	79.2	72.2	79.5	76.1	83.7	79.3	80.4	75.7	
Common-Law											
Widow,	15.8	19.1	16.2	20.3	17.6	16.0	13.6	13.9	15.8	17.3	
Separated,											
Divorced											

Single, Never	4.9	5.7	4.6	7.5	2.8	7.9	2.7	6.8	3.7	7.0
Married										
Education										
Post Sec. Sch	58.3	50.1	58.6	57.0	64.4	61.9	67.2	57.7	62.1	56.7
Sec. Sch	14.5	28.1	15.8	20.7	11.4	20.1	6.7	21.8	12.1	22.7
less Sec Sch	23.9	20.2	24.5	21.3	22.7	15.0	25.4	19.8	24.1	19.1
Missing data	3.2	1.6	1.1	1.0	1.5	3.0	0.7	0.8	1.6	1.6
Household						L				
income										
\$80k+	34.7	41.1	32.1	40.6	38.8	46.4	39.6	41.3	36.3	42.4
\$40k - \$80k	30.4	30.8	32	30.4	32.3	32.4	33.9	37.9	32.1	32.9
< \$40k	34.9	28.1	35.9	29.1	28.9	21.2	26.6	20.7	31.6	24.8
Number of										
Comorbidities										
0	15.3	11.3	14.0	6.1	15.4	13.4	26.6	22.2	17.8	13.3
1-2	45.0	52.6	44.8	52.1	41.8	46.0	43.1	47.8	43.7	49.6
3-5	30.0	27.8	36.9	35.3	36.2	34.9	25.5	26.9	32.1	31.3
6+	9.8	8.3	4.3	6.5	6.6	5.7	4.8	3.0	6.4	5.9

Abbreviations: NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; PEI, Prince Edward Island. Sec. Sch: Secondary School

Variable	% of Respondents who had Fecal test <2yrs							
	NB	NL	NS	PEI	Atlantic Average			
Age	1.7	0.4	3.6	0.8	1.6			
Checkup	53.9	45	61.9	68.9	57.5			
Family History	9.0	11.8	6.1	3.5	7.6			
Follow-up	31.2	37.8	21.1	25.5	28.9			
Other	3.8	4.4	6.6	1.2	4.0			
Treatment	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.00	0.4			
	% of Respo	ondents wh	o had E	ndosco	py <10yrs			
After Fecal test	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7			
Age	1.1	1.6	0.4	0.9	1.0			
Checkup	33.4	20.6	36.2	24.9	28.8			
Family history	19.4	24.6	17.4	21.2	20.6			
Follow-up	43.4	49.3	41.6	49.4	45.9			
Other	1.5	1.1	2.6	2.0	1.8			
Treatment	0.6	2.8	1.7	1.6	1.7			

Table 3.5: Self-reported reasons for CRC Screening participation – 2010, Atlantic Provinces

Variable	% of Respondents with no Fecal in <2yrs								
	NB	NL	NS	PEI	Atlantic Average				
Didn't know about the test	5.0	2.3	0.6	0.6	2.1				
Doctor deems test unnecessary	29.9	33.3	13.6	18.8	23.9				
Fear/discomfort	1.1	0.4	4.6	0.3	1.6				
Had Endoscopy test instead	10.9	11.6	14.1	14.6	12.8				
Lack of time	1.9	0.6	9.3	7.3	4.8				
No access to test	1.4	1.5	0.5	0.2	0.9				
No doctor	0.3	0.1	2.2	0.3	0.7				
Other	11.3	4.9	17.8	15.4	12.3				
Didn't think test is necessary	38.1	45.4	37.2	42.4	40.8				
Variable	% of Respondents with no Endoscopy in <10yrs								
Didn't know about the test	0.4	0.0	0.3	1.1	0.5				
Doctor deems test unnecessary	43.1	37.0	33.2	35.5	37.2				
Fear/discomfort	1.7	1.3	1.9	0.0	1.3				
Had fecal test	1.3	1.0	4.2	2.6	2.3				
Lack of time	0.3	0.4	2.1	0.1	0.7				
No access to test	0.4	1.1	0.2	1.4	0.8				
No Doctor	0.3	0.1	1.5	0.4	0.6				
Other	9.5	3.8	7.3	4.7	6.3				
Didn't think test is necessary	43.0	55.2	49.2	54.2	50.4				

Table 3.6: Self-reported barriers to CRC Screening – 2017, Atlantic Provinces

3.5.4. Factors associated with screening participation.

Building on the demographic distribution of CRC screening participation outlined in the preceding section, our multivariate logistic regression analysis adjusted for potential covariates for 2010 and 2017, revealed consistent factors associated with screening participation across both years. (Table 3.7). For instance, compared to people aged 50-54, people aged 60-64 (AOR 1.95 95% CI 1.39 -2.73, 2010 and AOR 2.09 95% CI 1.49 - 2.94, 2017) or 70-74 (AOR 2.20 95% CI 1.51 - 3.20, 2010 and AOR 1.96 95% CI 1.32 - 2.92, 2017), married (AOR 1.51 95% CI 1.04 - 2.18, 2010 and AOR 1.21 95% CI 0.82 - 1.77, 2017), have multiple chronic health conditions (AOR 2.69 95% CI 1.91 - 3.78, 2010 and AOR 2.11 95% CI 1.50 - 2.96, 2017), and have a regular healthcare provider (AOR 2.27 95% CI 1.32 - 3.89, 2010 and AOR 1.91 95% CI 1.30 - 2.80, 2017) were consistently associated with increased likelihood of screening participation. Conversely, daily smokers, people who are single (never married), obese, and those reporting 'great' health (AOR 0.83 95% CI 0.50 - 1.37, 2010 and AOR 0.99 95% CI 0.57 - 1.73, 2017), had decreased screening odds. In 2010, low income, especially household income below \$40,000, was linked to lower screening odds, but this association was no longer significant in 2017. In 2017, being male (AOR 0.79 95% CI 0.64 - 0.99) and residing in NL were associated with decreased odds of screening.

In the analyses stratified by sex, the factors associated with screening participation were similar to the non-stratified analyses, but some associations were more pronounced or more consistent for males compared to females. For example, while people in their 60s and 70s consistently had higher odds of screening in 2010 and 2017, this was no longer significant in 2017 for females aged 65-69 (AOR 1.37 95% CI 0.82 - 2.29). Similarly, marital status, weight, physical activity level and access to regular healthcare provider all show stronger associations in males compared to female. However, having multiple chronic conditions – 3-5 (AOR 3.25 95% CI 2.03 - 5.21, 2010 and AOR 2.30 95% CI 1.35 - 3.92, 2017), and having a household income of over \$100k (AOR 1.89 95% CI 1.04 - 3.43, 2010 and AOR 1.18 95% CI 0.75 - 1.84, 2017) were more pronounced for females. Again, these associations remained consistent from 2010 to 2017.

Table 3.7: Factors associated with being up to date CRC screening in Atlantic Provinces 2010 and 2017, Stratified by Sex

		2010		2017				
Variable	A	djusted OR (95%	CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)				
	Overall	Men	Women	Overall	Men	Women		
Age		•	•		•			
50-54	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)		
55-59	1.46 (1.04 - 2.07)	1.25 (0.72 - 2.18)	1.68 (1.09 - 2.59)	1.29 (0.92 - 1.82)	1.40 (0.79 - 2.48)	1.21 (0.76 - 1.95)		
60-64	1.95 (1.39 - 2.73)	1.56 (0.95 - 2.57)	2.47 (1.59 - 3.82)	2.09 (1.49 - 2.94)	3.31 (1.88 - 5.83)	1.50 (0.90 - 2.49)		
65-69	1.93 (1.36 - 2.73)	1.46 (0.86 - 2.50)	2.56 (1.65 - 3.99)	1.56 (1.09 - 2.23)	1.83 (1.04 - 3.21)	1.37 (0.82 - 2.29)		
70-74	2.20 (1.51 - 3.20)	2.21 (1.23 - 3.95)	2.26 (1.37 - 3.72)	1.96 (1.32 - 2.92)	1.88 (0.97 - 3.63)	2.23 (1.30 - 3.83)		
Sex		•	•		•			
F	1.0 (ref)			1.0 (ref)*				
М	0.97 (0.76 - 1.22)			0.79 (0.64 - 0.99)				
Comorbidity								
0	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**		
1-2	1.50 (1.13 - 1.99)	1.64 (1.06 - 2.56)	1.49 (1.01 - 2.26)	2.30 (1.69 - 3.12)	1.99 (1.31 - 3.03)	2.56 (1.62 - 4.05)		
3-5	2.69 (1.91 - 3.78)	2.39 (1.31 - 4.37)	3.25 (2.03 - 5.21)	2.11 (1.50 - 2.96)	1.94 (1.21 - 3.11)	2.30 (1.35 - 3.92)		
6+	3.38 (1.91 - 5.98)	1.60 (0.48 - 5.30)	5.27 (2.46 - 11.27)	2.81 (1.62 - 4.87)	4.50 (1.94 -10.43)	2.00 (1.01 - 4.48)		
Province								
NL	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)		
NB	0.83 (0.65 - 1.06)	0.93 (0.60 - 1.45)	0.76 (0.54 - 1.07)	1.36 (1.01 - 1.83)	1.47 (0.96 - 2.24)	1.15 (0.76 - 1.74)		

NS	0.90 (0.70 - 1.16)	0.80 (0.53 - 1.22)	0.96 (0.67 - 1.39)	1.54 (1.21 - 1.96)	1.61 (1.07 - 2.42)	1.43 (1.00 - 2.07)
PEI	0.87 (0.58 - 1.32)	0.86 (0.41 - 1.82)	0.92 (0.57 - 1.49)	1.52 (1.09 - 2.14)	2.4 (1.4 - 4.12)	1.05 (0.63 - 1.71)
Marital statu	S	•	•			
Single,	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Married						
Widow,	1.40 (0.94 - 2.11)	2.04 (1.09 - 3.84)	1.03 (0.56 - 1.88)	1.15 (0.77 - 1.72)	1.21 (0.70 - 2.11)	1.16 (0.63 - 2.14)
Divorced						
Married,	1.51 (1.04 - 2.18)	2.49 (1.35 - 4.62)	0.97 (0.57 - 1.66)	1.21 (0.82 - 1.77)	1.27 (0.77 - 2.11)	1.24 (0.66 - 2.33)
Household in	come					
+20.000	10(0	10(0	10(0	10(0	10(0	10(0
< \$39,999	1.0 (ref)					
\$40,000 -	1.09 (0.74 - 1.58)	0.76 (0.46 - 1.30)	1.38 (0.90 - 2.12)	0.99 (0.73 - 1.35)	0.73 (0.44 - 1.19)	1.19 (0.75 - 1.88)
59,999	1 40 (0 00 1 00)	1 10 (0 (2 1 02)		1 00 (0 72 1 20)		
\$60,000 - 79,999	1.40 (0.99 - 1.98)	1.10 (0.63 - 1.92)	1.83 (1.12 - 2.99)	1.00 (0.72 - 1.39)	0.99 (0.58 - 1.68)	0.93 (0.57 - 1.51)
\$80,000 -	0.98 (0.61 - 1.59)	0.78 (0.40 - 1.52)	1.21 (0.56 - 2.62)	0.79 (0.54 - 1.17)	0.7 (0.37 - 1.32)	0.73 (0.43 - 1.23)
99,999 ¢100k+	1 42 (0.03 - 2.16)	0.00 (0.53 - 1.85)	1 80 (1 04 - 3 43)	1 1/ (0 87 - 1 50)	1 01 (0 50 - 1 71)	1 18 (0 75 - 1 84)
\$100K+	1.42 (0.95 - 2.10)	0.99 (0.55 - 1.65)	1.09 (1.04 - 3.43)	1.14 (0.67 - 1.59)	1.01 (0.59 - 1.71)	1.10 (0.75 - 1.04)
Perceived He	alth Status					
Poor	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Good	0.88 (0.56 -1.40)	0.66 (0.29 - 1.48)	1.30 (0.70 - 2.40)	1.11 (0.66 - 1.86)	1.02 (0.48 - 2.19)	1.36 (0.65 - 2.85)
Great	0.83 (0.50 - 1.37)	0.54 (0.23 - 1.29)	1.36 (0.72 - 2.60)	0.99 (0.57 - 1.73)	0.72 (0.33 - 1.59)	1.36 (0.57 - 3.2)
Weight [#]						
Obese	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)
Overweight	1.43 (1.11 - 1.86)	1.81 (1.22 - 2.69)	1.19 (0.82 - 1.72)	1.10 (0.86 - 1.42)	1.25 (0.85 - 1.82)	0.97 (0.65 - 1.45)

Normal weight	1.27 (0.92 - 1.70)	1.19 (0.73 - 1.91)	1.38 (0.90 - 2.11)	1.07 (0.79 - 1.44)	1.13 (0.70 - 1.83)	1.05 (0.69 - 1.59)				
Underweight	1.07 (0.44 - 2.57)	1.53 (0.18 - 3.03)	0.85 (0.29 - 2.53)	0.97 (0.17 - 5.68)	2.81 (0.03 - 7.48)	0.45 (0.03 - 6.20)				
Regular Heal	thcare Provider									
No	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)				
Yes	2.27 (1.32 - 3.89)	3.04 (1.50 - 6.16)	1.61 (0.70 - 3.71)	1.91 (1.30 - 2.80)	2.33 (1.39 - 3.90)	1.58 (0.82 - 3.03)				
Physical Activity Level										
Inactive	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)				
Moderately active	1.25 (0.96 - 1.64)	1.52 (1.00 - 2.30)	1.05 (0.73 - 1.52)	1.09 (0.82 - 1.45)	1.14 (0.73 - 1.76)	1.18 (0.78 - 1.79)				
Very active	1.18 (0.86 - 1.58)	1.29 (0.84 - 1.98)	1.11 (0.73 - 1.67)	1.20 (0.90 - 1.59)	1.05 (0.69 - 1.60)	1.60 (1.10 - 2.35)				
Smoking Stat	tus		•							
Daily smoker	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)**				
Occasional smoker	1.68 (0.85 - 3.34)	2.01 (0.67 - 5.99)	1.41 (0.52 - 3.85)	1.23 (0.64 - 2.37)	0.75 (0.25 - 2.28)	1.76 (0.68 - 4.54)				
Non-smoker	1.68 (1.25 - 2.25)	1.64 (1.04 - 2.57)	1.60 (1.09 - 2.36)	2.55 (1.95 - 3.33)	2.62 (1.71 - 3.99)	2.58 (1.75 - 3.82)				
Fruits & Vege	etable Consumptio	n								
< 5 Serve daily	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)**	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)				
5-10 Serve Daily	0.99 (0.79 - 1.26)	0.99 (0.65 - 1.52)	1.02 (0.74 - 1.41)	0.97 (0.73 - 1.29)	1.01 (0.64 - 1.60)	1.01 (0.70 - 1.45)				
10+ Serve Daily	3.01 (1.14 - 7.94)	3.10 (0.31 -3.86)	3.06 (1.19 - 7.89)	5.19 (1.79 - 5.06)	0.74 (0.02 - 5.89)	3.05 (0.04 -9.91)				

Note: ** p >.001; * p>.05. #Weight categories based on BMI international standards.

Abbreviations: NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; PEI, Prince Edward Island

3.6. Discussion

Our study assessed CRC screening uptake in the Atlantic Provinces of Canada – NB, NL, NS, and PEI – comparing before and after the implementation of organized provincial CRC screening programs in line with national guidelines (CTFPH, 2016). Our findings indicate that while screening participation increased post-implementation of these programs, the magnitude and nature of this change varied across provinces. Persistent disparities in CRC screening participation, particularly among certain demographic groups, were evident.

Participation in CRC screening and being up to date with CRC screening requirement increased in all Provinces with the establishment of CRC screening programs. However, only NS and NB came close to meeting the national CRC screening target of 60% in 2017. The increase screening participation was more pronounced for Fecal test, which is the primary screening tests for CRC in all the Provincial programs. Fecal tests became the most popular screening tests in all the provinces, especially NS. Thus, establishment of provincial screening programs in line with national guidelines (CTFPH, 2016) possibly contributed to reduced variability in test modality in the individual provinces.

However, the increase in screening participation varied across the provinces. There was at least a 10-percentage points difference in the screening rates increase reported in NS and NB, for example, compared to NL, which saw the

lowest increase in CRC screening uptake. Absolute increase in the uptake of fecal screening tests ranged from 23% in NS to 4.1% in NL (14.8% in NB and 9.2% in PEI). These changes in CRC screening participation did not seem to be dependent on how long the screening Programs had been in place, as NB with the most recent screening program reported a more significant increase in screening participation than NL and PEI. Table 7 below shows the promotional and recruitment strategies deployed by the screening programs in the four provinces. It could be argued that the community-based education and awareness campaigns and reminder notifications in NB possibly contributed towards better screening uptake in the province. Current evidence supports the importance of multifaceted interventions and community engagement strategies in improving CRC screening participation (Butterly, 2020; Inadomi et al., 2021).

Nonetheless, the average 60 percentage points increase in screening participation, in terms of proportion of people who were 'up to date' with their screening, is comparable to the effect of organised screening programs reported elsewhere in the literature (Honein-AbouHaida et al., 2013; Levin et al., 2018; Denis et al., 2007; Peris et al., 2007; Logan et al., 2012; Lo et al., 2015). Honein-AbouHaidar et al (2013) estimated CRC screening participation in Ontario, Canada between 2005 and 2011 to evaluate the effect of the 'Colon Cancer Check (CCC)' program on screening participation (a similar geographic, demographic and timeframe with our study). They found that uptake of the fecal

test increased from 7.6% to 14.8%, while being 'up to date' with CRC screening increased from 27.2% to 41.3%. Logan et al. (2012) reports outcome of the first round of invitations to the UK Bowel Cancer Screening Program and found that about 55–60% of the 2.1 million people who received invitations participated in the screening program across the four provincial hubs where the program was administered. Similarly, Denis et al. (2007) reported a 76.5% participation rate in CRC fecal screening tests in France, after two rounds of invitation, while Peris et al. (2007) found that completion of CRC fecal screening tests increased from 17.2% in the first round of invitations to 22.3% after a second round of invitation to a pilot colorectal cancer screening program in Barcelona, Spain.

There are slight differences in the UK, French and Spanish programs compared to the Atlantic CRC screening programs worth mentioning, though. The programs in these other jurisdictions were largely pilot programs with considerable amount of public engagement and educational campaign. Consequently, the effects might not necessarily be sustainable over an extended period. Second, the demography and target population, especially for the UK program was average risk population aged 60–69 years. This age group has been shown to be consistently more compliant with CRC screening, especially compared to people in their fifties, which is a key finding of our study as well.

Moreover, follow-up study by Lo et al., (2015) found that average participation rate across the England increased from 57.4% in first round of screening to

66.2% in the third biennial invitation round, with only 44.4% of the target population still 'up to date' with CRC screening at the third round. Similarly, a national study by Portero de la Cruz and Cebrino (2023) found that average national CRC screening participation rate in Spain only increased from 32.35% in 2017 to 43.92% in 2020 and that only 38% of the target population were up to date with CRC screening requirement.

Our study found disparities in CRC screening uptake across the Atlantic provinces, especially related to age, income, education levels and health status. For example, screening participation was consistently lowest among the youngest age group (50-54) in 2010 (40.4%) and reduced even further in 2017 (35.4%). Similarly, screening participation remained lower among people with lower education levels – especially, less than high school qualification, lower income earners and people with fewer than two chronic health conditions.

These disparities in CRC screening uptake, especially among younger adults (50s) and those facing socio-economic disadvantages, are particularly concerning. The younger demographic stands to potentially benefit more from early cancer detection (Levin et al., 2018). So, any decline in screening uptake among this group demands attention. Furthermore, the disparities related to socio-economic factors reflect the broader global health challenge of ensuring equitable access to health resources and the multifaceted factors that influence (preventive) health decisions and behaviours (Bauer et al., 2018; Butterly et al., 2020). Such

disparities are not just numbers; they represent lives, many of which could be saved with early detection.

We also found a slight decline in screening participation among people with no chronic health conditions and significant increase in screening uptake among people with 1-2 chronic health issues. This suggest that health care utilisation, and constant interaction with health care providers might facilitate positive screening behaviours (Butterly, 2020; Zarychanski et al., 2007).

With regards to factors associated with screening participation, our findings show that obesity, daily smoking, aged 50s, and a lack of access to regular health care provider remain were associated with lower odds of CRC screening participation in both 2010 and 2017. While physical inactivity, perceived 'great' health status and being single/never married were associated with lower odds of CRC screening in 2010, these were no longer significant predictors in 2017. This change in associated factors might indicate positive benefits of the educational and informational campaigns associated with the establishment of the screening programs.

However, being male and living in NL was associated with lower odds of screening participation in 2017. Considering that NL established its screening program ahead of PEI and NB, and the relatively higher per capital incidence and mortality of CRC in the province (Tung et al., 2018), it is imperative to investigate

and understand factors associated with the comparatively lower effect the screening program on CRC screening uptake in the province. Stratified analyses indicate that age, BMI, marital status, province of residence and access to a regular health care provider were more pronounced and consistent factors associated with screening among males, compared to females. Conversely, household income and multiple chronic health conditions were more strongly and consistently associated with screening participation among females.

These sociodemographic disparities in CRC screening participation align with evidence from other jurisdictions. In reviews of the different factors associated with poor screening participation, Gimeno García (2012) and Unanue-Arza et al., (2021) highlight age, marital status, income, education levels and health behaviours like smoking and alcohol consumption as the different factors that persistently influence screening behaviours. Lo et al., (2015) found that 'socioeconomic deprivation' was consistently associated with lower CRC screening uptake in England, while Warren Andersen et al., (2019) and Bauer et al., (2022) reported similar socioeconomic disparities in CRC screening uptake across the United States.

However, one of the main advantages of population-wide, public health screening programs compared to opportunistic screening, is that they offer a standardised system of care that ensures wide and equitable access for everyone, irrespective of socioeconomic status. Findings from our study suggests

that the provincial CRC screening programs have yet to achieve this objective. This suggest that interventions that target and address the different barriers among different age, sex and socio-economic groups are necessary to address these disparities and ensure higher CRC screening participation population wide.

The 2017 survey asked respondents who have no history of CRC to select from a list of potential reasons for not screening. This aspect of the 2017 survey allowed this study to gain some insight into people's awareness, beliefs, and attitudes towards CRC screening in the Atlantic provinces. A substantial proportion of people who had no screening history in 2017 report thinking the CRC test is not necessary for them or that their health care provider deemed the tests unnecessary. This is in line with findings reported by in Shi, et al (2020) regarding the awareness of, and attitudes towards CRC screening in NL. Given the higher prevalence of CRC risk factors, incidence, and mortality in the Atlantic provinces (Decker et al., 2023; Tung et al., 2018; Ruan et al, 2023) addressing these (mis)perceptions and attitudes is crucial. Frameworks like Health Belief Model offer structured strategies to address such challenges. By emphasising the severity of CRC and the crucial role of early detection, public health initiatives could potentially alter these perceptions (30, 31).

The Health Belief Model (HBM) suggests that people are more likely to engage in health behaviours, such as cancer screening, if they perceive themselves to be susceptible to the health problem, believe that the health problem can be

serious, that the benefits of taking action outweighs any costs or discomfort, and feel comfortable in their capacity to act (Moattar et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2020).

When applied to CRC screening, HBM suggests that uptake of CRC screening might continue to remain sub-optimal if concerted efforts are not targeted towards educating the people about the potential severity of CRC, as well, as the significant benefits of regular screening, to shift perception and attitudes towards screening.

Additionally, the clinical significance, efficacy and effectiveness of screening tests in reducing CRC incidence and preventing mortality, especially through early diagnosis, have been demonstrated repeatedly in the literature (Warren Andersen 2019; Brenner et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2016), such that evidence in support of CRC screening has received an "A" grade from the US Preventive Services Task Force (Butterly, 2020). However, it appears that low poor screening participation rates continue to affect the contribution of screening to CRC mitigation here in Atlantic Canada, and across the developed world.

In light of our findings of persistent disparities in CRC screening participation along with the various factors associated with screening uptake, it's crucial to address these inequalities with targeted, multifaceted interventions that have shown promise in various jurisdictions and should be applicability in the Atlantic provinces (Butterly et al., 2020; Davis et al., 2018; Eisinger et al., 2008). These

strategies should not only cater to the diverse needs of different demographic groups but also aim to address challenges specific to age, sex, and socioeconomic status. This study also underscores the importance of continuous evaluation and adaptation of screening programs to meet the evolving health landscape of the Atlantic provinces.

3.6.1. Implications of Findings and Recommendations

The establishment of Provincial CRC Screening programs appears to have contributed towards improved CRC awareness and better screening uptake among the general population in Atlantic Canada. But the findings of this study show that disparities in screening uptake persists and that work still need to be done to improve the level of awareness, attitude, and acceptance of CRC screening as a crucial tool for reducing the burden of CRC in the region. Below are some recommendations:

 Given the proportion of adults who thinks the CRC screening tests are not necessary, tackling misconceptions and barriers surrounding CRC screening through educational and mass media campaigns that use targeted, culturally relevant, clear, and specific messaging is crucial.
Accurate information that dispels myths and resolve any potential

concerns, especially from trusted sources, can help increase awareness, improve acceptance of the CRC tests, and encourage participation.

- While educational and mass media campaigns can help improve attitudes and awareness, evidence from the literature and our findings suggest that awareness alone will not suffice. Tailoring interventions to address the unique needs, barriers and demographic characteristics of specific populations could reduce disparities in screening participation among specific, underserved populations and improve overall screening rates. Inadomi et al., (2021) emphasises the importance of multi-level interventions that address patient level, provider level and system-level barriers, in successfully improving screening uptake.
- Improve healthcare provider-engagement and communication. The proportion of people who reported that their healthcare provider deemed CRC screening tests unnecessary suggests the need for better engagement between the screening program and healthcare providers. Evidence consistently shows that recommendations from their healthcare provider is a strong predictor of screening. Healthcare providers can be trained and enlisted to discuss/communicate the benefits of screening, address concerns and provide clear recommendations for screening.

3.6.2. Strength and Limitations

The primary limitation of this study, similar to all survey studies, is recall bias. Data collected for the CCHS surveys are self-reported and thus likely to be affected by recall bias, such over or under reporting of screening participation. Although Nova Scotia established its CRC Screening program in 2009, one year before the baseline, 2010, in our study, data on CRC screening for all provinces in the Atlantic region are only available for 2010 and 2017. The 2018 to 2022 CCHS did not collect CRC screening data from provinces in the region. Additionally, Statistics Canada warns that data from CCHS pre and post 2015 should not be merged for analyses due to significant changes in sampling methodology and design of survey instruments.

However, we believe that the use of data from 2010 and 2017 CCHS still served the purpose of evaluating the effect of the Provincial screening programs on screening uptake and associated factors. Lastly, the CCHS contains inadequate data to exclude people with hereditary CRC syndromes and those who are higher risk of CRC due to family history and hence require sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy more frequently. However, current estimates indicate that this group constitutes less than 3% of the general population. Our study provides a comprehensive review of the effects and limitations of the first few years of Provincial CRC screening programs in Atlantic Canada.

3.7. Conclusion

This study highlights the positive contribution of provincial CRC screening programs to participation rates across the Atlantic provinces, though with notable inter-provincial variations. Persistent disparities in screening participation exist within provinces, particularly affecting people in their 50s and socio-economically disadvantaged groups. These findings emphasise the need for interventions to promote equitable access, address misconceptions through community-based initiatives and tailored messaging and facilitate cross-provincial collaboration for best practice sharing. Improving overall screening rates and achieving equity in access remain critical public health priorities for reducing the burden of CRC throughout the Atlantic provinces. More research is required to further our understanding of these barriers to CRC screening and to inform more effective interventions.

Chapter Four

Paper 2: Racial And Sociodemographic Distribution of Colorectal Cancer Screening in Canada – A Cross Sectional Study

Adefemi, K., Knight, J. C., Zhu, Y., & Wang, P. P. (2024). Racial and sociodemographic distribution of colorectal cancer screening in Canada: A cross-sectional study. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*.

https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-024-00859-9

Copyright ©Adefemi, K et al (2023). A version of this chapter has been published in the *Canadian Journal of Public Health* – DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-</u> 024-00859-9

Also results from this chapter was accepted for presentation at the 2024 Canadian Centre for Applied Research in Cancer Control (ARCC) conference on May 16-17, 2024.

4.1. Abstract

Objectives

To assess the racial and sociodemographic distribution of colorectal cancer (CRC) screening uptake in Canada, identify disparities, and evaluate the potential predictors and barriers to CRC screening.

Methods

Data from the 2017 cycle of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) was analyzed, focusing on individuals aged 50-74 years. CRC screening participation rates were evaluated at both national and provincial levels and across various sociodemographic characteristics. Multivariable logistic regression models were employed to identify predictors and barriers to CRC screening.

Results

Of the 56,950 respondents to the 2017 CCHS, 41.7% (n= 23,727) were aged between 50-74 years. The overall CRC screening participation rate was 59.8%, with provinces like Alberta and Manitoba achieving rates of 65.7% and 66.5%, respectively. Significant disparities were observed across socioeconomic, geographical, and racial or ethnic groups. Notably, older adults [AOR 2.41 95%

CI-2.06 - 2.83], higher income earners [AOR 1.99 95% CI-1.77 - 2.24] and nonsmokers [AOR 1.76, 95% CI-1.55 - 2.0] had higher odds of screening, while immigrants and minority ethnic groups, especially, South-East Asians [AOR 0.48, 95% CI-0.29 - 0.78] and South Asians [AOR 0.65, 95% CI-0.44 - 0.95] had lower odds of being up-to-date with CRC screening. A significant portion of unscreened individuals cited their healthcare provider's perception of the test as unnecessary as a barrier to screening uptake.

Conclusion

While CRC screening participation rates across Canada seem close to meeting the national target, significant disparities persist. Addressing these disparities is crucial for public health. Efforts should focus on enhancing public awareness, facilitating accessibility, and ensuring cultural appropriateness of CRC screening initiatives and messaging.

4.2. Co-authorship Statement

Kazeem Adefemi drafted this chapter and substantively revised it, made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the study results. Dr. Peter Wang substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Yun Zhu revised the work and made substantial contributions towards study design and analysis.

All authors read and approved the submitted version of this chapter.

4.3. Introduction

Organised, population-wide screening for CRC screening programs targeting people aged 50-74 years and at average risk of colorectal cancer have been established in nine of the ten Canadian Provinces, over the last decade (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020). Despite the body of evidence suggesting that organised CRC screening programs can reduce CRC mortality and incidence (Blair et al., 2020; Eisinger et al., 2008; Levin et al., 2018), CRC remains the third most diagnosed cancer and the second leading cause of cancer-related mortality. In 2022 alone, CRC accounted for 10% of all cancer incidence and 11% of cancerrelated mortality in Canada (Darren et al., 2022). CRC therefore remains significant public health concern in Canada.

Understanding the patterns of CRC screening and identifying potential disparities among diverse population groups are imperative to inform targeted interventions and policy measures to alleviate this burden. In fact, the Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control, 2019-2029 identifies strengthening existing cancer screening programs to diagnose cancer faster, accurately and at an early stage (Priority 2, Action 2), and eliminating barriers and disparities to access for cancer screening programs (Priority 4, Actions 1 and 2), as key priorities for reducing the burden of CRC in Canada (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019).

After publication of the CRC screening guidelines by the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPH – first in 2001, updated guideline in 2016)

recommending CRC screening for the general population, the first provincial screening programs were established in 2007/08 (Alberta, Manitoba, and Ontario). By 2014, all Canadian provinces, except Quebec, have implemented province-wide CRC screening programs. In one of the first studies on CRC screening prevalence, Major et al. (2013) reported an average participation rate of 16.1% from the first round of CRC screening programs between January 2009 and December 2011 across five provinces. Using data from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) for 2012 (when only five Provinces had CRC Screening programs), Singh et al. (2015) reported an average 55.2% participation rate (30.1% for fecal test, 37.2% for endoscopic tests) across Canada. These studies identified significant disparities in CRC screening participation across various sociodemographic groups that requires particular attention. However, few studies have assessed CRC screening participation rates, and the disparities in screening uptake at a national level, especially since the widespread implementation of provincial CRC screening programs.

Additionally, CRC screening participation among migrant and visible minority groups in Canada have received limited attention. Analysing data from Immigrants who had been in Ontario Canada, for at least 10 years, using multiple cycles of the CCHS, Shen et al. (2018) and Amina et al. (2019) found that CRC screening participation was significantly lower for recent and long-term immigrants than the general population. They also found that this disparity was

especially pronounced for people from middle to low-income countries and refugees.

Crouse et al. (2015); Lo et al. (2015) also reported poorer screening participation among minority ethnic groups in Calgary (Canada) and England, while Crawford et al. (2016) found lower screening uptake among South Asian populations in United Kingdom, United States and Canada. These studies suggest that poorer CRC screening participation among migrant and minority groups might be mediated by a multitude of factors. These include perceived barriers, social norms, poor health care and/or screening knowledge, reduced access to health care, and attitude and beliefs about cancer and screening (Crawford et al., 2016; Crouse et al., 2015; Durand et al., 2021; Kobayashi et al., 2014; Tatari et al., 2020).

Given the comparatively higher rate of mortality and morbidity, overall, among people with low socio-economic status, and the poorer health care utilisation among migrant groups (Kobayashi et al., 2014; Shen et al., 2018), these disparities in healthcare access and utilisation could be a potential barrier to CRC screening uptake. However, without clear, evidenced-based understanding of the factors associated with CRC screening under-utilisation among specific population groups and the general population within the Canadian context, little can be done to improve screening rates and consequently reduce the burden of CRC in Canada.

To address this gap in knowledge, we hypothesis that while CRC screening participation rates have increased across Canada, significant inequalities and disparities in screening access and utilisation persists. Using data from the 2017 CCHS, which provides the most recent complete CRC screening data for all ten provinces, our study aims to achieve two main objectives. First, we aim to provide an updated assessment of CRC screening participation rates across Canada since the last review by Singh et al. (2015) based on data from the 2012 CCHS. We expect that our study will provide relevant information on how the implementation of provincial CRC screening programs across the country have affected screening uptake. Second, we aim to provide a broader, national assessment of the disparities in CRC screening rates among the various racial and sociodemographic groups. We believe that findings from our study could inform interventions aimed at reducing screening disparities and ensure the goals of the CRC screening programs are achieved.

4.4. Methods

4.4.1. Design

Data for this cross-sectional study were extracted from the 2017 cycle of the CCHS. The CCHS is population-based cross-sectional survey conducted by Statistics Canada. The survey collects information related to health status, determinants of health and health service utilisation from a representative

sample of people aged 12 years and over, across the ten provinces and three territories of Canada. The survey uses a complex multi-stage sampling process, and the sampling frame covers an estimated 97% of the Canadian population. Excluded are full-time members of the Canadian Forces, people who live on Reserves and residents of some remote communities, collectively about 3% of the population. The 2017 cycle used computer assisted personal and telephone interviews to collect data from a total of 65,000 respondents with an overall response rate of 87.6%, and thus data were available for a total of 56,950 participants. Further details on CCHS design, methodology and interviewing process are provided by Statistics Canada (2017)

The current analysis aims to a) assess CRC screening participation rates at the national and provincial level, b) evaluate the racial and sociodemographic disparities in CRC screening participation rates at the national level and c). identify associated factors and barriers to CRC screening in the country. As such, the analysis was limited to individuals who fall within the CRC screening guidelines, that is, aged 50-74 years and with valid responses to the CRC screening module of the CCHS and other variables of interest, especially immigration status, race, educational attainment, sex, and household income. Of the 56,950 respondents to the 2017 CCHS, 41.7% (n= 23727) were aged between 50-74 years. Of these respondents, 74.3% (n= 19,889) were non-
immigrants, 3.0% (n= 261) were recent immigrants (in Canada for 0-9 years) and 22.7% (n= 3,123) were old immigrants (in Canada for 10+ years).

4.4.2. Study variables.

The primary and secondary outcome variables in this study were history of CRC screening participation, coded as 'Ever-Screen', and screening participation within guideline requirements, coded as 'up-to-date Screen'. In the 2017 CCHS, the CRC module first asked respondents if they 'ever had a fecal,

sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy test – lifetime' (Yes/No), then ask about the 'last time respondents had the test.' The former was coded as 'ever screen' to capture any history of CRC screening participation. This is because history of any exposure to CRC screening test has been argued to provide insight into the general level of knowledge and awareness about CRC screening within the population (Issaka et al., 2019). Further, respondents who reported fecal CRC screening test within the previous 2 years or an endoscopy test in the 10 years before the survey were coded as 'up-to-date Screen' (Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care, 2016).

The primary independent variables in the current study were racial group and immigration status. Racial groups (eight categories) aggregated the CCHS categories, due to small numbers, into Arab/West Asian, Black, White, East Asian,

Latin American, South-East Asian, South Asian and others/multi-racial, to capture the different racial groups collected in the CCHS. The second independent variable, immigration status (three categories) was categorised into 'recent immigrants', for people who arrived in Canada zero to nine years before the survey year, 'old immigrants' for participants who arrived in Canada ten or more years before the survey year, and 'Canada-born' to describe people who are nonimmigrants. Other independent variables included in the analysis included age (5year age categories), sex, marital status (married/common law,

widowed/divorced/separated, and single/never married), educational attainment (less than secondary school education, secondary school education, and postsecondary education), and total household income (Less than \$40K, \$40k-\$60K, \$60k - \$80K, \$80k-\$100k and over \$100k). Other health behaviour and lifestyle factors included in the analyses include weight (using BMI data [International standards] and categorised as normal, overweight, and Obese), self-reported health status (Great, Good and Poor), physical activity level (Very active, Moderately active, and Inactive -based on WHO guidelines on weekly activity levels), current smoking status (Daily smoker, Occasional smoker and Nonsmoker) access to a regular health care provider (Yes/No), and up to date participation in (women only) Breast (mammography) and Cervical (Pap smear) cancer screening. These are covariates that have been identified as potential predictors of CRC screening behaviour and uptake in previous studies (Darvishian

et al., 2023; Farr et al., 2022; Honein-AbouHaidar et al., 2013; Singh et al., 2015), were also selected due to data availability in the 2017 CCHS. Most of the CCHS questions have 'Don't know', 'Refusal' and 'Not stated' options to allow for non-response. These were all aggregated as missing data. The proportion of missing data were considerably low, less than 5% on average. Consequently, missing was excluded from all analyses.

4.4.3. Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using SAS Statistical Software version 9.4. The survey procedures in SAS were used and analyses were weighted using sampling weights provided by Statistics Canada to account for the uneven probabilities of selection due to the complex, multi-stage sampling process of CCHS. Analyses were bootstrapped using 500 replicate bootstrap sampling weights provided with the master files by Statistics Canada to ensure more accurate estimates of variance. Only weighted proportions are reported in line with Statistics Canada's confidentiality and data protection requirements (Statistics Canada, 2017).

Descriptive statistics were calculated for the analytic sample to describe the distribution of the various sociodemographic and health behaviour characteristics, and to estimate the proportions of respondents who have a CRC screening history and those who are up-to-date with CRC screening across the ten

provinces. Due to small sample size, immigration status and racial categories could not be analysed at the provincial level. Bivariate analysis was performed to compare the prevalence of CRC screening across the various immigrant and racial groups, at a national level, using chi square tests. Multivariable logistic regression was used to test the association between the potential predictor variables in the study with being up-to-date with CRC screening, adjusting for the two major cofounders, age, and sex a priori. Subsequently, a full multivariable logistic regression model with all the variables from the age and sex adjusted models, except educational attainment, was constructed to test the various predictors of CRC screening, and to investigate the relationship between CRC screening and racial and immigrant status while accounting for potential predictors such as province of residence, age, household income and selfperceived health status. Multicollinearity between independent variables, particularly age and income, was tested using an inflation factor of 5 as the cutoff. Educational attainment was not included in the regression analyses due to correlation with household income. Lastly, the multivariable logistic regression was stratified by sex to evaluate whether predictors of CRC screening uptake varied by sex. Weighted proportions (%) and odds ratio (crude and adjusted) with their associated 95% confidence intervals (CI) are reported.

4.4.4. Ethics Statement

Accessing CCHS data at the secured Research Data Centre (RDC) requires extensive checks, review and vetting by Statistics Canada, as a result, this study did not require approval from the Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) of NL. Memorial University.

4.5. Results

4.5.1. Demographic distribution

Table 4.1 provides details regarding the demographic characteristics of peopled aged 50-74 years across the ten Canadian provinces. In the total sample (n= 23,727; weighted n= 1,111,7302) there were slightly more women on average (50.7%). Also, there were slightly more people in their fifties (44.6%) than sixties (41.4%), more people had post secondary education (56.7%), with highest levels in Alberta (63%) and lowest in New Brunswick (50%). There were also more people with household income of \$100, 000 and over (36%) and less than \$40,000 (21%) than other categories. The highest proportion of high-income earners was in Alberta and highest proportion of low-income earners in Newfoundland & Labrador. Over 70% of the participants were overweight or obese, with the highest proportion of obese respondents in New Brunswick. More than half of the respondents self-reported 'great' health status (52.8%), while

about 90% reported having a regular healthcare provider. With regards to smoking status and physical activity levels, an average of 82% of the respondents nationwide are reportedly non-smokers, and 72% engage are 'moderately' or 'very' active. With regard to racial and immigrant status, the population of peopled aged 50-74 years old was predominantly White (79.6%), with smaller proportions of East Asian (3.8%), South Asian (2.9%), and Black (1.8%) individuals. Most of the population was also non-immigrant (72.9%), with a smaller proportion of old immigrants (21.5%) and new immigrants (2.4%).

Table 4.1: Demographic Characteristics of Canadians Aged 50-74 from the Canadian Community Health Survey, 2017

	PROVINCES; % of Population										
Characteristics	Canada	AB	BC	MB	NB	NL	NS	ON	PEI	QC	SK
	(weighted n= 1,111,7302)										
Sex											
Female	50.7	49.2	51.6	50.3	51.2	50.3	52.1	51.9	50.2	50.3	49.6
Male	49.3	50.8	48.4	49.7	48.8	49.7	47.9	48.1	49.8	49.7	50.4
Age											
50-54	21.5	21.5	23.6	23.2	17.5	21	18.4	24.6	21.1	21.7	22.1
55-59	23.1	28.2	22.1	24.0	23.1	19.6	23.0	22.3	21.6	22.0	25.5
60-64	23.1	22.8	21.8	22.4	26.6	23.7	24.0	21.4	22.0	22.1	23.7
65-69	18.4	15.0	19.0	16.7	18.2	23.0	18.5	18.2	18.8	18.8	17.5
70-74	14.0	12.5	13.4	13.7	14.5	12.8	16.2	13.4	16.5	15.4	11.2
Education											
Missing data	2.2	1.9	2.2	2.5	1.7	0.9	3.2	2.8	2.2	2.4	1.9
Post Sec. Sch	56.7	63.2	60.8	52.9	50.5	53	59.0	61.5	54.7	57.9	53.0
Sec. Sch	24.7	25.1	26.8	28.7	28.7	21.6	22.0	24.4	19.5	21.8	28.8
Less Sec. Sch	16.5	9.9	10.2	15.9	19	24.5	15.8	11.3	23.7	17.9	16.4
Household income, \$											
\$100k and over	36.3	51.1	40.2	34.3	29.7	30.8	33.7	43.7	28.1	32.6	38.8
\$80,000 - \$99,999	11.0	11.0	11.0	11.3	12.8	7.6	11.6	11.9	11.4	11.6	9.9
\$60,000 - \$79,999	14.6	10.6	14.0	18.7	13.9	14.4	14.6	12.2	15.0	15.0	17.5
\$40,000 - \$59,999	17.0	13.4	16.0	21.5	17.2	18.5	16.6	14.3	20.2	16.7	15.3

LESS \$39,999	21.1	13.8	18.7	14.1	26.4	28.6	23.5	17.9	25.3	24.2	18.5
Marital Status											
Missing data	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.4	0	0.1	0	0.2	0.1	0	0
Married, Common- Law	73.2	75.6	73.2	73.4	74.2	73.7	73.5	73.1	74.9	67.8	72.2
Widow, Separated, Divorced	17.3	16.6	18.1	15.4	18.1	19	17.1	17.1	15.8	19.1	16.4
Single, Never Married	9.4	7.5	8.5	10.8	7.6	7.2	9.4	9.6	9.2	13.1	11.3
Weight* (BMI)											
Missing data	5.3	6.5	5.0	4.9	4.2	5.9	4.7	7.6	5.4	3.1	6.1
Obese	33.4	31.1	26.0	30.3	41.9	39.4	36.6	28.1	32.4	30.5	37.6
Overweight	36.7	36.8	35.4	38.4	31.8	38.6	36.5	36.8	36.5	38.4	37.6
Normal	24.6	25.6	33.6	26.4	22.1	16.1	22.2	27.4	25.7	28	18.7
Self-reported Health Status											
Missing data	0.1	0	0.2	0	0.2	0	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Great	52.8	56.1	51.6	53.7	47.1	55.9	51.9	51.6	56.7	55.4	48
Good	42.1	39.2	43.4	42.1	47.8	39.6	41.9	42.3	37.3	41.6	45.6
Poor	5.0	4.7	4.7	4.2	4.8	4.5	5.7	6.0	5.9	2.9	6.4
Regular Healthcare Provider											
Yes	90.8	91.1	90.1	92.9	96.2	90.5	91.5	93.1	87.1	86.6	88.8
Smoking Status											
Daily Smoker	14.6	13.7	10.2	11.9	9.7	21.1	15.4	14.5	16.9	14.7	17.6
Occasional smoker	3.2	2.8	4.1	2.0	2.7	2.9	3.6	2.5	3.2	3.6	4.2
Non-smoker	82.3	83.5	85.7	86.1	87.6	76	80.9	82.9	79.9	81.7	78.2

Physical activity level											
Missing data	3.5	2.4	3.7	2.3	5.3	4.1	3.8	3.3	3.6	2.3	4.1
Very active	36.2	39.4	46.2	35.8	32.9	36.4	33.7	36	32.9	34.9	34.2
Moderately active	35.9	37.4	33.5	36.2	31.9	32.5	36.4	35.7	37	38.5	40.2
Inactive	24.4	20.8	16.6	25.8	30.0	27.0	26.1	25.0	26.5	24.4	21.4

*Weight categories based on BMI international standards; Sec. Sch: Secondary School Abbreviations: AB, Alberta; BC, British Columbia; MB, Manitoba; NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; ON, Ontario; PEI, Prince Edward Island; QC, Quebec; SK, Saskatchewan

4.5.2. CRC Screening Participation

'Ever-Screen', that is, the proportion of the population who have ever had a CRC screening test was 72% on average, and this ranged from 77% in Alberta and Manitoba to 62.8% in Newfoundland & Labrador. However, the proportion for people up-to-date with CRC screen was 59.8% overall, just shy of the 60% national target for CRC screening. Similarly, this ranged from over 60% in Alberta (65.7%) and Manitoba (66.5%) to just under 49% in Newfoundland & Labrador. For endoscopy test, the rate was 19.8% on average, and for fecal test, it was 39.9%. The highest participation rate for endoscopy test was in New Brunswick (28.3%) and Newfoundland and Labrador (25.8%) and the highest participation rate for fecal test was in Alberta (50.0%) and Manitoba (49.6%). Overall, the rates of up-to-date Screen and uptake of the fecal test seem to be higher in Provinces with the longer running CRC screening programs, such as Manitoba and Alberta (both programs established in 2007). Table 4.2 also shows that there was comparatively lower screening participation and more inter-provincial variation in screening rates within the Atlantic region than other regions of Canada. Similarly, there was generally higher uptake of Pap test and Mammogram compared to CRC screening (Table 4.2).

		PROVINCES; % of Population									
Outcome	Canada (weighted n= 1,111,7302)	AB	BC	MB	NB	NL	NS	ON	PEI	QC	SK
Ever-Screen											
Yes	72.2	77.7	74.3	77.3	70.3	62.8	69.7	75.6	66.6	70.8	77.3
Fecal test < 2 yr.											
Yes	39.9	50.0	45.4	49.6	28.6	23.0	44.3	34.3	33.7	36.3	54.2
Endoscopy test											
< 10 yr.											
Yes	19.8	15.7	14.7	16.9	28.3	25.8	15.3	30.7	18.8	22.2	9.7
Up-to-date Screen											
Yes	59.8	65.7	60.1	66.5	56.9	48.8	59.6	65.0	52.5	58.6	63.8
Mammogram											
< 3 yr											
Yes	80.4	84.8	77.0	79.4	85.8	78.8	78.5	80.2	73.6	85.0	81.0
Pap smear test											
< 3yr											
Yes	59.4	63.8	56.3	70.6	61.4	64.6	56.7	58.6	52.7	49.5	59.9

Table 4.2: Cancer Screening Participation Rates by Province, CCHS 2017

Abbreviations: AB, Alberta; BC, British Columbia; MB, Manitoba; NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; ON, Ontario; PEI, Prince Edward Island; QC, Quebec; SK, Saskatchewan

Ever-screen: any history of CRC screening; Up-to-date screen: CRC fecal test <2yr or CRC endoscopy test <10yr

The demographic and racial distribution of CRC screening participation in Table 4.3 shows significant variation in CRC screening participation among the different population groups in the country. Generally, the proportion of the population up to date with CRC screening increased with age, suggesting that older individuals were more likely to have recent CRC screening. Similarly, CRC screening participation was higher among females (53%) those with post-secondary education (61.9%), and those with a household income of \$100k and over (42.1%). CRC screening was highest among the White population (81.8%) compared to all the other racial groups, and higher among Canadian born population (74.8%) compared to recent or old immigrant groups.

4.5.3. Barriers and Predictors to Screening

Table 4.4 provides self-reported barriers to CRC screening among the population with no CRC screening history. Significantly, the most commonly reported barriers to participating in the CRC fecal or endoscopy screening tests were the beliefs that their healthcare provider 'deems' the CRC screening test 'unnecessary' (39.9% and 52.1% respectively). This was followed by report that the respondents themselves think the screening tests to be unnecessary (29.1% and 33.9% respectively).

Table 4.3: Racial and Socio-demographic Distribution of Population Upto Date with CRC Screening, CCHS 2017

Variable		% of Overall	% of up-to-
		Population aged	date Screen
		50-74 yrs. old	population
Age			
50-5	54	22.9	17.9
55-5	59	22.9	23.1
60-6	54	22.1	23.7
65-6	59	18.2	19.9
70-7	74	13.9	15.3
Sex			
Fem	ale	51.1	53.0
Male	9	48.9	47.0
Education			
Post	Sec. Sch	59.7	61.9
Sec.	Sch	24.4	24.0
less	Sec. Sch	13.5	12.1
Income			
\$10	0K and over	39.9	42.1
\$80	,000 - \$99,999	11.5	11.9
\$60	,000 - \$79,999	13.5	14.2
\$40	,000 - \$59,999	15.5	14.7
LES	S \$39,999	19.6	17.1
Race			
Arat	o/West Asian	0.8	0.6
Blac	k	1.8	1.8
East	: Asian	3.8	3.4
Latiı	n American	0.9	0.7
S/Ea	ast Asian	3.0	2.3
Sout	th Asian	2.9	2.6
Whi	te	79.6	81.8
Othe	ers/Multi-racial	2.4	2.6
Immigrati	on Status		
Can	ada Born	72.9	74.8
Old	Immigrant	21.5	20.7
New	/ Immigrant	2.4	2.1

Sec. Sch: Secondary School; New immigrant: in Canada for 0-9yrs; Old Immigrant: in Canada for

10+years

	% of Population with no C	RC Screening History
Reported Barrier	Fecal test	Endoscopy tests*
Did not know about CRC test	1.7	1.1
Doctor thinks test is unnecessary	39.9	52.1
Fear and/or Discomfort	1.4	2.1
Had a different CRC test	13.4	2.5
Lack of time	4.5	1.8
No access to test	0.6	0.5
No doctor	2.0	2.2
Respondent thinks test is	29.1	33.9
unnecessary		
Other	7.5	3.9

Table 4.4: Self-reported barriers to CRC Screening, CCHS 2017

*Endoscopy test: flexible sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy tests

In the multivariable analyses of the various factors associated with 'up-to-date Screen' (henceforth referred to as 'screening participation) among Canadians aged 50-74 years old, after adjusting for age and sex, several factors emerged as predictors of CRC screening participation. Factors positively associated with screening participation included having multiple chronic conditions [AOR 1.52, 95% CI -1.23 - 1.90], belonging to the highest income bracket [AOR 1.99, 95% CI 1.77 - 2.24], being 'very physically active' [AOR 1.33, 95% CI-1.18 - 1.50], and self-reporting 'great' health [AOR 1.51, 95% CI 1.20 - 1.89]. Factors negatively associated with screening participation included being single/never married, lack of a regular healthcare provider, being a current daily smoker, and

belonging to an immigrant [OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.46 - 0.99] or minority ethnic group, especially, East-Asian [OR 0.74, 95% CI 0.56 - 0.96] and South-East Asian [OR 0.54, 95% CI 0.35 - 0.83].

In the full model, after adjusting for all covariates, age emerged as a significant factor, with older individuals, especially aged 70-74, more likely participate in CRC screening [AOR 2.50, 95% CI 2.11 - 2.96]. Other factors positively associated with screening participation included higher household income [AOR 1.40, 95% CI 1.21 - 1.62], being female, having a regular healthcare provider [AOR 4.16, 95% CI 3.57 - 4.84], 'very active' lifestyle [AOR 1.33, 95% CI 1.17 -1.51], and being a non-smoker [AOR 1.76, 95% CI 1.55 - 2.0]. Geographically, residents of Alberta and Manitoba were more likely to participate in CRC screening, while those in Atlantic Canada, especially Newfoundland & Labrador, were less likely to be screened. Among racial groups, South-East Asians [AOR 0.48, 95% CI-0.29 - 0.78] and South Asians [AOR 0.48, 95% CI 0.29 - 0.78] were less likely to participate in CRC screening compared to people who identify as White. When stratified by sex, similar factors emerged, but they were more pronounced for males than females. For example, age, access to regular healthcare provider, household income (of \$100k+), being married, having multiple chronic health conditions (3-5, 6+) and being over-weight showed stronger association for males, but self-reported 'great health' and smoking status showed stronger association with CRC screening participation for females.

Additionally, females who were not up-to-date with Pap tests [AOR 0.41, 95% CI $\,$

0.35 - 0.47] and mammogram [AOR 0.17, 95% CI 0.14 - 0.20] were less likely to

participate in CRC screening.

Table 4.5: Factors associated with CRC Screening Overall and Stratified by Sex, CCHS 2017

	Ove	erall	Stratified			
	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR	Male	Female		
Variable	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	Adjusted OR	Adjusted OR		
			(95% CI)	(95% CI)		
Age						
50-54	1.0 (ref)					
55-59	1.74 (1.51 - 2.01)	1.83 (1.58 - 2.13)	1.99 (1.64 - 2.42)	1.69 (1.37 - 2.10)		
60-64	2.03 (1.78 - 2.32)	2.30 (2.00 - 2.65)	2.74 (2.22 - 3.38)	1.95 (1.60 - 2.38)		
65-69	2.12 (1.84 - 2.44)	2.41 (2.06 - 2.83)	2.51 (2.03 - 3.10)	2.29 (1.84 - 2.85)		
70-74	2.16 (1.87 - 2.50)	2.50 (2.11 - 2.96)	2.66 (2.09 - 3.39)	2.38 (1.89 - 2.99)		
Sex						
Female	1.0 (ref)					
Male	0.83 (0.76 - 0.91)	0.80 (0.72 - 0.88)				
Comorbidity						
0	1.0 (ref)					
1-2	1.33 (1.17 - 1.51)	1.28 (1.11 - 1.46)	1.29 (1.06 - 1.57)	1.29 (1.08 - 1.54)		
3-5	1.49 (1.30 - 1.70)	1.54 (1.32 - 1.80)	1.71 (1.36 - 2.15)	1.47 (1.20 - 1.79)		
6+	1.52 (1.23 - 1.90)	1.86 (1.43 - 2.41)	2.23 (1.44 - 3.47)	1.66 (1.21 - 2.28)		
Province						
NL	1.0 (ref)					
AB	2.11 (1.66 - 2.67)	2.29 (1.79 - 2.94)	3.16 (2.21 - 4.52)	1.66 (1.17 - 2.34)		
BC	1.65 (1.32 - 2.05)	1.82 (1.43 - 2.31)	2.08 (1.46 - 2.95)	1.61 (1.15 - 2.26)		
MA	2.19 (1.65 - 2.90)	2.36 (1.77 - 3.16)	2.74 (1.80 - 4.16)	2.10 (1.38 - 3.20)		

NB	1.37 (1.05 - 1.79)	1.28 (0.96 - 1.71)	1.55 (1.05 - 2.30)	1.05 (0.70 - 1.57)
NS	1.54 (1.21 - 1.95)	1.54 (1.20 - 1.98)	1.61 (1.11 - 2.34)	1.44 (1.01 - 2.04)
ON	2.05 (1.67 - 2.53)	2.36 (1.90 - 2.93)	2.83 (2.07 - 3.86)	2.02 (1.47 - 2.77)
PEI	1.17 (0.87 - 1.57)	1.26 (0.92 - 1.73)	2.08 (1.28 - 3.38)	0.79 (0.51 - 1.24)
QC	1.52 (1.23 - 1.87)	1.64 (1.32 - 2.03)	2.12 (1.54 - 2.91)	1.30 (0.96 - 1.77)
SK	1.94 (1.46 - 2.57)	2.10 (1.57 - 2.80)	2.24 (1.47 - 3.42)	1.94 (1.30 - 2.89)
Marital Status				
Single, Never Married	1.0 (ref)			
Widow, Separated,	1.26 (1.07 - 1.49)	1.14 (0.96 - 1.36)	1.12 (0.88 - 1.44)	1.16 (0.92 - 1.45)
Divorced				
Married, Common	1.67 (1.44 - 1.92)	1.31 (1.11 - 1.54)	1.35 (1.07 - 1.72)	1.31 (1.04 - 1.64)
Law				
Household Income				
LESS \$39,999	1.0 (ref)			
\$40,000 - \$59,999	1.25 (1.10 - 1.43)	1.10 (0.96 - 1.27)	1.07 (0.87 - 1.31)	1.16 (0.95 - 1.42)
\$60,000 - \$79,999	1.68 (1.45 - 1.94)	1.39 (1.17 - 1.64)	1.45 (1.16 - 1.82)	1.36 (1.07 - 1.73)
\$80,000 - \$99,999	1.76 (1.50 - 2.08)	1.32 (1.10 - 1.58)	1.33 (1.02 - 1.74)	1.34 (1.04 - 1.73)
\$100K and over	1.99 (1.77 - 2.24)	1.40 (1.21 - 1.62)	1.49 (1.21 - 1.83)	1.32 (1.07 - 1.61)
Perceived Health				
Status				
Poor	1.0 (ref)			
Good	1.29 (1.02 - 1.64)	1.17 (0.92 - 1.49)	1.09 (0.75 - 1.57)	1.21 (0.87 - 1.69)
Great	1.51 (1.20 - 1.89)	1.06 (0.84 - 1.35)	0.93 (0.67 - 1.30)	1.15 (0.82 - 1.62)
Weight				
Normal	1.0 (ref)			
Overweight	1.28 (1.14 - 1.44)	1.15 (1.02 - 1.30)	1.15 (0.97 - 1.37)	1.12 (0.95 - 1.33)
Obese	1.30 (1.15 - 1.46)	1.11 (0.97 - 1.28)	1.10 (0.90 - 1.33)	1.11 (0.94 - 1.32)
Regular				
Healthcare				
Provider				
No	1.0 (ref)			
Yes	4.16 (3.57 - 4.84)	3.62 (3.08 - 4.26)	3.70 (2.93 - 4.66)	3.50 (2.75 - 4.46)

Physical Activity				
Level				
Inactive	1.0 (ref)			
Moderately Active	1.33 (1.18 - 1.50)	1.18 (1.04 - 1.34)	1.18 (0.97 - 1.43)	1.17 (1.00 - 1.37)
Very Active	1.53 (1.36 - 1.72)	1.33 (1.17 - 1.51)	1.34 (1.11 - 1.63)	1.30 (1.09 - 1.56)
Smoking				
Daily smoker	1.0 (ref)			
Occasional smoker	1.33 (1.01 - 1.75)	1.28 (0.95 - 1.72	1.11 (0.74 - 1.67)	1.54 (1.03 - 2.32)
Non-smoker	1.76 (1.55 - 2.00)	1.53 (1.32 - 1.77)	1.41 (1.14 - 1.73)	1.65 (1.35 - 2.01)
Race				
White	1.0 (ref)			
Arab/West Asian	0.55 (0.31 - 0.96)	0.76 (0.41 - 1.41)	0.69 (0.29 - 1.59)	0.83 (0.32 - 2.14)
Black	1.07 (0.69 - 1.65)	1.10 (0.68 - 1.80)	0.92 (0.40 - 2.08)	1.20 (0.68 - 2.15)
East Asian	0.74 (0.56 - 0.96)	0.81 (0.61 - 1.09)	0.82 (0.51 - 1.32)	0.79 (0.53 - 1.17)
Latin American	0.67 (0.36 - 1.24)	0.82 (0.44 - 1.53)	0.55 (0.18 - 1.67)	1.26 (0.54 - 2.96)
South-East Asian	0.54 (0.35 - 0.83)	0.48 (0.29 - 0.78)	0.46 (0.23 - 0.93)	0.49 (0.25 - 0.97)
South Asian	0.72 (0.50 - 1.05)	0.65 (0.44 - 0.95)	0.44 (0.24 - 0.81)	0.89 (0.53 - 1.49)
Others/Multi-racial	1.24 (0.85 - 1.79)	1.33 (0.86 - 2.06)	1.27 (0.71 - 2.25)	1.31 (0.66 - 2.58)
Immigration				
Status				
Canada Born	1.0 (ref)			
New Immigrant	0.67 (0.46 - 0.99)	0.91 (0.61 - 1.37)	0.92 (0.49 - 1.72)	0.84 (0.47 - 1.48)
Old Immigrants	0.84 (0.74 - 0.95)	0.90 (0.77 - 1.06)	0.88 (0.70 - 1.12)	0.94 (0.75 - 1.17)
Pap Smear test				
Yes				1.0 (ref)
No				0.41 (0.35 - 0.47)
Mammogram				
Yes				1.0 (ref)
No				0.17 (0.14 - 0.20)

Abbreviations: AB, Alberta; BC, British Columbia; MB, Manitoba; NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; ON, Ontario; PEI, Prince Edward Island; QC, Quebec; SK, Saskatchewan

4.6. Discussion

Our study offers a comprehensive assessment of the racial and sociodemographic distribution of CRC screening participation in Canada. We find that while CRC screening participation rates seem to be on an upward trajectory in Canada (compared to findings from previous studies), as provinces establish and implement CRC screening programs, significant disparities persist across various socioeconomic, geographical, and racial or ethnic groups.

Our findings suggest that CRC screening participation rates have improved for most provinces and socio-demographic groups. For example, compared to CRC screening average participation rate of 16.1% between 2009 and 2011 (across five Provinces) reported by Major et al. (2013) and 55.2% reported by Singh et al. (2015) using data from the 2012 CCHS, our study found a screening rate of 59.8% across Canada in 2017. Similarly, uptake of fecal test, which is the primary test promoted through the CRC screening programs, increased while uptake of endoscopy tests reduced. The overall increase in proportion of the target population (people aged 50-74) who are up to date with CRC screening and the comparatively higher uptake of the fecal tests, point to, at least in part, the positive effect of organised screening programs (Blair et al., 2020).

However, the observed disparities in CRC screening participation align with prior research, particularly the work of Blair et al. (2019), which also detailed incomerelated disparities in CRC screening rates within Canada. This relationship

between socioeconomic status and health behaviour may be partially explained by the concept of health literacy (Kobayashi et al., 2014). Health literacy refers to an individual's capacity to acquire, process, and understand basic health information and services necessary to make informed health decisions. Individuals with higher education and income levels tend to possess better health literacy, facilitating informed health decisions, including participation in preventive measures like CRC screening. Moreover, income level may enable greater access to healthcare resources and services or lower prioritisation of preventive health services that are freely available, such as CRC screening, due to challenges that often characterise low income (Baccolini et al. 2022; Horshauge et al. 2020; Kobayashi et al. 2014). This persistent income-related disparity in screening participation suggests a need for public health interventions designed to address socioeconomic barriers. It underscores the importance of facilitating access to screening services across all income levels by, for example, improving public awareness regarding the availability and importance of CRC screening.

Geographical disparities also emerged, with provinces running longer-duration CRC screening programs, such as Manitoba and Alberta, showing higher screening participation rates. This likely reflects the positive effect of organised screening programs on screening uptake, as argued by Blair et al. (2020). However, disparities persist even within jurisdictions that implemented the

screening programs around the same time period. This suggest that local sociodemographic distribution, administration of the screening program, such as policies around recruitment/invitation and/or navigational support, and resource allocation (to program promotion, for example), might influence CRC screening participation rates (Darvishian et al. 2023; Singh et al. 2015; Tung et al. 2018). Particularly, the lower screening rates in provinces like Newfoundland & Labrador suggest potential systemic barriers, warranting further investigation into specific program or geographical characteristics that might help address these disparities effectively (Darvishian et al. 2023). We expect that such research could also shed light on how provinces could 'learn' and adapt best practices from one another.

Our findings draw particular attention to the lower CRC screening rates among immigrant and minority ethnic groups, particularly among those from South-East Asia and South Asia. There are sparse data for comparison to ascertain how screening rates have changed over the years within these groups. There is evidence, however, that acculturation and cultural perceptions of disease and prevention can greatly influence health behaviours, including participation in preventive measures such as CRC screening (Shen et al. 2018). Language barriers, limited familiarity with the Canadian healthcare system, and difficulties in accessing healthcare services may also contribute to the lower screening rates observed among these immigrant and ethnic groups (Crawford et al. 2016; Shen et al. 2018; Tatari et al. 2020). Our findings corroborate previous studies

(Crawford et al. 2016; Shen et al. 2018) where lower screening uptake among South Asian immigrants in the United Kingdom, United States and Canada, was reported. This overlap in findings suggests there is a critical need for culturally tailored and targeted health promotion initiatives to enhance screening awareness, acceptance and participation within these communities. Such efforts can address cultural barriers and misconceptions, and foster trust in the healthcare system, promoting better engagement with screening programs.

Interestingly, similar to Hategekimana and Karamouzian (2016) our study also found a significant association between self-perceived health status and CRC screening uptake. While they highlighted the role of self-perceived mental health status, our research focused on overall self-perceived health status. This finding emphasises the potential impact of individuals' perception of their health on their likelihood participating in preventive health initiatives like cancer screening. Therefore, health promotion strategies could consider enhancing individuals' health awareness and perceptions, which could subsequently improve engagement in preventive health behaviors.

The role of healthcare providers in influencing CRC screening behaviour also needs careful attention. Healthcare providers are often the primary source of health information for their patients and play a pivotal role in initiating discussions about preventive healthcare (Zhu et al, 2022). In our study, many individuals cited their healthcare provider's perception of the test as unnecessary

as a barrier, indicating a potential disconnect between clinical guidelines and patient-provider communications. This suggests the need for better collaboration between screening program administrators and healthcare providers to ensure consistent messaging regarding the importance of CRC screening (Zhu et al, 2022).

In light of the projected increase in the burden of cancer in Canada (Poirier et al., 2019; Tung et al., 2018), our findings become even more crucial. The projected rise in cancer cases, especially in Atlantic Canada (Poirier et al., 2019), amplifies the urgency to develop and implement efficient, inclusive, and targeted strategies to improve CRC screening participation rates across all demographic groups in Canada. Consequently, efforts should emphasise reducing disparities, enhancing public awareness, facilitating accessibility, and ensuring the cultural appropriateness of CRC screening interventions.

While this research sheds light on several key disparities in CRC screening uptake, it's important to acknowledge that future research is warranted to shed more light on the nuanced contributors to these disparities and to develop interventions tailored to these specific barriers. Longitudinal studies could provide valuable insights into trends and shifts in CRC screening behaviours over time, while qualitative studies could offer a deeper understanding of individual experiences and perceptions underpinning screening behaviours. Such research efforts could further our understanding of CRC screening disparities in Canada,

allowing decision-makers to develop evidenced-informed effective, targeted strategies to enhance screening rates, mitigate the burden of CRC, and ultimately contribute to a healthier, cancer-free Canada.

4.6.1. Implications of findings for Public Health Policy and Practice

This study offers critical insights for policy and practice. The observed socioeconomic disparities in CRC screening participation highlight the need for policies that address socioeconomic barriers to screening and ensure equal access across all income and education levels. Public health interventions should focus on enhancing health literacy, particularly among individuals in lower socioeconomic groups.

Lower screening rates among immigrant and minority ethnic groups point to the need for culturally sensitive and targeted health promotion initiatives. Policymakers and healthcare practitioners must consider language barriers, cultural perceptions, and unfamiliarity with the healthcare system when designing interventions.

Lastly, the apparent disconnect between current evidence on cancer screening, clinical guidelines and the perceptions of patients underscores the need for consistent messaging regarding the importance of CRC screening. Healthcare

providers and CRC screening program managers must work together to ensure the correct and consistent communication of preventive healthcare measures.

4.6.2. Strength and Limitations.

The main strength of this study lies in its analysis of CRC screening participation rates across various sociodemographic, geographical, and ethnic groups in Canada. Our study benefits from the use of the Canadian Community Health Survey, a large national data source, representative of the Canadian population that offers valuable insights into health determinants, health resource utilisation and behaviors across the country.

However, there are limitations inherent to using such large survey data. One notable limitation is recall bias, where respondents may not accurately remember or report their screening behaviors. As such, inaccuracies in participants' recollections or report of their CRC screening history may lead to over- or underestimation of screening participation. Further, small sample sizes for most of the ethnic and immigrant groups meant that, one, analysis could not be disaggregated by province or other factors and, two, the data must be interpreted with caution. Lastly, the 2018 to 2022 CCHS collected CRC screening data from only a few provinces, so the 2017 CCHS provides the most recent screening data from all ten provinces available for analyses.

Despite these limitations, the findings of this study make significant contributions to our understanding of CRC screening disparities in Canada and provides evidenced-based information that can inform effective and targeted strategies to enhance screening rates across all demographic groups in Canada.

4.7. Conclusion.

The current study shows that despite average CRC screening participation rate across Canada almost at the national target, significant disparities remain to be addressed. These disparities manifest across socioeconomic, geographical, and racial or ethnic divide. Addressing these disparities is crucial, especially considering the projected rise in cancer incidences over the next decade. Therefore, future efforts should focus on reducing disparities, enhancing public awareness, facilitating accessibility, and ensuring the cultural appropriateness of CRC screening initiatives. By tackling these issues head-on, we can improve cancer screening uptake, mitigate the burden of CRC, and contribute to a healthier Canada.

Chapter Five

Paper 3: Factors associated with concurrent Participation in Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer among Canadian Women - a cross-sectional study.

Adefemi, K., Knight, J. C., Zhu, Y. and Wang, P. P. Sociodemographic correlates of concurrent participation in breast, cervical and colorectal cancer screening among women in Canada –a cross sectional study.

Copyright ©Adefemi, K et al (2023). A version of this chapter has been submitted to *Journal of Medical Screening* for consideration for publication.

5.1. Abstract

Background

Colorectal cancer (CRC), breast (BC), and cervical (CC) cancers represent a significant disease burden among Canadian women. While organised screening programs aim to reduce this burden, participation rates remain suboptimal among several population groups, particularly for CRC screening.

Aim

This study examined factors associated with CRC screening uptake among women who report participating in BC and CC screening ('screen-aware' women), investigated patterns of concurrent participation across all three programs, and identified associated factors.

Methods

Cross-sectional data from the 2017 Canadian Community Health Survey were analyzed for women aged 50-69 years eligible for BC, CC, and CRC screening (n=10,426). Multivariable logistic regression evaluated factors associated with CRC screening among 'screen-aware' women. Multinomial logistic regression assessed factors related to full (all three), partial (any two), single, or nonparticipation across screening programs, using 'no screening' as the reference.

Results

While 87% participated in at least one cancer screening program, only 27% reported full participation in all three. CRC screening (53.7%) lagged BC and CC (~ 64%) participation. Among 'screen-aware' women, older age (AOR 1.43, 95% CI 1.17 - 1.74), higher income (AOR 1.34, 95% CI 0.97 - 1.84), self-rated health as 'great' (AOR 1.62, 95% CI 1.16 - 2.25), and having regular healthcare provider (AOR 1.87, 95% CI 1.14 - 3.07) were associated with higher CRC participation. Having multiple chronic conditions reduced CRC screening likelihood (AOR 0.76, 95% CI 0.55-0.94). Higher income, self-rated health, regular healthcare provider, and physical activity increased odds of full participation, while smoking and Asian identity reduced the odds of full concurrent screening participation.

Conclusions

CRC screening uptake remains low among Canadian women, even those participating in other cancer screening programs. Socioeconomic, health-related, and systemic factors influence concurrent screening participation. Tailored interventions addressing health literacy and promoting equitable access to screening for disadvantaged populations are crucial for improving cancer prevention efforts.

5.2. Co-authorship Statement

Kazeem Adefemi drafted this chapter and substantively revised it, made substantial contributions towards the study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the study results. Dr. Peter Wang substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions towards study design, data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation. Dr. John C. Knight substantively revised the work, and made substantial contributions to the study design, data acquisition and interpretation. Dr. Yun Zhu revised the work and made substantial contributions towards study design and analysis.

All authors read and approved the submitted version of this chapter.

5.3. Introduction

Colorectal (CRC), breast (BC), and cervical (CC) cancers represent a major disease burden in Canada, accounting for a significant proportion of cancer incidence and mortality (Brenner et al., 2022). In 2023 alone, these three cancers account for 36% of all new cancer incidence and 25% of cancer-related deaths among women in Canada (Canadian Cancer Statistics, 2023). To address this burden, organised screening programs have been established nationwide, guided by recommendations from the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPHC) (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2019). The CTFPHC recommends:

- BC screening with mammography every 2–3 years for women aged 50–74 years.
- CC screening with a Pap test every 3 years for asymptomatic women aged 25–69 years.
- CRC screening with fecal tests every 2 years or either flexible sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy (endoscopy tests) every 10 years for people aged 50-74 years at average risk of CRC (Chaput et al., 2021).

While screening has been recognised as an essential public health measure to reduce cancer incidence and mortality (Chaput et al., 2021; Major et al., 2015), participation rates remain well below national targets in many population groups (Alam et al., 2022; Blair et al., 2019; Sabatino et al., 2015; Schoenborn et al., 2019). This suboptimal uptake has public health consequences, as evidenced by

the proportion of cancers diagnosed at later stages, when treatment is more challenging and survival outcomes are poorer. This disparity is particularly striking for CRC, where 49% of new cases are diagnosed at stage III or IV, compared to 17.3% of breast cancers and 28.3% of cervical cancers (Canadian Cancer Statistics, 2018).

The lower uptake of CRC screening compared to BC and CC screening is a persistent issue, even when controlling for well-known sociodemographic (education, income, race) and health service (health insurance, lack of a regular health care provider, provider recommendations etc.) factors shown to be associated with non-participation across all screening programs (Farr et al., 2022; Lo et al., 2013; Sabatino et al., 2015). The recency and multifaceted nature of CRC screening, with its variety of approved testing modalities, along with the potential influence of health beliefs and risk perception, have been suggested as likely factors contributing to the lower participation in CRC screening (Farr et al., 2022; Rebolj et al., 2020).

Additionally, there is growing interest in investigating factors associated with concurrent participation in multiple cancer screening programs among women who are eligible for all three programs (Bonafede et al., 2019; Dawidowicz et al., 2019; Larsen et al., 2018). International studies indicate that a surprisingly low proportion of women participate in all three or any combination of screening, and that CRC screening alone or in combination with any other screening, is generally

lower compared to BC and CC screening rates (Bonafede et al., 2019;

Dawidowicz et al., 2019; Larsen et al., 2018). Such findings highlight the need to investigate patterns of screening participation and the sociodemographic factors associated with participation in all three programs versus partial (any two combinations), single or non-screening (Ishii et al., 2021; Kregting et al., 2022; Njor et al., 2023) within the Canadian context. Understanding the factors associated with lower CRC participation is similarly crucial for designing strategies to promote greater cancer screening rates.

To guide our analysis and interpretation of the findings, we utilise Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use (Andersen, 1995). This model posits that an individual's decision to utilise healthcare services, such as preventive screenings, is influenced by predisposing factors (e.g., sociodemographic characteristics, health beliefs), enabling factors (e.g., access to resources, healthcare provider recommendation), and need factors (e.g., perceived and actual health status) (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Jin et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020). By examining screening participation through the lens of this framework, we can better understand the interplay of individual, social, and systemic factors that influence cancer screening behaviors.

This study offers a unique contribution by being the first in Canada to examine the factors influencing participation in any one, two, or all three cancer screening

programs among women, utilising nationally representative data from the 2017 Canadian Community Health Survey. The study aims to:

- Examine factors associated with CRC screening among women who participate in other screening programs ('screen-aware' individuals).
- Investigate patterns of combined/concurrent participation in any one, two, all three, or none of the three cancer screening programs.
- Identify factors associated with concurrent participation in one, any two, all three, or none of the cancer screening programs.

Insights from this study have the potential to inform tailored interventions that effectively address barriers and improve overall screening participation. A better understanding of the factors associated with participation in all, some, or none of the cancer screening programs could support the design of effective strategies within screening programs, such as the invitation, appointment, recall, or followup systems (Ishii et al., 2021; Wirth et al., 2014). This knowledge may ultimately contribute to reducing the burden of cancer in Canada.

5.4. Methods

5.4.1. Design and Population

This cross-sectional study included all women from the ten Canadian provinces aged between 50 and 69 years of age who participated in the 2017 CCHS. The 2017 CCHS was selected for this study as it is the most recent iteration that includes CRC screening participation data for all Canadian provinces. Details about the CCHS has been provided previously (Statistics Canada, 2017). But briefly, the CCHS is national survey that collects a wide array of sociodemographic, health status, health service utilisation, and determinants of health from a representative sample of Canadians aged 12 years and over (Statistics Canada, 2017). The CCHS employs a complex, multi-stage sampling process to efficiently capture a representative sample from diverse geographic and demographic groups across the country. The sample excludes full-time members of the armed forces and residents of some remote communities and government reserves, collectively constituting about 3% of the Canadian population. The 2017 CCHS provides data for almost 57,000 respondents, with a response rate of 87% (Statistics Canada, 2017).

In this study, the term 'concurrent participation' refers to participation in multiple cancer screening programs. Further, the 50-69 age bracket was specifically selected to include only women who are eligible for all three screening programs in line with current guidelines.

5.4.2. Variables

The main outcome variables were participation in BC and CC within 3 years, and participation in either CRC fecal test within 2 years or CRC endoscopy tests within 10 years. Respondents in the CCHS are asked whether they have ever participated in these cancer screening tests (Yes/No) and the last time they completed the tests. Participation in the screening was determined based on a 'yes' response and within the recommended guideline (fecal tests \leq 2years, endoscopy test \leq 10years for CRC, mammography \leq 3years for BC and Pap test \leq 3years for CC). Additionally, eight (8) concurrent screening patterns were created to capture participation in all three, any two, one or none of the screening programs. Women outside of the 50-69 age bracket, women who reported a history of mastectomy or hysterectomy or who completed mammography as follow-up to BC treatment or due to breast problems were excluded from the analysis. The final analytic sample for this study (n) was *10,426.*

In line with previous studies (Dawidowicz et al., 2019; Ishii et al., 2021; Larsen et al., 2018; Njor et al., 2023; Wirth et al., 2014) and data availability within the CCHS, the following categorical variables were primary independent variables in the analysis: age categories (50-59 and 60-69), household income ((aggregated into - less than \$40k, \$40-\$80k, and above \$80k), marital status (single, married/common law relationship, or widowed/divorced/separated) and the
number of chronic health conditions reported (0, 1-3, 4+). Respondents were asked "Do you have Asthma/high blood pressure/diabetes/Alzheimer's Disease etc. (Yes/No/Don't know), the 'yes' responses were aggregated as number of chronic health conditions reported. Age, racial and immigrant status were aggregated into larger categories as Statistics Canada limits the release of small cell counts in any level or (sub) categories of analysis outputs to minimise the risk of identification. Additional covariates used in the analysis included current smoking status (daily, occasional or non-smoker), self-reported health (five categories in the CCHS aggregated into Poor, Good and Great), physical activity levels – based on World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines (Very active, moderately active, inactive) and having a regular healthcare provider (Yes/No). Due to sample size limitations, racial categories in the CCHS were aggregated into five broad categories, White, Hispanic (Latin American), Black, Asian (South Asian, Chinese, Filipino, Arab, Southeast Asian, West Asian, Korean and Japanese) and Other/multi-racial (Other racial or cultural origin, and multiple racial or cultural origins). Immigration status was categorised as Canada-born (non-immigrant) and immigrant (landed immigrant and non-permanent resident) - see Appendix C for relevant sections of the CCHS questionnaire.

'Don't know', 'Refusal' and 'Not stated' responses were aggregated as missing data. Also, as the proportion of missing was relatively small (less than 5% on

average), we choose to use a complete case analysis and exclude missing data from the analysis.

5.4.3. Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was conducted with SAS 9.4, using its specialised survey procedures. Survey weights provided by Statistics Canada were applied to account for the complex, multi-stage sampling technique of the CCHS. To ensure accurate variance estimates, bootstrapped analyses were performed using 500 replicate bootstrap sampling weights. Descriptive statistics were calculated to present the distribution of various sociodemographic characteristics in the analytic sample. The combinations of screening participation in the three cancers were categorised into eight patterns 1 (BC+CC+CRC - full participation), 2 (BC+CRC), 3 (CC+CRC), 4 (BC+CC), 5 (CRC only), 6 (BC only), 7 (CC only) and 8 (non-participation). The distribution of these screening patterns across women's sociodemographic characteristics was presented using descriptive statistics. We conducted multivariable logistic regression analysis to examine factors associated with CRC screening participation among women who reported participation in BC and CC screening (i.e. 'screen-aware'). Multivariable multinomial logistic regression analysis was conducted to examine factors associated with full, partial or no-screening participation, using 'no screening' as the reference category and adjusting for age, marital status, household income, self-rated health, physical

activity levels, smoking status, racial and immigrant status and number of reported chronic health conditions. This approach allowed us to directly compare factors associated with full participation versus partial, single, or non-participation patterns. Multicollinearity between independent variables, particularly age and income, was tested using an inflation factor of 5 as the cutoff. Educational attainment was not included in the regression analyses due to correlation with household income. Results are reported as weighted proportions and adjusted odds ratios (AOR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), in compliance with Statistics Canada's confidentiality and data protection requirements. The threshold for significance was p < 0.05.

5.5. Results

The final analytic sample of women aged 50-69 years from the ten Canadian provinces who met the inclusion criteria for this analysis was (n)= 10,426 respondents. Table 5.1 presents detailed demographic characteristics of the respondents across the individual provinces. In summary, slightly over half of the respondents (52%) were aged between 50-59, almost 70% were married or in a common law relationship, 60% reported having post secondary education and 50% had a total annual household income of over \$80,000. With regards to health and lifestyle characteristics, 60% were overweight or obese, 84% reported that they do not smoke, about 73% were reportedly 'very' or 'moderately' active

while 91% reported having a regular healthcare provider. However, over 76% had one or more chronic health conditions (19% had four or more chronic conditions), and 16% reported their health status to be 'poor'. With regards to racial and immigrant status, majority of the respondents (82.5%) identified as Whites with Asians a distant second at 11.8%, and 73% were non-immigrant (Table 5.2).

5.5.1. Distribution of screening participation

Slightly over half of all the respondents reported participation in CRC screening (53.7%) with fecal tests (FIT) the most common CRC screening test at 36%. In comparison, about 64% of the respondents have participated in both BC and CC screening, respectively. (Table 5.2).

Table 5.3 presents the various patterns of concurrent cancer screening participation among Canadian women aged 50-69. Participation in all three cancer screening programs (full participation) was reported by 26.7% of respondents. The most common pattern was participation in any two of the three recommended screening programs (partial participation), reported by 35.5% of the respondents. Within this partial screening group, the most frequent combination was BC and CC screening (BC+CC,19.7%). However, 13.4% reported no participation in any of the three screening programs. Participation in

only one cancer screening program was reported by 24.4% of the women.

Among respondents reporting single participation, CC only was the most common

pattern (10.5%), followed by BC only at 9.0%, and CRC only (4.9%).

Table 5.1: Demographic Distribution of Women Aged 50-69 – CCHS 2017

	Canada	Provinces; % of Population									
Variable	% of Population	AB	BC	MB	NB	NL	NS	ON	PEI	QC	SK
Age		·									
50-59	52.1	56.1	51.8	54.6	51.7	43.2	53.8	52.2	48.2	50.2	55.2
60-69	47.9	43.9	48.2	45.4	48.3	56.8	46.2	47.8	51.8	49.8	44.8
Marital status											
Married/Common law											
relationship	68.9	72.5	70.9	70.7	70.6	69.2	71.3	69.2	70.8	64.2	69.9
Divorced/widow/separated	21.0	20.6	21.1	19.4	22.3	22.9	19.8	20.2	18.6	24.1	19.0
Single	9.9	6.7	7.6	9.8	7.1	7.7	8.9	10.3	10.5	11.7	11.1
Missing	0.2	0.3	0.4	•	•	0.2	•	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1
Educational attainment							1				
Post high school	60.0	62.9	57.9	58.0	53.9	49.8	62.1	61.7	59.2	57.1	56.0
High school	25.9	27.5	30.5	26.1	27.9	25.4	19.3	24.5	20.9	24.7	33.1
Less than high school	11.7	7.3	9.8	13.5	16.0	23.6	14.3	11.2	17.1	15.4	9.2
Missing	2.4	2.3	1.7	2.4	2.2	1.2	4.3	2.7	2.7	2.8	1.7
Household income			•	•					•		
\$80,000+	50.4	61.1	48.6	48.7	39.9	37.0	46.4	54.3	45.6	42.2	42.4
\$40,000 - \$80,000	29.3	25.2	31.0	37.7	34.7	30.6	32.2	26.7	32.6	31.8	37.7
<\$40, 000	20.3	13.7	20.4	13.7	25.5	32.4	21.4	19.1	21.8	25.9	19.9

Have Regular Healthcare											
provider											
Yes	91.6	91.7	89.9	94.7	95.5	93.0	90.7	94.1	88.3	88.0	90.6
No	7.6	8.1	9.1	5.3	4.2	7.0	9.3	4.3	11.7	11.8	9.3
Missing	0.9	0.2	1.0	•	0.4	•	0.1	1.7	•	0.2	0.1
Physical activity level											
Very active	34.7	37.8	44.7	33.1	26.2	30.5	30.0	33.6	31.0	30.8	31.0
Moderately active	38.7	22.8	19.0	21.7	27.3	24.4	28.7	24.5	21.3	24.6	23.0
Inactive	23.4	37.0	32.2	43.8	40.8	40.4	37.6	38.1	45.6	42.8	42.3
Missing	3.1	2.4	4.1	1.4	5.7	4.7	3.7	3.8	2.0	1.8	3.6
Smoking Status											
Non-smoker	84.3	86.9	89.7	85.3	86.1	76.5	82.5	85.2	81.2	80.9	81.7
Occasional smoker	3.1	1.9	2.4	3.1	2.4	4.8	3.2	2.5	5.9	4.7	2.8
Daily smoker	12.6	11.2	7.9	11.5	11.4	18.6	14.3	12.3	12.9	14.4	15.5

Abbreviations: AB, Alberta; BC, British Columbia; MB, Manitoba; NB, New Brunswick; NL, Newfoundland & Labrador; NS, Nova Scotia; ON, Ontario; PEI, Prince Edward Island; QC, Quebec; SK, Saskatchewan

Table 5.2: Population characteristics, women aged 50-69, Canada – CCHS 2017

Characteristics	% of Population
Racial group	
White	82.5
Asian	11.8
Black	2.0
Hispanic	1.1
Others/multi-racial	2.7
Immigrant status	
Canada born	73.2
Immigrant	26.8
Self-reported no. of chronic	
conditions	
0	23.4
1-3	57.9
4+	18.7
Self-reported health status	
Great	53.7
Good	30.2
Poor	16.0

Screening Participation	
CC (≤3yrs)	64.4
BC (≤3yrs)	63.7
CRC (Fecal test ≤2yrs)	36.0
CRC (Endoscopy test ≤10yrs)	17.7
Either/both CRC tests	53.7

Abbreviations: CC, cervical cancer screening; BC, breast cancer screening; CRC, colorectal cancer screening

5.5.2. Distribution of screening patterns across sociodemographic characteristics

The distribution of screening participation patterns presented in Table 5.4 shows significant variations across sociodemographic categories. Overall, participation in any two of the three cancer screening programs (partial participation) was the most common pattern, with the combination of BC and CC screening being the most prevalent. For example, while 27.5% of women aged 50-59 and 25.7% of those aged 60-69 reported full participation, 22.6% and 16.6% of both age groups, respectively, reported participation in BC+CC only. But while 9.6% of people with no regular health care provider and 15.6% of 'daily smokers' report full participation, 15% and 18.7% reported BC+CC screening pattern, respectively. However, 'no screening' (pattern 8) was also relatively common,

especially among women with lower educational attainment (21.2%), lowest income bracket (24.3%) and 'daily smokers' (25.8%).

Women with post-high school education had the highest participation in all three programs (29.5%), while those with less than high school education had the lowest (16.1%). Household income followed a similar gradient, with the individuals in the highest income bracket reporting the highest rates of full participation (31.6%). Additionally, respondents with a regular healthcare provider reported substantially higher participation in all screening combinations. In contrast, women without a regular healthcare provider frequently reported no screening participation (38.7%). Lastly, self-rated health, physical activity levels, and smoking status exhibited correlations with screening participation rates. Women reporting 'great' health (31.3%), very active lifestyles (31.0%), and non-smoking status (28.4%) reported the highest rates of full participation.

Table 5.3: Patterns of Concurrent Cancer Screening Participation among women aged 50-69, Canada – CCHS 2017

	Screening Programs			% of Population	Screening Participation	
Pattern	BC	СС	CRC		1	
					Full Screening	
1 – BC+CC+CRC	х	X	x	26.7	Participation	
2 – BC+CRC	х	-	X	8.3	Partial (Any 2)	
3 – CC+CRC	-	X	X	7.5	Participation -	
4 – BC+CC	х	Х	-	19.7	35.5%	
5 – CRC only	-	-	X	4.9	Single (only one)	
6 – BC only	Х	-	-	9.0	Participation -	
7 – CC only	-	X	-	10.5	24.4%	
8 - None	-	-	-	13.4	No Screen Participation	

Key: X = Yes, - = No

Abbreviations: CC, cervical cancer screening; BC, breast cancer screening; CRC, colorectal cancer screening

Table 5.4: Distribution of screening participation pattern by sociodemographic characteristics among women aged 50-69, Canada – CCHS 2017

Variable	1-	2 –	3 –	4 –	5 – CRC	6 – BC	7 – CC	8 -
	BC+CC+CRC	BC+CRC	CC+CRC	BC+CC	only	only	only	None
	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
Age		%	%	%	%	%	%	%
50-59	27.5	5.2	7.0	22.6	3.7	7.4	13.7	12.8
60-69	25.7	11.6	8.0	16.6	6.2	10.8	7.0	14.1
Marital status								
Married/Common law relationship	28.5	8.8	7.7	19.9	4.8	8.4	10.3	11.6
Divorced/widow/separated	22.9	7.4	7.6	18.0	5.2	10.5	10.8	17.5
Single	22.0	6.5	6.1	21.9	5.0	9.8	11.7	17.1
Educational attainment								
Post high school	29.5	7.2	8.1	20.8	4.1	8.1	11.4	10.7
High school	26.1	9.0	7.3	20.7	4.8	8.7	9.1	14.3

Less than high school	16.1	12.1	5.8	12.8	7.5	15.2	9.3	21.2
Household income								
\$80,000+	31.6	6.7	8.2	21.5	3.9	7.7	11.4	9.1
\$40,000 - \$80,000	24.6	10.1	7.4	18.2	5.9	10.1	10.2	13.4
<\$40, 000	17.3	9.8	5.9	17.3	5.8	10.7	8.8	24.3
Have a Regular								
Healthcare provider								
Yes	28.1	8.7	7.8	20.2	5.0	8.8	10.4	10.9
No	9.6	4.3	3.9	15.0	4.3	11.6	12.6	38.7
Self-rated health status								
Great	31.3	8.0	7.1	21.4	3.8	7.8	10.7	10.0
Good	24.4	8.5	8.4	17.8	5.0	10.6	10.8	14.6
Poor	15.4	9.0	7.3	17.8	8.2	10.3	9.2	22.7
Physical activity level								
Very active	31.0	7.2	9.0	19.5	3.5	7.0	11.6	11.1
Moderately active	26.8	8.3	6.9	20.5	5.0	9.8	10.7	12.0

Inactive	21.4	9.9	6.2	18.8	6.6	10.6	9.2	17.2
Smoking Status								
Non-smoker	28.4	8.8	7.8	19.6	4.6	8.9	10.2	11.7
Occasional smoker	23.6	5.4	6.5	25.4	6.5	10.3	13.1	9.2
Daily smoker	15.6	5.9	5.9	18.7	6.2	9.6	12.3	25.8

Abbreviations: CC, cervical cancer screening; BC, breast cancer screening; CRC, colorectal cancer screening

5.5.3. Reported barriers to screening participation.

Table 5.5 presents the various barriers reported for non-screening across the different cancer screening programs. Among women reporting no screening participation, a significant proportion (23.4% to 34.2%) stated they did not believe the test was necessary. This was highest for colonoscopy/sigmoidoscopy (34.2%). For both CRC screening options, the most frequently cited barrier was their healthcare provider deeming the test unnecessary (40.1% for fecal test and 52.7% for endoscopy tests). Lack of time was reported as a barrier for 13.9% of women with no BC screening but this was less reported for other screening tests. Fear or discomfort, lack of knowledge about the test, and lack of a regular healthcare provider were reported by a much smaller proportion of women across all screening programs (ranging from 0.3% to 10.7%). While notable proportion of women reported they and/or their healthcare provider deemed screening as 'unnecessary, particularly for CRC tests, our analyses of predictors, provided below, show that factors such as income, self-rated health status, and access to healthcare providers are potentially stronger influences on overall screening participation patterns.

Table 5.5: Self reported barriers to Cancer Screening among women aged 50-69, Canada CCHS 2017

		% of		% of women
	% of	women	% of women	with No CRC
Reported barrier	women with	with No	with No CRC	(Colonoscopy/Fl
	No BC	СС	(Fecal test)	exible
				sigmoidoscopy)
Respondent didn't think test				
was necessary	34.0	23.4	27.4	34.2
Doctor deems test unnecessary	17.1	19.0	40.1	52.7
Fear and/or Discomfort	10.0	3.1	1.3	2.2
Lack of time	13.9	5.4	4.1	1.4
No doctor	4.8	6.9	2.8	2.2
Hysterectomy/Mastectomy/Had				
Other CRC screening test	1.6	31.4	15.1	2.4
Other	18.6	10.7	7.0	3.4
Did not know about test	Not asked	Not asked	1.6	1.1
No access to test	Not asked	Not asked	0.6	0.3

5.5.4. Factors Associated with Concurrent Screening Participation

Tables 5.6 presents the odds ratio for CRC screening participation among all respondents, and those who reported BC only and BC+CC screening participation. After adjusting for household income, marital status, access to healthcare provider, lifestyle factors, racial and immigrant status, older age, that is, 60-69 (AOR 1.50; 95% CI 1.31 - 1.71), belonging to high income household (AOR 1.37; 95% CI 1.13 - 1.67), self-rated health as 'great' (AOR 1.31; 95% CI 1.05 - 1.63) and access to a regular health care provider (AOR 3.29; 95% CI 2.45 - 4.40) were associated with higher odds of CRC screening participation. Also, being a daily smoker and an immigrant (AOR 0.73; 95% CI 0.56 - 0.94) were associated with lower likelihood of CRC screening. Marital status, physical activity levels, racial identity and having multiple chronic health conditions were not associated with CRC screening participation.

In multivariable logistic regression analysis stratified by participation in BC only, and BC+CC screening, household income and smoking status were no longer associated with CRC screening among this sub-population. However, older women (aged 60-69) who were BC+CC (AOR 1.43; 95%CI 1.17 - 1.74) or BC only (AOR 1.37; 95%CI 1.15 - 1.64) still had higher likelihood of CRC participation compared to younger women (50-59) in the same screening pattern. Similarly, self-rated health, access to regular health care provider and immigrant status were all associated with CRC participation among women who

reported BC only or BC+CC screening, while presence of four or more chronic

health conditions (AOR 0.72; 95%CI 0.55 - 0.94) was associated with lower

likelihoods of CRC screening participation.

Table 5.6: Factors associated with CRC screening among women with BC and BC+CC screening participation.

		AOR (95% CI) -	AOR (95% CI) -
	AOR (95% CI)- All	Women with BC	Women with BC+CC
Factors	Women	screening	screening
Age			
50-59	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
60-69	1.50 (1.31 - 1.71)	1.37 (1.15 - 1.64)	1.43 (1.17 - 1.74)
Household income			
<40k	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
\$40k - \$80k	1.35 (1.09 - 1.67)	1.11 (0.86 - 1.44)	1.22 (0.88 - 1.68)
>\$80k	1.37 (1.13 - 1.67)	1.14 (0.89 - 1.46)	1.34 (0.97 - 1.84)
Marital Status			
Single	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Widow/separated/divorced	1.11 (0.85 - 1.45)	1.16 (0.82 - 1.65)	1.18 (0.75 - 1.84)
Married/common law relationship	1.18 (0.91- 1.54)	1.24 (0.88 - 1.75)	1.08 (0.70 - 1.66)
Smoking			
Daily smoker	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Occasional smoker	1.30 (0.85 - 2.00)	0.98 (0.57 - 1.69)	1.11 (0.55 - 2.23)

Non-smoker	1.58 (1.27 - 1.97)	1.33 (0.98 - 1.80)	1.38 (0.94 - 2.04)
Physical activity level			
Inactive	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Moderately active	1.01 (0.84 - 1.21)	1.03 (0.81 - 1.31)	1.10 (0.82 - 1.48)
Very active	1.15 (0.94 - 1.39)	1.21 (0.95 - 1.54)	1.26 (0.93 - 1.72)
Self-rated health			
Poor	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Good	1.19 (0.95 - 1.49)	1.25 (0.93 - 1.67)	1.54 (1.07 - 2.21)
Great	1.31 (1.05 - 1.63)	1.39 (1.05 - 1.84)	1.62 (1.16 - 2.25)
Racial identity			
White	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Asian	0.90 (0.63 - 1.29)	1.31 (0.83 - 2.07)	1.39 (0.82 - 2.35)
Black	1.15 (0.60 - 2.20)	1.23 (0.57 - 2.63)	1.12 (0.45 - 2.83)
Hispanic	1.00 (0.43 - 2.32)	1.13 (0.40 - 3.16)	1.48 (0.48 - 4.56)
Other/multi-racial	0.95 (0.54 - 1.67)	1.55 (0.70 - 3.40)	1.74 (0.67 - 4.56)
Immigrant status			
Canada born	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Immigrant	0.73 (0.56 - 0.94)	0.67 (0.49 - 0.92)	0.68 (0.47 - 0.98)
Have a regular healthcare			
provider			
No	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Yes	3.29 (2.45 - 4.40)	2.26 (1.50 - 3.41)	1.87 (1.14 - 3.07)
Chronic health conditions			

0	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
1-3	1.11 (0.93 - 1.32)	1.06 (0.86 - 1.30)	1.03 (0.81 - 1.32)
4+	0.89 (0.71 - 1.11)	0.72 (0.55 - 0.94)	0.76 (0.54 - 1.06)

Abbreviations: CC, cervical cancer screening; BC, breast cancer screening; CRC, colorectal cancer screening. AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence intervals

Lastly, multivariable multinomial logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate the association between these various variables and the odds of full, partial, or single screening patterns, using 'no screening' (pattern 8) as the reference category. The result shows that household income is a strong predictor across all screening patterns. Compared to women in the lowest income bracket (<\$40k), those with incomes \$40k-\$80k had significantly higher likelihood of full participation (AOR 2.30; 95% CI 1.70-3.10), partial participation (AOR 1.77; 95% CI 1.32- 2.36), and single participation (AOR 1.84; 95% CI 1.37-2.46). The association was even stronger in the highest income bracket (>\$80k).

Self-rated health was also associated with screening pattern. For full participation, women who reported 'good' (AOR 2.11; 95% CI 1.45-3.08) and 'great' health (AOR 3.09; 95% CI 2.10-4.54) had significantly higher odds of screening participation compared to those reporting 'poor' health. Similarly, physical activity showed a positive association, with 'very active' women having higher odds of full participation (AOR 1.53; 95% CI 1.11-2.09) compared to inactive women.

Having a regular healthcare provider also had a strong influence on screening, with ninefold odds of full participation (AOR 9.08; 95% CI 5.82-14.16), fivefold odds of partial participation (AOR 5.12; 95% CI 3.50 -7.50), and two-fold odds of single program participation (AOR 2.67; 95% CI 1.99-3.58) compared to respondents who reported no regular healthcare provider.

Smoking status was also a significant predictor. Occasional smokers and nonsmokers had consistently higher odds of full participation, partial participation, and single program participation compared to daily smokers. Although, occasional smokers had higher odds of full participation (AOR 4.03; 95%CI 2.11 -7.73) compared to non-smokers (AOR 2.85; 95%CI 1.99 - 4.08).

Additionally, the presence of multiple chronic health conditions was associated with increased odds of partial screening participation (AOR 1.52; 95% CI 1.06 – 2.19 for 4+ conditions) and single program participation (AOR 1.73; 95% CI 1.17 -2.56 for 4+ conditions).

Racial identity showed some significant disparities. Compared to white women, Asian women had lower odds of full participation (AOR 0.68; 95% CI 0.43-0.98), partial (AOR 0.49; 95% CI 0.30-0.82), and single screening participation (AOR 0.64; 95% CI 0.38-0.89). Interestingly, black women had higher odds of full screening participation compared to White women (AOR 3.35; 95% CI 1.92-12.17). Immigration status did not have a statistically significant association with concurrent screening patterns. However, compared to immigrants, Canadian-

born women were more likely to have partial (AOR 1.02; 95% CI 0.73-1.43) and single (AOR 1.28; 95% CI 0.86-1.91) screening participation, but less likely to have full participation (AOR 0.76; 95% CI 0.51 - 1.13).

Variable	Full screening participation	Partial (Any 2) screening	Single screening
	*AOR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
		AGR (35 % CI)	AGK (55 % CI)
Age			
50-59	1.0 (ref)		
60-69	1.01 (0.78 - 1.28)	0.97 (0.76 - 1.23)	0.86 (0.69 - 1.07)
Household income			
<40k	1.0 (ref)		
\$40k - \$80k	2.30 (1.70 - 3.10)	1.77 (1.32 - 2.36)	1.84 (1.37 - 2.46)
>\$80k	3.15 (2.27 - 4.37)	2.01 (1.47 - 2.75)	2.04 (1.50 - 2.77)
Marital Status			
Single	1.0 (ref)		
Widow/separated/ divorced	1.05 (0.67 - 1.64)	0.95 (0.68 - 1.33)	0.98 (0.69 - 1.39)
Married/Common law relationship	1.11 (0.72 - 1.71)	1.12 (0.79 - 1.58)	0.99 (0.69 - 1.40)
Self-rated health status			
Poor	1.0 (ref)		
Good	2.11 (1.45 - 3.08)	1.36 (0.99 - 1.88)	1.34 (0.94 - 1.91)
Great	3.09 (2.10 - 4.54)	1.74 (1.24 - 2.43)	1.43 (1.03 - 2.00)

Table 5.7: Multivariable multinomial regression of factors associated with full, partial (any 2), single or no cancer screening participation, using 'no screening' as the reference category.

Physical activity level			
Inactive	1.0 (ref)		
Moderately active	1.28 (0.91 - 1.80)	1.13 (0.83 - 1.53)	1.16 (0.86 - 1.55)
Very active	1.53 (1.11 - 2.09)	1.22 (0.93 - 1.60)	1.14 (0.88 - 1.48)
Having Regular Healthcare provider			
No	1.0 (ref)		
Yes	9.08 (5.82 - 14.16)	5.12 (3.50 - 7.50)	2.67 (1.99 - 3.58)
Smoking Status			
Daily smoker	1.0 (ref)		
Occasional smoker	4.03 (2.11 - 7.73)	3.45 (1.93 - 6.18)	3.01 (1.71 - 5.32)
Non-smoker	2.85 (1.99 - 4.08)	2.38 (1.84 - 3.08)	1.91 (1.49 - 2.46)
Chronic Health Conditions			
0	1.0 (ref)		
1-3	1.31 (0.99 - 1.74)	1.31 (1.02 - 1.68)	1.30 (0.97 - 1.72)
4+	1.21 (0.81 - 1.81)	1.52 (1.06 - 2.19)	1.73 (1.17 - 2.56)
**Racial identity			
White	1.0 (ref)		
Asian	0.68 (0.43 - 0.98)	0.49 (0.30 - 0.82)	0.64 (0.38 - 0.89)
Black	3.35 (1.92 - 12.17)	1.68 (0.42 - 6.72)	1.10 (0.25 - 4.84)
Hispanic	0.51 (0.11 - 0.99)	0.66 (0.05 -1.15)	0.69 (0.10 - 1.94)
Other/multi-racial	0.58 (0.25 - 1.35)	0.30 (0.12 - 0.75)	0.43 (0.16 - 1.12)

Immigration Status			
Immigrant	1.0 (ref)		
Canada born	0.76 (0.51 - 1.13)	1.02 (0.73 - 1.43)	1.28 (0.86 - 1.91)

AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence intervals, Partial (Any 2) screening, screening participation in any two of breast, cervical or colorectal cancer screening (patterns 2, 3 or 4); Single screening, participation in only one of the three cancer screening programs (patterns 5, 6 or 7).

AOR describes how each variable is related to the odds of participating in all 3, any 2 or at least one screening programs versus no screening participation.

* Adjusted for age, marital status, household income, self-rated health, smoking status, having a regular healthcare provider, racial and immigration status, and number of chronic health conditions.

**Racial identity should be interpreted with caution due to small sample sizes

5.6. Discussion

Drawing from a nationally representative cross-sectional survey data, this study aimed to examine the demographic, health and lifestyle factors associated with CRC screening among eligible women aged 50-69 years who report participation in BC and CC screening. Additionally, we investigated the factors associated with concurrent participation in some or all of the three cancer screening programs. Our findings show that among women eligible for all three cancer screening programs, participation in CRC screening was lower compared to BC and CC screening. While 87% of women participated in at least one screening program, only 27% were up-to-date with all three, and 13% did not participate in any screening.

The lower participation in CRC screening compared to others aligns with evidence from similar studies in other jurisdictions (Dawidowicz et al., 2020; Farr et al., 2022; Ishii et al., 2021; Kregting et al., 2022; McCowan et al., 2019; Njor et al., 2023; Rebolj et al., 2020; Vahabi et al., 2021). This differential participation suggests varying barriers, perceptions, or access issues associated with each screening program (McCowan et al., 2019; Njor et al., 2023; Rebolj et al., 2020; Vahabi et al., 2021). The comparatively lower CRC screening participation rate suggest that CRC screening programs need to understand and address factors contributing to this disparity among women already engaged in other cancer screenings.

Our study shows that age, perception of health status, access to a regular healthcare provider, and immigrant status were factors associated with CRC screening participation among women up-to-date with the other screening programs. Older women (aged 60-69) had higher odds of CRC participation compared to those aged 50-59, potentially due to increased healthcare encounters, cancer risk awareness, and prior exposure to screening processes (Horshauge et al., 2020; Kobayashi et al., 2014; Schoenborn et al., 2019). Women who perceived their health as 'great' were also associated with higher odds of CRC screening, suggesting an optimism bias or greater motivation for preventive care among those perceiving good health (Smith et al., 2019). Access to a regular healthcare provider, a significant enabling factor suggested in the Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Use (Andersen, 1995), was associated with significantly higher odds of CRC screening, highlighting the pivotal role of healthcare providers in recommending and facilitating screening (Zhu et al., 2022). Notably, a significant proportion of women reported their healthcare provider deeming CRC screening unnecessary, warranting further exploration of provider-patient communication and decision-making processes surrounding CRC screening recommendations.

Other factors have been suggested for the comparatively lower participation rates reported for CRC screening. Historically, public health campaigns have strongly focused on BC and CC awareness, while CRC has received less

promotion, potentially impacting overall awareness and screening uptake (Wirth et al., 2014). Additionally, the complex nature of CRC screening, with multiple test modalities and procedures that may be perceived as unpleasant (fecal tests) or invasive (endoscopy tests), might contribute to the misconception that CRC screening is less necessary or desirable compared to BC and CC screening (Farr et al., 2022; Hay et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2013). This remains an important area for future research.

Regarding concurrent screening participation, our findings align with the wide range of rates reported in other jurisdictions, from around 50% in the Netherlands and Denmark to as low as 11.5% in France (Dawidowicz et al., 2020; Ishii et al., 2021; Kregting et al., 2022; McCowan et al., 2019; Njor et al., 2023; Rebolj et al., 2020). This wide variation might be influenced by differences in screening program designs, implementation strategies, and/or socio-cultural factors such as health beliefs, risk perception, and attitudes towards cancer screening (Crawford et al., 2016; Horshauge et al., 2020; Kregting et al., 2022; Lin et al., 2020; Tatari et al., 2020).

Consistent with previous research, lower income was a dominant predictor of lower concurrent screening participation in our study (Dawidowicz et al., 2020; Ishii et al., 2021; Rebolj et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2019). Andersen's model suggests that individuals with lower incomes might face multiple barriers, including differing health beliefs (predisposing factors), limited resources or time

constraints (enabling factors), and potentially poorer perceived health status (need factors), all of which can hinder screening participation (Jin et al., 2019a; 2019b). These findings underscore the need for targeted interventions and policy measures to address the social determinants of health and improve access to cancer screening services for underserved populations.

Furthermore, our findings revealed associations between concurrent screening participation and lifestyle factors such as smoking status and physical activity level. This clustering of health behaviors aligns with the notion that individuals who prioritise proactive health choices in one domain might also be more likely to engage in preventive screenings (Hay et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2020). Racial disparities were also observed, with black women showing higher odds of full screening participation compared to White women. This finding, while at odds with some previous research (Adu et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2010), probably reflects targeted health promotion efforts or cultural values emphasising preventive care among this group. Further investigation, focusing on health beliefs and access within this population group is needed to fully understand these dynamics. Conversely, Asian women had lower odds of concurrent participation, consistent with previous research highlighting potential cultural, linguistic, or systemic barriers faced by this demographic (Alam et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2010).

Our findings underscore the complex interplay of socioeconomic, cultural, and healthcare system factors influencing cancer screening behaviour among Canadian women. While income emerged as a dominant predictor, other factors such as health perceptions, lifestyle choices, racial identity, and access to healthcare providers are also important. Targeted interventions addressing these multifaceted barriers, coupled with culturally tailored health promotion strategies and improved provider-patient communication, could help bridge the gap in (concurrent) cancer screening participation. It is also noteworthy that a sizable group of women did not participate in any of the screening programs. Understanding whether this non-participation is a result of informed decisionmaking or a failure of the screening programs to reach this population would significantly inform promotion and educational interventions to promote wider participation in preventive cancer screening.

5.6.1. Implications for Policy and Practice

 Leveraging Screening Programs: The findings suggest that participation in one cancer screening program, especially the more popular ones like BC/CC screening, increases the likelihood of participation in other screening programs. Therefore, policymakers could consider leveraging each screening program as an opportunity to promote overall screening participation. This could involve integrated outreach strategies, such as providing information about other recommended screenings or combined reminders during existing screening appointments or outreach efforts.

- Addressing Socioeconomic Barriers: The pronounced role of income in screening participation underscores the need for policies and interventions that target structural inequities and barriers faced by individuals from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. Initiatives such as subsidised transportation, community-based screening drives in disadvantaged areas, or targeted outreach programs could help bridge this gap and improve access to screening services.
- Cultural Sensitivity and Tailored Strategies: The observed racial disparities
 highlight the importance of culturally sensitive policies and practices.
 Tailored communication strategies, collaborations with community leaders,
 and outreach efforts that resonate with diverse populations can enhance
 receptivity and participation. Particular attention should be given to
 developing strategies that address potential cultural or systemic barriers
 faced by Asian Canadian women.
- Understanding Non-participants: Emphasis should be placed on research to understand the motivations, barriers, or decision-making processes of women who do not participate in any screening program. Insights from such studies could inform more targeted and effective public health

strategies, addressing whether non-participation is due to informed choice or failures in the screening programs' reach.

 Public Health Education and Awareness: Given the influence of personal health perceptions on screening behavior, public health campaigns should emphasise not only the importance of screenings but also broader health consciousness. These campaigns can demystify misconceptions, highlight the benefits of early detection, and promote preventive care regardless of current health status.

5.6.2. Strengths and Limitations

The main strength of this study lies in the broad representativeness of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) data analysed. The CCHS collects data from a wide and diverse cross-section of Canadians. The study examined screening participation across a wide range of sociodemographic and ethnic groups, as well as investigated factors associated with participation in multiple screening programs, providing a comprehensive picture of cancer screening behaviour among Canadian women.

However, the study has several limitations. Firstly, the CCHS relies on respondents' self-reports, which may be subject to recall biases, misinterpretations, or social desirability bias, where respondents may present themselves in a certain way. Additionally, while the study excluded women who might not fall into the 'average risk' category, the CCHS does not collect adequate information to ensure the exclusion of all individuals who may not meet the criteria for preventive cancer screening, such a history of CRC diagnosis. Furthermore, the small sample sizes for certain racial and immigrant groups may limit the generalizability of findings specific to these populations, and these results should be interpreted with caution.

5.7. Conclusion

This study demonstrates that while a large proportion of Canadian women have participated in at least one of the three major cancer screening programs, CRC screening uptake remains notably lower compared to BC and CC screening. Furthermore, concurrent participation in all three screening programs is suboptimal, with rates lower than those reported in some European countries with similar healthcare structures. The observed disparities in screening participation across socioeconomic and demographic factors underscore the importance of addressing structural inequities in healthcare access and the need for a culturally responsive public health approach. The interconnected nature of these screenings offers a promising avenue for integrated public health initiatives, such as holistic screening programs that leverage participation in one screening to promote involvement in others.

Enhancing cancer screening uptake among Canadian women requires a comprehensive, culturally informed, and collaborative approach. Given the crucial role of early detection in improving cancer outcomes, improving screening rates is of paramount significance for public health in Canada. Targeted interventions, tailored outreach strategies, and concerted efforts to address systemic barriers and promote health education are essential to ensure equitable access to preventive cancer screenings across all segments of the Canadian population. 6. Chapter Six: Summary and Conclusions

Chapter Six: Summary and Conclusions

6.1. Thesis Overview

CRC is perhaps one of the cancers most amenable to prevention and early diagnosis (Tung, et al., 2018). In the last few decades, effective, non-invasive, and inexpensive screening tests have been developed for CRC screening, and organised public health screening programs have been established and promoted in most jurisdictions (Adhikari et. al., 2022; Araghi, et al., 2019; Andersen et al., 2019). Nonetheless, CRC remains a significant public health concern in Canada, representing the third most commonly diagnosed cancer and a leading cause of cancer-related morbidity and mortality (Brenner et al., 2022). There are also concerning trends like increasing incidence among younger adults and projected future increases due to aging populations (Brenner et al., 2017; O'Sullivan et al., 2022; Ruan et al., 2023).

While organised CRC screening programs in the country seem to have contributed to higher screening rates (Singh et al., 2015; Darvishian et al., 2023) and potentially, declining CRC incidence over the past decade (Kalyta et al., 2023; Levin et al., 2018), studies evaluating CRC screening participation rates, and associated factors, at the national level have been sparse. (Kalyta et al., 2021; 2023). This thesis aimed to contribute to filling these gaps by leveraging data from the CCHS to shed light on the effect of organised provincial screening programs on CRC screening participation, particularly in the Atlantic provinces,
assess disparities in CRC screening across the country, and evaluate the various factors influencing participation in CRC and concurrent cancer screening.

Drawing from three different but related studies, this thesis provides a broad evaluation of CRC screening participation in Canada in line with the specific thesis objectives set out in chapter one. The first study assessed the effect of organised provincial CRC screening programs in Atlantic Canada on screening participation rates, comparing participation rates and associated factors before and after the establishment of these programs (Paper 1). The second study examined the state of CRC screening participation across Canada, analysing sociodemographic and racial disparities in screening uptake, and identifying associated factors influencing participation (Paper 2). The third study investigated patterns of concurrent participation in BC, CC, and CRC screening among Canadian women, and identified factors associated with concurrent participation in multiple screening programs (Paper 3). Collectively, these studies shed light on the persistent disparities in CRC screening participation across various socioeconomic, demographic, and cultural groups in Canada.

This final chapter summarises key findings from the three studies included in this thesis. It provides a synthesis of key findings using the Andersen Behavioral Model as a framework to interpret and contextualise the findings (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Andersen, 1995). Building on this discussion, the chapter outlines practical implications, including what the Covid-19 pandemic could mean for

these findings, highlights the contribution to the body of knowledge on screening behaviours and uptake, and suggests implication for policy and practice, and suggested directions for future research.

6.2. Summary of Findings

The following sections highlight the key findings and the main conclusions from the three studies included in this thesis.

6.2.1. Paper 1: Summary of Findings and Conclusions

The study found a notable increase in CRC screening participation in the Atlantic provinces between 2010 and 2017, following the implementation of organised provincial screening programs. Overall, the proportion of people up-to-date with CRC screening increased from 42% to 54.5% on average but fell short of the national target of 60%. However, the magnitude of this increase differed between the provinces. NB and NS recorded the most significant changes, showing the potential effect of organised screening programs on CRC screening participation.

The study observed a nuanced shift in screening test preferences, with a significant increase in fecal test participation from an average of 19.6% in 2010 to 32.4% in 2017 and a decline in uptake of endoscopy tests. This aligns with the

emphasis on fecal tests as the primary screening modality promoted through the CRC screening programs. However, this shift also varied across provinces.

Despite the overall increase in screening, disparities persist. Factors such as age, sex, socioeconomic status (specifically, household income and educational level), health status and lifestyle behaviours such as smoking, continued to influence screening participation. Notably, there was a lower rate of screening among those in their 50s, a demographic that could potentially benefit more from early cancer detection. Additionally, self reported barriers to participation in CRC screening highlight the perception among some that such tests are unnecessary. It also highlights experiences where healthcare providers might be perceived to be discouraging screening. These findings emphasise sociodemographic factors, attitudinal barriers and the role of health care professional as areas requiring attention.

Given these findings, three main conclusions can be drawn from this paper. One, the implementation of organised CRC screening programs in the Atlantic provinces seems to have contributed to positive change in screening participation rates. However, variation in the magnitude and nature of this change underscores the multifaceted determinants of health service utilisation. Factors such as promotional and recruitment strategies of the screening programs, coupled with broader sociodemographic factors, could influence this observed variability in screening uptake across provinces.

Two, despite the positive change in screening, the study found persistent inequalities in CRC screening participation across the Atlantic provinces, particularly related to age, income, education levels, and health status. These disparities, especially among younger adults and those facing socioeconomic disadvantages, are concerning as they represent populations that could potentially benefit more from early cancer detection. The disparities reflect the broader global health challenge of ensuring equitable access to health resources and the multifaceted factors that influence preventive health decisions and behaviors.

The study also highlighted the need to address misconceptions and attitudes toward CRC screening, as a notable segment of respondents deemed the tests unnecessary or reported feeling discouraged by their healthcare providers. Employing frameworks like the Health Belief Model to inform targeted health education materials, emphasising the severity of CRC, and the crucial role of early detection could potentially change these perceptions and improve screening participation.

Overall, the findings underscore the importance of continuous evaluation and adaptation of screening programs to meet the evolving health landscape and address persistent disparities in the Atlantic provinces. Interventions that cater to the diverse needs of different demographic groups and address challenges

specific to age, sex, socioeconomic status and geographic distribution are crucial for reducing the burden of CRC in the region.

6.2.2. Paper 2: Summary of Findings and Conclusions

The study found that overall CRC screening participation in Canada has increased since the broader implementation of organised screening programs across the country. However, there were notable variations in screening rates across provinces. AB and MB reported the highest screening participation, while NL reported the lowest in the country.

The study also found screening disparities along socioeconomic, geographical, and racial/ethnic lines. Higher income, higher education, being White, and being a non-immigrant were all associated with higher likelihood of CRC screening participation. These findings confirm that the health equity issue found in paper 1 prevails across the country. Similarly, provinces with longer-established screening programs tend to report higher overall screening participation. However, this did not explain all the provincial variations in screening participation levels, especially in the Atlantic region. Other province-specific factors could potentially explain or affect screening participation.

A key finding from this study is that immigrant and minority ethnic groups, especially those from South-East Asia and South Asia report significantly lower

participation in CRC screening. This study also highlighted the misconceptions and attitudes toward CRC screening with notable proportions of respondents reporting that their healthcare provider deems CRC screening as 'unnecessary'. This suggests the need for better alignment between screening guidelines and provider-patient communication.

Again, three main conclusions can be drawn from these findings. While the study suggests CRC screening participation rates are improving in Canada, potentially due, in part, to widespread implementation and promotion of organised screening programs, significant disparities persist. The study draws particular attention to the lower CRC screening rates among immigrant and minority ethnic groups, especially those from South-East Asia and South Asia, across the country. These disparities suggest that screening programs are not 'silver bullets' and must be accompanied by interventions that address specific barriers faced by different socioeconomic, geographic, and racial/ethnic groups to achieve equity and improve screening participation population-wide. The role of healthcare providers in influencing CRC screening behaviour also needs careful attention. Efforts are needed to ensure consistent messaging and proactive recommendation of screening within healthcare settings.

As projected increase in cancer incidence in Canada amplifies the urgency to improve CRC screening rates (Ruan et al., 2023), the findings from this study

underscore the need for efficient, inclusive, and targeted strategies to address disparities among different demographic groups.

6.2.3. Paper 3: Summary of Findings and Conclusions

The study found that participation in CRC screening was lower than that of BC and CC screening among Canadian women, even among those who participate in both BC and CC screening programs. Only about a quarter (27%) of women were up-to-date with all three screenings, while 13% did not participate in any, suggesting substantial room for improvement in concurrent screening participation.

Among women who participate in BC and CC screenings, CRC screening was more likely in those who were older (60-69 years old), had higher self-perceived health status, had a regular healthcare provider, and were not immigrants. Income emerged, again, as a strong and consistent factor associated with concurrent screening participation. Individuals with lower income were significantly less likely to participate in full, partial, or even single screening compared to those in higher income brackets. This association further strengthens the argument for socioeconomic disparities in access and/or uptake of screening, with lower-income individuals potentially facing financial barriers, logistical challenges, and/or possibly, lower prioritisation of preventive health services.

The study also found that individuals with 'good' or 'great' self-rated health had higher engagement in full screening participation compared to those reporting 'poor' health, suggesting that those perceiving themselves as healthy might be more motivated to engage in preventive care or vice versa. Women with a regular healthcare provider had significantly higher odds of participating in all variations of screening programs, underscoring the crucial role of primary care providers in recommending preventive screenings.

Additionally, health behaviors such as physical activity and non-smoking seemed to cluster with greater engagement in screening, indicating that those who prioritise one aspect of healthy living may be more receptive to preventive care practices overall. Racial disparities were also observed, with Black women having higher odds of full screening, while Asian women were less likely to be up-todate, pointing to potential cultural, systemic, or communication-related barriers specific to certain racial groups.

The main conclusions from this study are similar and strengthens findings from the previous two studies. This study further shows that socioeconomic factors, individual health perceptions, lifestyle choices, racial/ethnic identity, and access to healthcare all influence cancer screening behaviour, possibly in a complex interplay. The association between income and screening participation again

underscores the need to address social determinants of health and ensure equitable access to screening services.

The findings show opportunities to improve CRC screening participation even among women already engaging in other cancer screening programs, suggesting that strategies are needed to help improve CRC screening within this 'screenaware' group. Strategies such as targeted interventions aimed at increasing overall health awareness, addressing socioeconomic barriers, and designing culturally sensitive outreach to different racial and ethnic groups could improve CRC, as well as concurrent screening participation.

6.3. Synthesis of Key Findings

Collectively, the findings from the three studies in this thesis provide a broad understanding of the multifaceted landscape of CRC screening participation in Canada, highlighting both apparent progress and persistent challenges. The Andersen Behavioral Model (Andersen model) provides a valuable framework for interpreting and contextualizing these findings, as it outlines the complex interplay of predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, and need factors that shape health services utilisation, such as cancer screening participation (Andersen, 1995; Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Jin et al., 2019).

The influence of predisposing characteristics on CRC screening participation was evident across the three studies. Consistent with the Andersen model, older age was associated with higher screening uptake, likely due to increased perceived susceptibility and recognition of the need for screening (Chan et al., 2022). However, the first study's finding of decreased screening among those in their fifties suggests a potential disconnect between perceived risk and benefit in this age group. While this highlight the need for targeted interventions to address this potential knowledge or perception gap among this age group, it could also result from informed decision making, especially since CRC screening recommendations for people aged 50-59 is based weak evidence.

Similarly, socioeconomic disparities, that is, income and education levels, consistently emerged as significant barriers to CRC screening participation. Lower socioeconomic status was associated with lower screening rates, reflecting the potential effect of financial constraints, limited health literacy, and potentially negative attitudes or beliefs about screening, on screening participation (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Lee et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2019). These findings underscore the importance of addressing socioeconomic inequities and providing targeted support to lower-income populations to equitably improve screening rates (Adu et al., 2017).

Additionally, findings from the second study highlight the disparities in screening rates among immigrant and racial/ethnic minority groups, particularly those from

South Asia and Southeast Asia. This shows the influence of cultural beliefs and attitudes towards health and preventive care on screening behaviour. The Andersen model emphasises the role of these predisposing characteristics in shaping an individual's perceptions of disease risk, and consequently, their tendency to seek healthcare (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Babitsch et al., 2012). Also, the third study found that while women generally have higher participation in BC and CC screening, CRC screening participation lags, particularly for those who are immigrants or from Asian communities. This suggests that predisposing factors like cultural beliefs and attitudes may affect participation across different cancer screening programs differently.

Enabling resources play a crucial role in facilitating CRC screening participation (Lee et al., 2019; Jin et al., 2019). The consistent association between higher income and increased screening participation across all three studies showed the importance of financial resources as an 'enabler' of access to healthcare services (Jin et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2022). Moreover, access to a regular healthcare provider and, potentially, higher chances of provider recommendation for screening, emerged as strong facilitators of CRC screening uptake. Again, this highlights the importance of healthcare systems and provider-patient communication as 'enablers' of access to and utilisation of preventive healthcare services and the role of healthcare providers as 'gatekeepers to the healthcare system (Davis; et al., 2018).

The first study's finding of positive change in CRC screening rate between 2010 and 2017 in the Atlantic provinces suggest that the implementation of organised screening programs has contributed positively to CRC screening participation, particularly with the increased uptake of fecal tests. This underscores the role of structural-level interventions, such as organised programs, in creating enabling environments for screening uptake (Chan et al., 2022). However, geographical disparities in screening rates within provinces in the region, indicate that the reach and effectiveness of these programs could vary. This could be due to differences in program promotion, recruitment strategies, or variations in how individuals and healthcare providers perceive and discuss screening needs (Davis; et al., 2018; Inadomi et al., 2021).

Need, conceived to encompass both 'perceived' and 'evaluated' need in the Andersen model, also plays a significant role in health service utilisation, such as CRC screening participation (Alkhawaldeh et al., 2023; Lee et al., 2019). The first and second studies highlight the influence of perceived need, with a notable proportion of individuals who have no screening history reporting their perception of CRC screening as unnecessary. This underscores the importance of addressing misconceptions and promoting awareness of the benefits of screening through targeted education and outreach efforts (Lee et al., 2019).

The third study found that participation in CRC screening was lower than that of BC and CC screening among Canadian women, even among those who

participate in breast and cervical cancer screening programs. Only about a quarter (27%) of women were up-to-date with all three screenings, while 13% did not participate in any, suggesting substantial room for improvement in concurrent participation in multiple cancer screenings. The disparity in participation rates, even among women already engaged in other cancer screenings, suggests that the perceived need for CRC screening may differ from that of other cancer screenings.

This could be due to various factors, such as differences in perceived risk, knowledge about the disease and screening procedures, or cultural beliefs and attitudes towards different types of cancer (Almadi et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2020). The higher participation in BC and CC screening programs could also be because these two programs have been in existence for much longer, and consequently more established. BC and CC screening programs have been the subject of wideranging and long running awareness and education campaigns. If this longrunning and established nature of BC and CC screening programs play important roles in screening participation rates, then a move towards integrated screening programs could be one way to ensure newer or future cancer screening programs benefit from the experience and uptake of more established programs. Overall, the findings from these three studies, when interpreted through the lens of the Andersen model, provide a good understanding of the factors influencing CRC screening participation in Canada. They highlight the complex interplay of

predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, and need, emphasising the need for multifaceted interventions that address both individual-level and system-level barriers to screening. By tailoring interventions to the specific needs and challenges of different population groups, healthcare providers, program administrators and policymakers can work towards achieving equitable access to CRC screening and ultimately reduce the burden of this preventable disease.

6.3.1. Implications of Findings for Screening Policy and Practice

The findings from these studies have several practical implications for cancer screening policies and programs in Canada:

- Addressing socioeconomic disparities: The strong association between income and screening participation rates underscores the need for policies and programs that address the social determinants of health, especially within the most vulnerable population groups.
- 2. Strengthening primary care systems: Given the critical role of healthcare providers in recommending and facilitating screening, policies should focus on strengthening primary care systems and ensuring that providers have the necessary resources and training to effectively communicate with

patients about cancer screening guidelines and the importance of early detection.

- 3. Culturally tailored outreach and health promotion: The observed disparities among certain racial and ethnic minority groups, as well as immigrants, highlight the need for culturally tailored outreach and health promotion strategies. This could involve collaborating with community leaders, translating educational materials into multiple languages, and employing culturally relevant messaging to address potential misconceptions or cultural barriers (Inadomi et al., 2021).
- 4. Targeted interventions for specific age groups: The findings indicating reduced CRC screening participation among younger eligible adults (those in their 50s) suggest the need for targeted interventions and messaging tailored to this age group especially in the light of projected/increase in early-onset CRC cases (O'Sullivan et al., 2022) and changing screening guidelines in other jurisdictions to capture younger adults (Kalyta et al., 2021). Public health campaigns should emphasise the importance of early detection and preventive measures, even for those who perceive themselves as healthy and/or young.
- 5. Integrated screening programs: Given the substantial proportion of women who participate in BC and CC screenings but do not undergo CRC screening, policies and programs should explore strategies to promote

integrated screening services. This could involve co-locating screening facilities, streamlining appointment scheduling, or implementing coordinated reminder systems for all recommended cancer screenings (Tangka et al., 2022).

6. Continuous evaluation and adaptation: Cancer screening programs should incorporate regular evaluation and monitoring mechanisms to identify emerging trends, disparities, and barriers to participation. This will allow for the timely adaptation of policies and interventions to address evolving needs and ensure equitable access to screening services across diverse population groups.

Drawing from the practical implications for screening policies and practice highlighted above and from the broader literature on effective interventions, some evidenced-based interventions that could include be implemented to improve CRC screening participation in Canada include:

1. Patient navigation and care coordination: Patient navigation programs can help address barriers related to access, communication, and navigation of the healthcare system and are already in place, to some extent, in most screening programs (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2020). These could be expanded such that trained patient navigators can provide individualised support, coordinate appointments, facilitate communication

with healthcare providers, and assist with addressing logistical challenges, such as transportation or language barriers.

- 2. Community-based outreach and education: Collaborating with community organisations, faith-based groups, and trusted leaders can enhance the reach and effectiveness of educational campaigns. Culturally tailored and linguistically appropriate educational materials and outreach efforts can help address misconceptions, increase awareness, and promote CRC screening among diverse communities (Davis; et al., 2018; Inadomi et al., 2021).
- 3. Provider reminders and decision support systems: Implementing provider reminder systems, decision support tools, and clinical decision aids can help ensure that healthcare providers consistently recommend and facilitate CRC screening for eligible patients. These tools can also assist providers in addressing potential barriers or concerns raised by patients (Davis; et al., 2018).
- 4. Tailored patient reminders: Personalised reminders and navigation support can be effective in promoting screening participation. This could involve sending tailored reminders via mail, phone, or electronic platforms/apps, as well as providing assistance with scheduling appointments or addressing logistical barriers (Brouwers et al., 2011; Inadomi et al., 2021).

- 5. Reducing structural barriers: Interventions aimed at reducing structural barriers, such as providing extended clinic hours and offering mobile screening units in underserved or remote areas can help increase access to CRC screening services, particularly for populations facing socioeconomic challenges (Inadomi et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2022).
- 6. Targeting misconceptions and knowledge gaps: Tailored and targeted health awareness/education campaigns that emphasise the importance of screening and address anxieties associated with screening procedures and/or outcome. Such health awareness campaign must provide clear, accessible information through media that offers the most engagement for specific population groups (Inadomi et al., 2021).

It is important to emphasise that no single intervention will be universally effective. Interventions and strategies must be tailored to local needs, specific sub-populations, and the practical realities of the local healthcare system. They should also combine several different strategies—with patient navigation being a particularly effective strategy among others (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, 2021). Pilot testing and rigorous evaluation of interventions are vital to determine their impact and to identify areas for refinement. Ultimately, a combination of carefully tailored and evidence-based initiatives that address systemic barriers, increase awareness, empower healthcare providers, and

prioritise equitable access will be crucial for achieving the full potential of CRC screening in improving the health of all Canadians.

6.4. The Covid-19 Pandemic and Screening Participation

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on healthcare systems globally, disrupting routine preventive services, including cancer screening programs (Yong et al., 2021). The findings from these studies, which were based on CCHS survey data from prior to the pandemic, may have been affected by the widespread disruptions caused by COVID-19.

One of the most significant impacts of the pandemic was from the temporary suspension or scaling back of non-essential healthcare services, including cancer screening programs, in order to prioritise resources for the COVID-19 response (Yong & Garner, 2021). This disruption in service delivery led to a substantial decrease in CRC screening rates, as well as other cancer services, especially during the peak periods of the pandemic (Domper-Arnal et al., 2022; Mazidimoradi et al., 2022). Even though restrictions have eased considerably, factors such as fear of exposure to the virus, reluctance to visit healthcare facilities, and ongoing staffing shortages may continue to pose barriers to screening participation (Nascimento de Lima et al., 2023).

Furthermore, the economic consequences of the pandemic, including job losses, financial insecurity, and increased poverty rates, may have exacerbated existing socioeconomic disparities in access to healthcare services, such as cancer screening. Individuals facing economic hardships may have been forced to prioritise more immediate needs over preventive care, further widening the gap in screening participation among lower-income populations (Nascimento de Lima et al., 2023).

The pandemic also highlighted the vulnerability of certain population groups, such as racial and ethnic minorities, immigrants, and individuals with underlying health conditions, who experienced disproportionately higher rates of COVID-19 infection and adverse outcomes (Mazidimoradi et al., 2022). These same groups may have faced additional barriers to accessing cancer screening services during the pandemic, potentially exacerbating the disparities identified in our findings using pre-pandemic data.

Additionally, the widespread disruption to routine healthcare services and the overwhelming focus on COVID-19 may have impacted provider-patient communication and the prioritisation of cancer screening recommendations. Healthcare providers may have been stretched thin, with limited capacity to engage in comprehensive discussions about cancer screening during the pandemic Yong et al., 2021.

On the other hand, the pandemic also brought heightened awareness of the importance of preventive healthcare and the potential consequences of delayed diagnoses and treatment (Walker et al., 2021; Yong et al., 2021). This heightened awareness, coupled with the adoption of telehealth and remote monitoring technologies, could potentially lead to increased demand for and access to cancer screening services in the post-pandemic era.

Furthermore, the collective experience of the pandemic may have altered individual health beliefs and attitudes towards preventive care, either positively or negatively (Nascimento de Lima et al., 2023). While some individuals may have developed a greater appreciation for early detection and preventive measures, others may have experienced pandemic-related trauma or financial hardships that could negatively impact their willingness or ability to prioritise preventive health care like cancer screening.

As the healthcare system continues to recover from the pandemic, it will be crucial to reassess and adapt cancer screening programs to address the evolving needs and barriers faced by different population groups. Strategies to address COVID-19-related disruptions, such as catch-up campaigns, mobile screening units, and targeted outreach efforts, may be necessary to ensure equitable access and improve CRC screening rates (Domper-Arnal et al., 2022; Decker et al., 2022; Mazidimoradi et al., 2022).

Continuous monitoring and evaluation will be essential to understand the longterm impacts of the pandemic on cancer screening behaviors, identify emerging disparities, and develop tailored interventions to mitigate the adverse effects of the pandemic on preventive care services.

6.5. Recommendations for Future Research

This thesis provides a multifaceted examination of the challenges affecting CRC screening uptake and the opportunities to improve it. However, as this is an evolving field, several areas warrant further research to deepen our understanding and strengthen strategies for addressing low and inequitable cancer screening participation, particularly for CRC.

 Regional Variations in Screening Behavior: Future studies should investigate the underlying causes of regional disparities in CRC screening rates across Canada. A closer look at local policies, healthcare infrastructure, community awareness programs, and even cultural attitudes towards preventive health could reveal key drivers and potential best practices. Comparative studies between high- and low-performing regions can also provide valuable insights for developing targeted interventions and improving overall screening rates.

- 2. In-Depth Exploration of Racial and Sociodemographic Disparities: While this thesis examined sociodemographic and racial disparities at a national level, deeper, qualitative research is needed to understand the specific barriers faced by minority and immigrant populations in accessing CRC screening. Personal interviews, focus groups, and community surveys could reveal nuanced cultural, linguistic, or systemic obstacles. Longitudinal studies tracking changes in screening rates over time in relation to evolving demographics could also provide valuable insights.
- 3. Effectiveness of Integrated Screening Programs: Given the correlation between participation in different screening programs, research should investigate the effectiveness of integrated or bundled screening programs that combine CRC screening with other cancer screenings. Pilot programs and randomised controlled trials could assess the impact on uptake and health outcomes. Additionally, understanding the behavioral reasons behind why individuals choose to participate in certain screenings but not others could inform the design of more effective integrated programs.
- 4. Communication and Education Strategies: To address misconceptions about the value and necessity of CRC screening, rigorous evaluation of different communication strategies is needed. This research could encompass digital campaigns, community outreach, provider training, and the use of culturally tailored interventions. Understanding how different

messaging resonates with diverse populations is crucial for increasing screening awareness and uptake.

5. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic: The COVID-19 pandemic caused significant disruptions to healthcare systems worldwide, including screening programs. Future research should investigate the extent to which the pandemic impacted CRC screening participation in Canada, including delays, missed appointments, and potential long-term consequences. Understanding the specific barriers and facilitators to screening during and after the pandemic could inform strategies to mitigate future disruptions and ensure timely access to lifesaving preventive care.

Addressing these research gaps could considerably improve our understanding of the multifaceted barriers to cancer screening uptake. By informing the development of more effective, equitable, and tailored strategies and interventions, we can improve CRC screening participation and, ultimately, contribute to better health outcomes for all Canadians.

6.6. Concluding Remarks

This thesis aimed to advance the understanding of CRC screening participation in Canada. Through examination of regional variations, racial and sociodemographic disparities, and the patterns of multiple cancer screenings, this thesis offers a multifaceted perspective of the challenges and opportunities to improve CRC screening uptake. The use of nationally representative data ensure the findings and recommendations are relevant for both practical and policy-oriented interventions.

A key strength of this work lies in its nuanced approach. By investigating CRC screening from multiple angles, the research reveals the complex interplay of factors influencing screening behavior. It highlights regional differences, demographic disparities, and behavioral patterns, providing a comprehensive view of the Canadian CRC screening landscape.

In terms of practical contributions, this study has significant implications for healthcare providers, public health practitioners, and policymakers. The findings emphasise the need for population-specific strategies and interventions, considering the unique demographic and healthcare infrastructure of each region. The study also underlines the importance of culturally sensitive and inclusive approaches to health communication and education, particularly for minority and immigrant populations who are less likely to participate in CRC screening. Furthermore, the exploration of concurrent cancer screenings opened a new avenue in cancer prevention strategies, suggesting that integrated screening programs could be key to enhancing overall screening rates.

The policy implications of this study are equally worth mentioning. The examination of regional disparities and sociodemographic factors in CRC screening provides policymakers with an understanding of where and how to direct resources and efforts. The recommendations for targeted interventions and communication strategies, informed by the research findings, can guide the formulation of more effective health policies. Moreover, the call for data-driven decision-making and continuous monitoring underlines the importance of evidence-based policy in public health.

Academically, this thesis contributes to the existing body of knowledge on cancer screening. It not only adds to our understanding of the complexities surrounding CRC screening but also offers a model for examining other types of cancer screenings, especially the multi-dimensional analyses of the various factors affecting screening behaviors, using large, representative datasets and diverse methodology. This thesis represents a significant stride forward in our understanding of CRC screening in Canada. Its comprehensive approach, relevant findings, and practical recommendations contribute to the fields of public health and preventive cancer care and provide a roadmap for practical and policyoriented applications aimed at improving cancer screening rates and, ultimately, public health outcomes.

7. References

- Adhikari, K., Yang, H., & Teare, G. F. (2022). Patterns of up-to-date status for colorectal cancer screening in Alberta: a cross-sectional study using survey data. CMAJ Open, 10(1), E203-e212. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo.20210051
- Adu, P. A., Ukah, U. V., & Palmer, S. D. (2017). Association Between Recency of Immigration and Mammography Uptake: Results from a Canadian National Survey. J Immigr Minor Health, 19(1), 228-235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-015-0298-6
- Ahmed, A. M., Bacchus, M. W., Beal, S. G., Huber, K. N., Lee, J. H., Zhao, J., George, T. J., & Sattari, M. (2023). Colorectal cancer screening completion by patients due or overdue for screening after reminders: a retrospective study. BMC Cancer, 23(1), 391. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-023-10837-y
- Alam, Z., Deol, H., Dean, J. A., & Janda, M. (2022). Reasons behind Low Cervical Screening Uptake among South Asian Immigrant Women: A Qualitative Exploration. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031527
- Alkhawaldeh, A., ALBashtawy, M., Rayan, A., Abdalrahim, A., Musa, A., Eshah, N., Abu Khait, A., Qaddumi, J., Khraisat, O., & ALBashtawy, S. (2023).
 Application and Use of Andersen's Behavioral Model as Theoretical Framework: A Systematic Literature Review from 2012-2021. *Iranian journal of public health*, *52*(7), 1346–1354. https://doi.org/10.18502/ijph.v52i7.13236

- Almadi, M. A., Mosli, M. H., Bohlega, M. S., Al Essa, M. A., AlDohan, M. S.,
 Alabdallatif, T. A., AlSagri, T. Y., Algahtani, F. A., & Mandil, A. (2015).
 Effect of public knowledge, attitudes, and behavior on willingness to
 undergo colorectal cancer screening using the health belief model. Saudi J
 Gastroenterol, 21(2), 71-77. https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-3767.153814
- American Cancer Society. (2020). Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures 2020-2022. A. C. Society.
- Amina, M. B., Spinelli, J. J., Kazanjian, A., & Trevor, J. B. D. (2019). Impact on immigrant screening adherence with introduction of a population-based colon screening program in Ontario, Canada. Cancer Medicine, 8(4), 1826-1834. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.2026
- Araghi, M., Soerjomataram, I., Bardot, A., Ferlay, J., Cabasag, C. J., Morrison, D.
 S., De, P., Tervonen, H., Walsh, P. M., Bucher, O., Engholm, G., Jackson,
 C., McClure, C., Woods, R. R., Saint-Jacques, N., Morgan, E., Ransom, D.,
 Thursfield, V., Møller, B., Leonfellner, S., Guren, M. G., Bray, F., & Arnold,
 M. (2019). Changes in colorectal cancer incidence in seven high-income
 countries: a population-based study. The Lancet Gastroenterology &
 Hepatology, 4(7), 511-518. https://doi.org/10.1016/S24681253(19)30147-5
- Arcury, T. A., Gesler, W. M., Preisser, J. S., Sherman, J., Spencer, J., & Perin, J. (2005). The effects of geography and spatial behavior on health care utilization among the residents of a rural region. Health Serv Res, 40(1), 135-155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00346.x
- Arnold, M., Abnet, C. C., Neale, R. E., Vignat, J., Giovannucci, E. L., McGlynn, K. A., & Bray, F. (2020). Global Burden of 5 Major Types of Gastrointestinal

Cancer. Gastroenterology, 159(1), 335-349.e315. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.02.068

- Arnold, M., Sierra, M. S., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray,
 F. (2017). Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Gut, 66(4), 683-691. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310912
- Atkinson, T. M., Salz, T., Touza, K. K., Li, Y., & Hay, J. L. (2015). Does colorectal cancer risk perception predict screening behavior? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Behav Med, 38(6), 837-850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9668-8
- Bacal, V., Blinder, H., Momoli, F., Wu, K. Y., & McFaul, S. (2019). Is Immigrant Status Associated With Cervical Cancer Screening Among Women in Canada? Results From a Cross-Sectional Study. J Obstet Gynaecol Can, 41(6), 824-831.e821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2018.07.010
- Baccolini, V., Isonne, C., Salerno, C., Giffi, M., Migliara, G., Mazzalai, E., Turatto,
 F., Sinopoli, A., Rosso, A., De Vito, C., Marzuillo, C., & Villari, P. (2022).
 The association between adherence to cancer screening programs and
 health literacy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Preventive
 Medicine, 155, 106927.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106927
- Bauer, C., Zhang, K., Xiao, Q., Lu, J., Hong, Y. R., & Suk, R. (2022). County-Level Social Vulnerability and Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screening Rates in the US, 2018. JAMA Netw Open, 5(9), e2233429. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.33429

- BC Cancer. (2020). BC Cancer Colon Screening 2018 Program Results http://www.bccancer.bc.ca/screening/Documents/Colon-Program-Results-2018.pdf
- Béland, Y. (2002). Canadian community health survey--methodological overview. Health Rep, 13(3), 9-14.
- Bénard, F., Barkun, A. N., Martel, M., & von Renteln, D. (2018). Systematic review of colorectal cancer screening guidelines for average-risk adults:
 Summarizing the current global recommendations. World journal of gastroenterology, 24(1), 124-138. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i1.124
- Benchimol, E. I., Smeeth, L., Guttmann, A., Harron, K., Moher, D., Petersen, I., Sørensen, H. T., von Elm, E., & Langan, S. M. (2015). The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. PLoS Med, 12(10), e1001885. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001885
- Blair, A., Gauvin, L., Ouédraogo, S., & Datta, G. D. (2019). Area-level income disparities in colorectal screening in Canada: evidence to inform future surveillance [Article]. Current Oncology, 26(2), e128-e137. https://doi.org/10.3747/co.26.4279
- Blair, A., Gauvin, L., Strumpf, E. C., & Datta, G. D. (2020). Impact of organized colorectal cancer screening programs on screening uptake and screening inequalities: A study of systematic- and patient-reliant programs in Canada. Journal of Cancer Policy, 24, 100229. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpo.2020.100229
- Boffetta, P., & Hainaut, P. (Eds.). (2019). Encyclopedia of Cancer (Vol. 1). Academic Press

- Bonafede, M. M., Miller, J. D., Pohlman, S. K., Troeger, K. A., Sprague, B. L., Herschorn, S. D., & Winer, I. H. (2019). Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screening: Patterns Among Women With Medicaid and Commercial Insurance. Am J Prev Med, 57(3), 394-402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.010
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., & Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 68(6), 394-424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492
- Brenner, D. R., Poirier, A., Woods, R. R., Ellison, L. F., Jean-Michel, B., Alain, A.
 D., Shary Xinyu, Z., Chunhe, Y., Christian, F., Natalie, F., Nathalie, S.-J.,
 Lorraine, S., Donna, T., & Elizabeth, H. (2022). Projected estimates of
 cancer in Canada in 2022. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 194(17),
 E601. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.212097
- Brenner, D. R., Ruan, Y., Shaw, E., O'Sullivan, D., Poirier, A. E., Heer, E.,
 Villeneuve, P. J., Walter, S. D., Friedenreich, C. M., Smith, L., & De, P.
 (2019). Age-standardized cancer-incidence trends in Canada, 1971-2015.
 Cmaj, 191(46), E1262-e1273. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.190355
- Brenner, D. R., Weir, H. K., Demers, A. A., Ellison, L. F., Louzado, C., Shaw, A., Turner, D., Woods, R. R., & Smith, L. M. (2020). Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020. Cmaj, 192(9), E199-e205. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.191292
- Brouwers, M. C., De Vito, C., Bahirathan, L., Carol, A., Carroll, J. C., Cotterchio,
 M., Dobbins, M., Lent, B., Levitt, C., Lewis, N., McGregor, S. E., Paszat, L.,
 Rand, C., & Wathen, N. (2011a). Effective interventions to facilitate the
 uptake of breast, cervical and colorectal cancer screening: an

implementation guideline. Implement Sci, 6, 112. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-112

- Brouwers, M. C., De Vito, C., Bahirathan, L., Carol, A., Carroll, J. C., Cotterchio,
 M., Dobbins, M., Lent, B., Levitt, C., Lewis, N., McGregor, S. E., Paszat, L.,
 Rand, C., & Wathen, N. (2011b). What implementation interventions
 increase cancer screening rates? a systematic review. Implement Sci, 6,
 111. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-6-111
- Buskermolen, M., Cenin, D. R., Helsingen, L. M., Guyatt, G., Vandvik, P. O., Haug, U., Bretthauer, M., & Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I. (2019). Colorectal cancer screening with faecal immunochemical testing, sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy: a microsimulation modelling study. BMJ, 367, I5383. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5383
- Butterly, L. F. (2020). Proven Strategies for Increasing Adherence to Colorectal Cancer Screening. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am, 30(3), 377-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giec.2020.02.003
- Caird, H., Simkin, J., Smith, L., Van Niekerk, D., & Ogilvie, G. (2022). The Path to Eliminating Cervical Cancer in Canada: Past, Present and Future Directions. Curr Oncol, 29(2), 1117-1122. https://doi.org/10.3390/curroncol29020095
- Canadian Cancer Society (n.d.). The colon and rectum. Available at: https://cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-types/colorectal/what-iscolorectal-cancer/the-colon-and-rectum
- Canadian Cancer Society. (2023, August 2023). Survival statistics for colorectal cancer. Canadian Cancer Society. Retrieved October 15 from https://cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancertypes/colorectal/prognosis-and-survival/survival-statistics

- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. (2019). Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019. C. C. Society. cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2019-EN
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. (2020a). Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019. Canadian Cancer Society. http://cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2019-EN
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. (2020b). Canadian Cancer Statistics: A 2020 special report. Canadian Cancer Society. http://cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2020-EN
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. (2022). Canadian Cancer Statistics 2020. Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee.
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. (2023). Canadian Cancer Statistics 2023. Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2017a). Breast Cancer Screening in Canada: Monitoring and Evaluation of Quality Indicators - Results Report, January 2011 to December 2012. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2017b). Colorectal Cancer Screening in Canada: Monitoring & Evaluation of Quality Indicators - Results Report, January 2013 – December 2014. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. https://s22457.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Colorectal-Screening-Monitoring-Report-2014-EN.pdf
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2019). Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control, 2019-2029. https://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/aboutus/corporate-strategic-document/canadian-strategy-for-cancer-control/

- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2020). Colorectal Screening in Canada: 2019/2020 Environmental Scan.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2021). Colorectal Screening in Canada: 2019/2020 Environmental Scan.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. (2023). Cervical cancer screening in Canada 2021/2022. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. https://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/topics/cervical-cancer-screeningin-canada-2021-2022/key-highlights/response-covid-19/
- Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. (2016). Recommendations on screening for colorectal cancer in primary care. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 188(5), 340-348. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.151125
- Chaput, G., Del Giudice, M. E., & Kucharski, E. (2021). Cancer screening in
 Canada: What's in, what's out, what's coming. Canadian family physician
 Medecin de famille canadien, 67(1), 27–29.
 https://doi.org/10.46747/cfp.670127
- Clinton, S. K., Giovannucci, E. L., & Hursting, S. D. (2020). The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research Third Expert Report on Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Cancer: Impact and Future Directions. J Nutr, 150(4), 663-671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz268
- Cobb, S., Ekwegh, T., Adinkrah, E., Ameli, H., Dillard, A., Kibe, L. W., & Bazargan, M. (2022). Examining colorectal cancer screening uptake and health provider recommendations among underserved middle aged and older African Americans. Health Promot Perspect, 12(4), 399-409. https://doi.org/10.34172/hpp.2022.52

Coussens, L. M., & Werb, Z. (2002). Inflammation and cancer. Nature, 420(6917), 860-867. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01322

- Crawford, J., Ahmad, F., Beaton, D., & Bierman, A. S. (2016). Cancer screening behaviours among South Asian immigrants in the UK, US and Canada: a scoping study. Health Soc Care Community, 24(2), 123-153. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12208
- Crouse, A., Sadrzadeh, S. M., de Koning, L., & Naugler, C. (2015). Sociodemographic correlates of fecal immunotesting for colorectal cancer screening. Clin Biochem, 48(3), 105-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.12.004
- Curia, M. C., Catalano, T., & Aceto, G. M. (2020). MUTYH: Not just polyposis. World J Clin Oncol, 11(7), 428-449. https://doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v11.i7.428
- Darren, R. B., Abbey, P., Ryan, R. W., Larry, F. E., Jean-Michel, B., Alain, A. D., Shary Xinyu, Z., Chunhe, Y., Christian, F., Natalie, F., Nathalie, S.-J., Lorraine, S., Donna, T., & Elizabeth, H. (2022). Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2022. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 194(17), E601. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.212097
- Darvishian, M., Moustaqim-Barrette, A., Awadalla, P., Bhatti, P., Broet, P., McDonald, K., Murphy, R. A., Skead, K., Urquhart, R., Vena, J., & Dummer, T. J. B. (2023). Provincial variation in colorectal cancer screening adherence in Canada; evidence from the Canadian Partnership for Tomorrow's Health [Original Research]. Frontiers in Oncology, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2023.1113907
- Daskalakis, C., DiCarlo, M., Hegarty, S., Gudur, A., Vernon, S. W., & Myers, R. E. (2020). Predictors of overall and test-specific colorectal Cancer screening

adherence. Preventive Medicine, 133, 106022. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106022

- Davis, M. M., Freeman, M., Shannon, J., Coronado, G. D., Stange, K. C., Guise, J. M., Wheeler, S. B., & Buckley, D. I. (2018). A systematic review of clinic and community intervention to increase fecal testing for colorectal cancer in rural and low-income populations in the United States How, what and when? BMC Cancer, 18(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-017-3813-4
- Dawidowicz, S., Le Breton, J., Moscova, L., Renard, V., Bercier, S., Brixi, Z., Audureau, E., Clerc, P., Bastuji-Garin, S., & Ferrat, E. (2020). Predictive factors for non-participation or partial participation in breast, cervical and colorectal cancer screening programmes[†]. Fam Pract, 37(1), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmz031
- Day, B., Langlois, R., Tremblay, M., & Knoppers, B. M. (2007). Canadian Health Measures Survey: ethical, legal and social issues. Health Rep, 18 Suppl, 37-51.
- Decker, K., Demers, A., Chateau, D., Musto, G., Nugent, Z., Lotocki, R., & Harrison, M. (2009). Papanicolaou test utilization and frequency of screening opportunities among women diagnosed with cervical cancer. Open Med, 3(3), e140-147.
- Decker, K. M., Feely, A., Bucher, O., Singh, H., Turner, D., & Lambert, P. (2022). Evaluating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer screening in a central Canadian province. Preventive Medicine, 155, 106961. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.106961
- Decker, K. M., Lambert, P., Bravo, J., Demers, A., & Singh, H. (2023). Time Trends in Colorectal Cancer Incidence From 1992 to 2016 and Colorectal
Cancer Mortality From 1980 to 2018 by Age Group and Geography in Canada. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG, 118(2), 338-344. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000002058

- Denis, B., Ruetsch, M., Strentz, P., Vogel, J. Y., Guth, F., Boyaval, J. M., Pagnon, X., Ebelin, J. F., Gendre, I., & Perrin, P. (2007). Short term outcomes of the first round of a pilot colorectal cancer screening programme with guaiac based faecal occult blood test. Gut, 56(11), 1579-1584. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2007.126037
- Domper-Arnal, M. J., Hijos-Mallada, G., & Lanas, Á. (2022). The impact of COVID-19 pandemic in the diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer patients. Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology, 15, 17562848221117636. https://doi.org/10.1177/17562848221117636

Doubeni, Chyke (2023). Screening for colorectal cancer: Strategies in patients at average risk. UpToDate. Available at https://www.uptodate.com/contents/screening-for-colorectal-cancerstrategies-in-patients-at-average-risk#H29334890

- Doyle, G. P., Major, D., Chu, C., Stankiewicz, A., Harrison, M. L., Pogany, L., Mai, V. M., & Onysko, J. (2011). A review of screening mammography participation and utilization in Canada. Chronic Dis Inj Can, 31(4), 152-156.
- Durand, M. A., Lamouroux, A., Redmond, N. M., Rotily, M., Bourmaud, A., Schott,
 A. M., Auger-Aubin, I., Frachon, A., Exbrayat, C., Balamou, C., Gimenez,
 L., Grosclaude, P., Moumjid, N., Haesebaert, J., Massy, H. D., Bardes, J.,
 Touzani, R., Diant, L., Casanova, C., Seitz, J. F., Mancini, J., & Delpierre,
 C. (2021). Impact of a health literacy intervention combining general
 practitioner training and a consumer facing intervention to improve

colorectal cancer screening in underserved areas: protocol for a multicentric cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health, 21(1), 1684. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11565-3

- Eisinger, F., Cals, L., Calazel-Benque, A., Blay, J. Y., Coscas, Y., Dolbeault, S., Namer, M., Pivot, X., Rixe, O., Serin, D., Roussel, C., & Morère, J. F. (2008). Impact of organised programs on colorectal cancer screening. BMC Cancer, 8, 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-8-104
- Ellison, L. F., & Saint-Jacques, N. (2023). Five-year cancer survival by stage at diagnosis in Canada. (Health Reports, Issue. S. Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2023001/article/00001eng.htm
- Emily, H., Yibing, R., Devon, J. B., Tamer, N. J., Daniel, H., Jan-Willem, H., Donald, M. M., Dylan, E. O. S., Winson, Y. C., & Darren, R. B. (2023).
 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer diagnoses, stage and survival in Alberta. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 195(23), E804. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.221512
- Farr, D. E., Cofie, L. E., Brenner, A. T., Bell, R. A., & Reuland, D. S. (2022). Sociodemographic correlates of colorectal cancer screening completion among women adherent to mammography screening guidelines by place of birth. BMC Womens Health, 22(1), 125. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-022-01694-1
- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., Parkin, D. M., Forman, D., & Bray, F. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer, 136(5), E359-386. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29210

- Forbes, G. M., Mendelson, R. M., Edwards, J. T., Foster, N. M., Pawlik, J. Z., Brampton, P. A., Voyvodic, F., Upton, J., Macrae, F. A., Stella, D., Viney, B., Pizzey, C. J., Fritschi, L., & Heyworth, J. (2006). A comparison of colorectal neoplasia screening tests: A multicentre community-based study of the impact of consumer choice. Medical Journal of Australia, 184(11), 546-550. https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2006.tb00377.x
- Gheorghe, A., Maringe, C., Spice, J., Purushotham, A., Chalkidou, K., Rachet, B., Sullivan, R., & Aggarwal, A. (2021). Economic impact of avoidable cancer deaths caused by diagnostic delay during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national population-based modelling study in England, UK. Eur J Cancer, 152, 233-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2021.04.019
- Gimeno García, A. Z. (2012). Factors influencing colorectal cancer screening participation. Gastroenterol Res Pract, 2012, 483417. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/483417
- Gouvernement du Québec (2024). Colorectal cancer screening (colon and rectum). Available at https://www.quebec.ca/en/health/advice-and-prevention/screening-and-carrier-testing-offer/colorectal-cancer-screening
- Graser, A., Stieber, P., Nagel, D., Schafer, C., Horst, D., Becker, C. R., Nikolaou,
 K., Lottes, A., Geisbusch, S., Kramer, H., Wagner, A. C., Diepolder, H.,
 Schirra, J., Roth, H. J., Seidel, D., Goke, B., Reiser, M. F., & Kolligs, F. T.
 (2009). Comparison of CT colonography, colonoscopy, sigmoidoscopy and
 faecal occult blood tests for the detection of advanced adenoma in an
 average risk population. Gut, 58(2), 241-248.
 https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gut.2008.156448

- Greten, F. R., & Grivennikov, S. I. (2019). Inflammation and Cancer: Triggers, Mechanisms, and Consequences. Immunity, 51(1), 27-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025
- Grobbee, E. J., van der Vlugt, M., van Vuuren, A. J., Stroobants, A. K., Mundt, M. W., Spijker, W. J., Bongers, E. J. C., Kuipers, E. J., Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I., Bossuyt, P. M., Dekker, E., & Spaander, M. C. W. (2017). A randomised comparison of two faecal immunochemical tests in population-based colorectal cancer screening. Gut, 66(11), 1975-1982. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2016-311819
- Hay, J. L., Ramos, M., Li, Y., Holland, S., Brennessel, D., & Kemeny, M. M. (2016). Deliberative and intuitive risk perceptions as predictors of colorectal cancer screening over time. J Behav Med, 39(1), 65-74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9667-9
- Heresbach, D., Djabbari, M., Riou, F., Marcus, C., Le Sidaner, A., Pierredon-Foulogne, M. A., Ponchon, T., Boudiaf, M., Seyrig, J. A., Laumonier, H., Luet, D., Giraud-Cohen, M., Pelletier, A. L., Charachon, A., Ramaholimihaso, F., Bouillet, P., Veyrac, M., Ficarelli, S., Vahedi, K., Keruhel, J., Lamouliatte, H., Ridereau-Zins, C., Bouhnik, Y., Tissier, M., Diris, B., Zagdanski, A. M., Josselin, J. M., Hamonic, S., & Gandon, Y. (2011). Accuracy of computed tomographic colonography in a nationwide multicentre trial, and its relation to radiologist expertise. Gut, 60(5), 658-665. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gut.2010.225623
- Hol, L., van Leerdam, M. E., van Ballegooijen, M., van Vuuren, A. J., van Dekken,
 H., Reijerink, J. C., van der Togt, A. C., Habbema, J. D., & Kuipers, E. J.
 (2010). Screening for colorectal cancer: randomised trial comparing
 guaiac-based and immunochemical faecal occult blood testing and flexible

sigmoidoscopy. Gut, 59(1), 62-68. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2009.177089

- Honein-AbouHaidar, G. N., Baxter, N. N., Moineddin, R., Urbach, D. R.,
 Rabeneck, L., & Bierman, A. S. (2013). Trends and inequities in colorectal cancer screening participation in Ontario, Canada, 2005-2011. Cancer
 Epidemiol, 37(6), 946-956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2013.04.007
- Horshauge, P. M., Gabel, P., Larsen, M. B., Kirkegaard, P., Edwards, A., & Andersen, B. (2020). The association between health literacy and colorectal cancer screening uptake in a publicly funded screening program in Denmark: Cross-sectional study. Preventive Medicine Reports, 19, 101132. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101132
- Inadomi, J. M., Issaka, R. B., & Green, B. B. (2021). What Multilevel Interventions Do We Need to Increase the Colorectal Cancer Screening Rate to 80%? Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 19(4), 633-645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2019.12.016
- Issaka, R. B., Avila, P., Whitaker, E., Bent, S., & Somsouk, M. (2019). Population health interventions to improve colorectal cancer screening by fecal immunochemical tests: A systematic review. Prev Med, 118, 113-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.10.021
- Ishii, K., Tabuchi, T., & Iso, H. (2021). Combined patterns of participation in cervical, breast, and colorectal cancer screenings and factors for nonparticipation in each screening among women in Japan. Preventive Medicine, 150, 106627. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106627

- Janz, N. K., Wren, P. A., Schottenfeld, D., & Guire, K. E. (2003). Colorectal cancer screening attitudes and behavior: a population-based study. Prev Med, 37(6 Pt 1), 627-634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.09.016
- Jin, S. W., Lee, H. Y., & Lee, J. (2019). Analyzing Factors of Breast Cancer Screening Adherence among Korean American Women Using Andersen's Behavioral Model of Healthcare Services Utilization. *Ethnicity & disease*, *29*(Suppl 2), 427–434. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.29.S2.427
- Jin, S. W., Yun Lee, H., & Lee, J. (2019). Analyzing factors enabling colorectal cancer screening adherence in Korean Americans using the Andersen's Behavioral Model of Health Services Utilization. *Journal of psychosocial oncology*, *37*(6), 729–745. https://doi.org/10.1080/07347332.2019.1608347
- Jung, Y. S. (2020). Strategies to Increase the Participation Rate of Colorectal Cancer Screening. Gut Liver, 14(3), 277-278. https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl20110
- Kim, E. C., & Lance, P. (1997). Colorectal polyps and their relationship to cancer. Gastroenterology Clinics, 26(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-8553(05)70280-6
- Kiviniemi, M. T., Bennett, A., Zaiter, M., & Marshall, J. R. (2011). Individual-level factors in colorectal cancer screening: a review of the literature on the relation of individual-level health behavior constructs and screening behavior. Psychooncology, 20(10), 1023-1033. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.1865
- Klabunde, C. N., Vernon, S. W., Nadel, M. R., Breen, N., Seeff, L. C., & Brown, M. L. (2005). Barriers to colorectal cancer screening: a comparison of reports

from primary care physicians and average-risk adults. Med Care, 43(9), 939-944. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000173599.67470.ba

- Knudsen, A. B., Rutter, C. M., Peterse, E. F. P., Lietz, A. P., Seguin, C. L., Meester, R. G. S., Perdue, L. A., Lin, J. S., Siegel, R. L., Doria-Rose, V. P., Feuer, E. J., Zauber, A. G., Kuntz, K. M., & Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I. (2021). Colorectal Cancer Screening: An Updated Modeling Study for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA, 325(19), 1998-2011. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.5746
- Kobayashi, L. C., Wardle, J., & von Wagner, C. (2014). Limited health literacy is a barrier to colorectal cancer screening in England: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Prev Med, 61(100), 100-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.11.012
- Kregting, L. M., Olthof, E. M. G., Breekveldt, E. C. H., Aitken, C. A., Heijnsdijk, E.
 A. M., Toes-Zoutendijk, E., de Koning, H. J., & van Ravesteyn, N. T.
 (2022). Concurrent participation in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening in the Netherlands. Eur J Cancer, 175, 180-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2022.08.018
- Kruse-Diehr, A. J., Cegelka, D., Holtsclaw, E., Stapleton, J., Burnett, C., Wood, R., Combs, C., & Williams, L. B. (2023). Barriers and Facilitators to Stool-Based Screening for Colorectal Cancer Among Black Louisville Residents. J Cancer Educ, 38(3), 1050-1058. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-022-02231-2
- Kurani, S. S., McCoy, R. G., Lampman, M. A., Doubeni, C. A., Finney Rutten, L.J., Inselman, J. W., Giblon, R. E., Bunkers, K. S., Stroebel, R. J., Rushlow,D., Chawla, S. S., & Shah, N. D. (2020). Association of NeighborhoodMeasures of Social Determinants of Health With Breast, Cervical, and

Colorectal Cancer Screening Rates in the US Midwest. JAMA Netw Open, 3(3), e200618. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0618

- Leddin, D., Lieberman, D. A., Tse, F., Barkun, A. N., Abou-Setta, A. M., Marshall, J. K., Samadder, N. J., Singh, H., Telford, J. J., Tinmouth, J., Wilkinson, A. N., & Leontiadis, G. I. (2018). Clinical Practice Guideline on Screening for Colorectal Cancer in Individuals With a Family History of Nonhereditary Colorectal Cancer or Adenoma: The Canadian Association of Gastroenterology Banff Consensus. Gastroenterology, 155(5), 1325-1347.e1323. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.017
- Leddin, D. J., Enns, R., Hilsden, R., Plourde, V., Rabeneck, L., Sadowski, D. C., & Signh, H. (2010). Canadian Association of Gastroenterology position statement on screening individuals at average risk for developing colorectal cancer: 2010. Can J Gastroenterol, 24(12), 705-714. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/683171
- Lee, Y. S., Roh, S., Moon, H., Lee, K. H., McKinley, C., & LaPlante, K. (2020). Andersen's Behavioral Model to Identify Correlates of Breast Cancer Screening Behaviors among Indigenous Women. *Journal of evidence-based social work (2019)*, *17*(1), 117–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/26408066.2019.1650316
- Lee, J., Ewing, B., & Holmes, D. (2023). Barriers and Facilitators to Colorectal Cancer Screening in South Asian Immigrants: A Systematic Review. Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP, 24(5), 1463–1475. https://doi.org/10.31557/APJCP.2023.24.5.1463
- Levin, B., Lieberman, D. A., McFarland, B., Smith, R. A., Brooks, D., Andrews, K.S., Dash, C., Giardiello, F. M., Glick, S., Levin, T. R., Pickhardt, P., Rex, D.K., Thorson, A., & Winawer, S. J. (2008). Screening and surveillance for

the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 58(3), 130-160. https://doi.org/10.3322/ca.2007.0018

- Levin, T. R., Corley, D. A., Jensen, C. D., Schottinger, J. E., Quinn, V. P., Zauber, A. G., Lee, J. K., Zhao, W. K., Udaltsova, N., Ghai, N. R., Lee, A. T., Quesenberry, C. P., Fireman, B. H., & Doubeni, C. A. (2018). Effects of Organized Colorectal Cancer Screening on Cancer Incidence and Mortality in a Large Community-Based Population. Gastroenterology, 155(5), 1383-1391.e1385. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.017
- Lew, J.-B., St John, D. J. B., Macrae, F. A., Emery, J. D., Ee, H. C., Jenkins, M. A., He, E., Grogan, P., Caruana, M., Sarfati, D., Greuter, M. J. E., Coupe, V. M. H., & Canfell, K. (2018). Evaluation of the benefits, harms and cost-effectiveness of potential alternatives to iFOBT testing for colorectal cancer screening in Australia. International journal of cancer, 143(2), 269-282. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31314
- Li, H., Boakye, D., Chen, X., Hoffmeister, M., & Brenner, H. (2021). Association of Body Mass Index With Risk of Early-Onset Colorectal Cancer: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Gastroenterol, 116(11), 2173-2183. https://doi.org/10.14309/ajg.00000000001393
- Liles, E. G., Perrin, N., Rosales, A. G., Feldstein, A. C., Smith, D. H., Mosen, D. M., & Schneider, J. L. (2012). Change to FIT increased CRC screening rates: evaluation of a US screening outreach program. *The American journal of managed care*, *18*(10), 588–595.

- Lin, I. P., Chung, D. T., Lee, L. Y., Hsu, H. J., & Chen, S. C. (2020). Health Belief, Behavior Intention, and Health Behaviors Related to Colorectal Cancer Screening in Taiwan. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 17(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124246
- Lo, S. H., Halloran, S., Snowball, J., Seaman, H., Wardle, J., & von Wagner, C. (2015). Colorectal cancer screening uptake over three biennial invitation rounds in the English bowel cancer screening programme. Gut, 64(2), 282-291. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2013-306144
- Lo, S. H., Waller, J., Wardle, J., & von Wagner, C. (2013). Comparing barriers to colorectal cancer screening with barriers to breast and cervical screening: a population-based survey of screening-age women in Great Britain. J Med Screen, 20(2), 73-79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969141313492508
- Loda, M., Mucci, L. A., Mittelstadt, M. L., Van Hemelrijck, M., & Cotter, M. B. (Eds.). (2017). Pathology and Epidemiology of Cancer. Springer International Publishing.
- Lofters, A. K., McBride, M. L., Li, D., Whitehead, M., Moineddin, R., Jiang, L., Grunfeld, E., & Groome, P. A. (2019). Disparities in breast cancer diagnosis for immigrant women in Ontario and BC: results from the CanIMPACT study. BMC Cancer, 19(1), 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-5201-0
- Lofters, A. K., Moineddin, R., Hwang, S. W., & Glazier, R. H. (2011). Predictors of low cervical cancer screening among immigrant women in Ontario, Canada. BMC Womens Health, 11, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6874-11-20

- Lofters, A. K., Ng, R., & Lobb, R. (2015). Primary care physician characteristics associated with cancer screening: a retrospective cohort study in Ontario, Canada. Cancer Med, 4(2), 212-223. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.358
- Lofters, A. K., Schuler, A., Slater, M., Baxter, N. N., Persaud, N., Pinto, A. D., Kucharski, E., Davie, S., Nisenbaum, R., & Kiran, T. (2017). Using selfreported data on the social determinants of health in primary care to identify cancer screening disparities: opportunities and challenges. BMC Fam Pract, 18(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-017-0599-z
- Logan, R. F., Patnick, J., Nickerson, C., Coleman, L., Rutter, M. D., & von Wagner, C. (2012). Outcomes of the Bowel Cancer Screening Programme (BCSP) in England after the first 1 million tests. Gut, 61(10), 1439-1446. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300843
- Loomans-Kropp, H. A., & Umar, A. (2019). Increasing Incidence of Colorectal Cancer in Young Adults. J Cancer Epidemiol, 2019, 9841295. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/9841295
- Loraine D. Marrett, P., Prithwish De, M. P., Parisa Airia, M. D. M., & Dagny Dryer,
 M. D. (2008). Cancer in Canada in 2008. Canadian Medical Association
 Journal, 179(11), 1163. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.080760
- Lu, M., Moritz, S., Lorenzetti, D., Sykes, L., Straus, S., & Quan, H. (2012). A systematic review of interventions to increase breast and cervical cancer screening uptake among Asian women. BMC Public Health, 12(1), 413. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-413
- Major, D., Armstrong, D., Bryant, H., Cheung, W., Decker, K., Doyle, G., Mai, V., McLachlin, C. M., Niu, J., Payne, J., & Shukla, N. (2015). Recent trends in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening test utilization in Canada,

using self-reported data from 2008 and 2012. Curr Oncol, 22(4), 297-302. https://doi.org/10.3747/co.22.2690

- Major, D., Bryant, H., Delaney, M., Fekete, S., Gentile, L., Harrison, M., Mai, V., Nicholson, E., & Taylor, Y. (2013). Colorectal cancer screening in Canada: results from the first round of screening for five provincial programs [Article]. Current Oncology, 20(5), 252-257. https://doi.org/10.3747/co.20.1646
- Mansouri, D., McMillan, D. C., Grant, Y., Crighton, E. M., & Horgan, P. G. (2013). The impact of age, sex and socioeconomic deprivation on outcomes in a colorectal cancer screening programme. PLoS ONE, 8(6), e66063. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066063
- Maroun, J., Ng, E., Berthelot, J. M., Le Petit, C., Dahrouge, S., Flanagan, W. M.,
 Walker, H., & Evans, W. K. (2003). Lifetime costs of colon and rectal cancer management in Canada. Chronic Dis Can, 24(4), 91-101.
- Mazidimoradi, A., Tiznobaik, A., & Salehiniya, H. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Colorectal Cancer Screening: a Systematic Review. J Gastrointest Cancer, 53(3), 730-744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-021-00679-x
- McCowan, C., McSkimming, P., Papworth, R., Kotzur, M., McConnachie, A.,
 Macdonald, S., Wyke, S., Crighton, E., Campbell, C., Weller, D., Steele, R.
 J. C., & Robb, K. A. (2019). Comparing uptake across breast, cervical and bowel screening at an individual level: a retrospective cohort study. Br J Cancer, 121(8), 710-714. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0564-9
- Mendivil, J., Appierto, M., Aceituno, S., Comas, M., & Rué, M. (2019). Economic evaluations of screening strategies for the early detection of colorectal cancer in the average-risk population: A systematic literature review. PLoS

ONE, 14(12), e0227251. https://doi.org/10.1371 Lin /journal.pone.0227251

- Moattar, M., Roozitalab, M., Gholamzadeh, S., Firoozi, M. S., & Zare, N. (2014). Practical Application of Health Belief Model to Enhance the Uptake of Colorectal Cancer Screening. Journal of community medicine & health education, 2014.
- Mohan, G., & Chattopadhyay, S. (2020). Cost-effectiveness of Leveraging Social Determinants of Health to Improve Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screening: A Systematic Review. JAMA Oncol, 6(9), 1434-1444. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.1460
- Morgan, E., Arnold, M., Gini, A., Lorenzoni, V., Cabasag, C. J., Laversanne, M., Vignat, J., Ferlay, J., Murphy, N., & Bray, F. (2023). Global burden of colorectal cancer in 2020 and 2040: incidence and mortality estimates from GLOBOCAN. Gut, 72(2), 338. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2022-327736
- Nagata, K., Endo, S., Honda, T., Yasuda, T., Hirayama, M., Takahashi, S., Kato, T., Horita, S., Furuya, K., Kasai, K., Matsumoto, H., Kimura, Y., Utano, K., Sugimoto, H., Kato, H., Yamada, R., Yamamichi, J., Shimamoto, T., Ryu, Y., Matsui, O., Kondo, H., Doi, A., Abe, T., Yamano, H.-O., Takeuchi, K., Hanai, H., Saida, Y., Fukuda, K., Nappi, J., & Yoshida, H. (2017). Accuracy of CT Colonography for Detection of Polypoid and Nonpolypoid Neoplasia by Gastroenterologists and Radiologists: A Nationwide Multicenter Study in Japan. Am J Gastroenterol, 112(1), 163-171. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2016.478
- Nascimento de Lima, P., van den Puttelaar, R., Hahn, A. I., Harlass, M., Collier, N., Ozik, J., Zauber, A. G., Lansdorp-Vogelaar, I., & Rutter, C. M. (2023).

Projected long-term effects of colorectal cancer screening disruptions following the COVID-19 pandemic. eLife, 12, e85264. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.85264

- Njor, S. H., Søborg, B., Tranberg, M., & Rebolj, M. (2023). Concurrent participation in breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening programmes in Denmark: A nationwide registry-based study. Prev Med, 167, 107405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107405
- Niederreiter, M., Niederreiter, L., Schmiderer, A., Tilg, H., & Djanani, A. (2019).
 Colorectal cancer screening and prevention—pros and cons. memo Magazine of European Medical Oncology, 12(3), 239-243.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12254-019-00520-z
- Nova Scotia Health Authority. (2017). Annual Report 2016-2017. N. S. H. Authority. https://www.nshealth.ca/AnnualReport2016-17/NSHA-Annual-Report-2016-17-web.pdf
- Ontario Health (Cancer Care Ontario) (2020). Cancer Fact: Colorectal cancer rates expected to climb again in the future. March. Available at cancercareontario.ca/cancerfacts.
- O'Sullivan, D., Ruan, Y., Cheung, W., Forbes, N., Heitman, S., Hilsden, R., & Brenner, D. (2022). Early-Onset Colorectal Cancer Incidence, Staging, and Mortality in Canada: Implications for Population-Based Screening. The American Journal of Gastroenterology,, 117(9), 1502-1507. https://doi.org/doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000001884
- Park, B., Lee, Y. Y., Song, S. Y., Shin, H. Y., Suh, M., Choi, K. S., & Jun, J. K. (2022). Trends of Colorectal Cancer Screening Rates in Korea: Korean National Cancer Screening Survey 2005-2020. Gut Liver, 16(6), 930-941. https://doi.org/10.5009/gnl210419

- Peris, M., Espinàs, J. A., Muñoz, L., Navarro, M., Binefa, G., & Borràs, J. M. (2007). Lessons learnt from a population-based pilot programme for colorectal cancer screening in Catalonia (Spain). J Med Screen, 14(2), 81-86. https://doi.org/10.1258/096914107781261936
- Pilonis, N., Bugajski, M., Wieszczy, P., Pisera, M., Rupinski, M., Pawlak, E., Regula, J., & Kaminski, M. F. (2020). Participation in competing strategies for colorectal cancer screening-a randomized health services study within the national screening program in Poland (piccolino study). 8(8 SUPPL), 23-24. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640620927344
- Portero de la Cruz, S., & Cebrino, J. (2023). Uptake patterns and predictors of colorectal cancer screening among adults resident in Spain: A populationbased study from 2017 to 2020. Front Public Health, 11, 1151225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1151225
- Portillo, I., Arana-Arri, E., Gutiérrez-Ibarluzea, I., Bilbao, I., Luis Hurtado, J., Sarasqueta, C., Idigoras, I., & Bujanda, L. (2018). Factors related to the participation and detection of lesions in colorectal cancer screening programme-based faecal immunochemical test. Eur J Public Health, 28(6), 1143-1148. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cky109
- Rabeneck, L., Paszat, L. F., Hilsden, R. J., Saskin, R., Leddin, D., Grunfeld, E.,
 Wai, E., Goldwasser, M., Sutradhar, R., & Stukel, T. A. (2008). Bleeding and Perforation After Outpatient Colonoscopy and Their Risk Factors in Usual Clinical Practice. Gastroenterology, 135(6), 1899-1906.e1891. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2008.08.058
- Rabeneck, L., Tinmouth, J. M., Paszat, L. F., Baxter, N. N., Marrett, L. D., Ruco,A., Lewis, N., & Gao, J. (2014). Ontario's ColonCancerCheck: Results fromCanada's First Province-Wide Colorectal Cancer Screening Program. Cancer

Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention, 23(3), 508-515. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-13-0956

- Rafferty A., Walthery P., King-Hele S. (2015). Analysing change over time: repeated cross sectional and longitudinal survey data. UK Data Service. University of Essex and University of Manchester.
- Ramos, M. C., Passone, J. A. L., Lopes, A. C. F., Safatle-Ribeiro, A. V., Ribeiro Júnior, U., & de Soárez, P. C. (2023). Economic evaluations of colorectal cancer screening: A systematic review and quality assessment. Clinics (Sao Paulo), 78, 100203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinsp.2023.100203
- Rat, C., Latour, C., Rousseau, R., Gaultier, A., Pogu, C., Edwards, A., & Nguyen,
 J. M. (2018). Interventions to increase uptake of faecal tests for colorectal cancer screening: a systematic review. Eur J Cancer Prev, 27(3), 227-236. https://doi.org/10.1097/cej.00000000000344
- Rawla, P., Sunkara, T., & Barsouk, A. (2019). Epidemiology of colorectal cancer: incidence, mortality, survival, and risk factors. Przeglad gastroenterologiczny, 14(2), 89-103. https://doi.org/10.5114/pg.2018.81072
- Rebolj, M., Parmar, D., Maroni, R., Blyuss, O., & Duffy, S. W. (2020). Concurrent participation in screening for cervical, breast, and bowel cancer in England. J Med Screen, 27(1), 9-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969141319871977
- Richards, M., Anderson, M., Carter, P., Ebert, B. L., & Mossialos, E. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer care. Nat Cancer, 1(6), 565-567. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43018-020-0074-y

- Roos, L. L., & Nicol, J. P. (1999). A research registry: uses, development, and accuracy. J Clin Epidemiol, 52(1), 39-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0895-4356(98)00126-7
- Ruan, Y., Poirier, A., Yong, J., Garner, R., Sun, Z., Than, J., & Brenner, D. R. (2023). Long-term projections of cancer incidence and mortality in Canada: The OncoSim All Cancers Model. Prev Med, 168, 107425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2023.107425
- Rustgi, A. K. (2007). The genetics of hereditary colon cancer. Genes Dev, 21(20), 2525-2538. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1593107
- Sabatino, S. A., Lawrence, B., Elder, R., Mercer, S. L., Wilson, K. M., DeVinney, B., Melillo, S., Carvalho, M., Taplin, S., Bastani, R., Rimer, B. K., Vernon, S. W., Melvin, C. L., Taylor, V., Fernandez, M., & Glanz, K. (2012).
 Effectiveness of interventions to increase screening for breast, cervical, and colorectal cancers: nine updated systematic reviews for the guide to community preventive services. Am J Prev Med, 43(1), 97-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.04.009
- Sabatino, S. A., White, M. C., Thompson, T. D., & Klabunde, C. N. (2015). Cancer screening test use - United States, 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 64(17), 464-468.
- Sanmartin, C., Decady, Y., Trudeau, R., Dasylva, A., Tjepkema, M., Finès, P., Burnett, R., Ross, N., & Manuel, D. G. (2016). Linking the Canadian Community Health Survey and the Canadian Mortality Database: An enhanced data source for the study of mortality. Health Rep, 27(12), 10-18.

- Schneeweiss, S., & Avorn, J. (2005). A review of uses of health care utilization databases for epidemiologic research on therapeutics. J Clin Epidemiol, 58(4), 323-337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.10.012
- Schoenborn, N. L., Xue, Q. L., Pollack, C. E., Janssen, E. M., Bridges, J. F. P., Wolff, A. C., & Boyd, C. M. (2019). Demographic, health, and attitudinal factors predictive of cancer screening decisions in older adults. Prev Med Rep, 13, 244-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.01.007
- Senore, C., Correale, L., Regge, D., Hassan, C., Iussich, G., Silvani, M., Arrigoni, A., Morra, L., & Segnan, N. (2018). Flexible Sigmoidoscopy and CT
 Colonography Screening: Patients' Experience with and Factors for
 Undergoing Screening-Insight from the Proteus Colon Trial. Radiology, 286(3), 873-883.
 https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2017170228
- Shen, S., Lofters, A., Tinmouth, J., Paszat, L., Rabeneck, L., & Glazier, R. H. (2018). Predictors of non-adherence to colorectal cancer screening among immigrants to Ontario, Canada: a population-based study. Preventive Medicine, 111, 180-189. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.03.002
- Shi, F., Shaver, L. G., Kong, Y., Yi, Y., Aubrey-Bassler, K., Asghari, S., Etchegary, H., Adefemi, K., & Wang, P. P. (2020). Sociodemographics and their impacts on risk factor awareness and beliefs about cancer and screening: results from a cross-sectional study in Newfoundland and Labrador. BMC Public Health, 20(1), 1513. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09616-2
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., Goding Sauer, A., Fedewa, S. A., Butterly, L. F., Anderson, J. C., Cercek, A., Smith, R. A., & Jemal, A. (2020). Colorectal

cancer statistics, 2020. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 70(3), 145-164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21601

- Siegel R. L., Wagle N. S., Cercek A. and Smith R. A. (2023) Jemal A. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2023. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2023; 73(3): 233-254. doi:<u>10.3322/caac.21772</u>
- Singh, H., Bernstein, C. N., Samadder, J. N., & Ahmed, R. (2015). Screening rates for colorectal cancer in Canada: a cross-sectional study. CMAJ Open, 3(2), E149-157. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo.20140073
- Siu, A. L. (2016). Screening for Breast Cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. Ann Intern Med, 164(4), 279-296. https://doi.org/10.7326/m15-2886
- Smith, R. A., Andrews, K. S., Brooks, D., Fedewa, S. A., Manassaram-Baptiste, D., Saslow, D., & Wender, R. C. (2019). Cancer screening in the United States, 2019: A review of current American Cancer Society guidelines and current issues in cancer screening. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 69(3), 184-210. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21557
- Sofic, A., Beslic, S., Kocijancic, I., & Sehovic, N. (2010). CT colonography in detection of colorectal carcinoma. Radiology and Oncology, 44(1), 19-23. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10019-010-0012-1
- Song, M., Garrett, W. S., & Chan, A. T. (2015). Nutrients, foods, and colorectal cancer prevention. Gastroenterology, 148(6), 1244-1260.e1216. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.12.035
- Statistics Canada. (2010). Canadian Community Health Survey Annual Component (CCHS) 2010.

- Statistics Canada. (2017). Canadian Community Health Survey Annual Component (CCHS) 2017.
- Stoop, E. M., de Haan, M. C., de Wijkerslooth, T. R., Bossuyt, P. M., van Ballegooijen, M., Nio, C. Y., van de Vijver, M. J., Biermann, K., Thomeer, M., van Leerdam, M. E., Fockens, P., Stoker, J., Kuipers, E. J., Dekker, E., Stoop, E. M., de Haan, M. C., de Wijkerslooth, T. R., Bossuyt, P. M., van Ballegooijen, M., & Nio, C. Y. (2012). Participation and yield of colonoscopy versus non-cathartic CT colonography in population-based screening for colorectal cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncology, 13 1077-4114 (Print)(1), 55-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70283-2
- Strate, L. L., & Syngal, S. (2005). Hereditary colorectal cancer syndromes. Cancer Causes & Control, 16(3), 201-213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-004-3488-4
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 71(3), 209-249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Tangka, F. K. L., Subramanian, S., Hoover, S., Cariou, C., Creighton, B., Hobbs, L., Marzano, A., Marcotte, A., Norton, D. D., Kelly-Flis, P., Leypoldt, M., Larkins, T., Poole, M., & Boehm, J. (2022). Improving the efficiency of integrated cancer screening delivery across multiple cancers: case studies from Idaho, Rhode Island, and Nebraska. Implementation Science Communications, 3(1), 133. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-022-00381-4

- Tamura, K., Kaneda, M., Futagawa, M., Takeshita, M., Kim, S., Nakama, M., Kawashita, N., & Tatsumi-Miyajima, J. (2019). Genetic and genomic basis of the mismatch repair system involved in Lynch syndrome. Int J Clin Oncol, 24(9), 999-1011. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10147-019-01494-y
- Tatari, C. R., Andersen, B., Brogaard, T., Badre-Esfahani, S. K., Jaafar, N., & Kirkegaard, P. (2020). Perceptions about cancer and barriers towards cancer screening among ethnic minority women in a deprived area in Denmark – a qualitative study. BMC Public Health, 20(1), 921. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09037-1
- Tinmouth, J., Vella, E. T., Baxter, N. N., Dubé, C., Gould, M., Hey, A., Ismaila, N., McCurdy, B. R., & Paszat, L. (2016). Colorectal Cancer Screening in Average Risk Populations: Evidence Summary. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2016, 2878149. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2878149
- Tomaszewski, M., Sanders, D., Enns, R., Gentile, L., Cowie, S., Nash, C., Petrunia, D., Mullins, P., Hamm, J., Azari-Razm, N., Bykov, D., & Telford, J. (2021). Risks associated with colonoscopy in a population-based colon screening program: an observational cohort study. CMAJ Open, 9(4), E940-e947. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo.20200192
- Tonelli, M., Connor Gorber, S., Joffres, M., Dickinson, J., Singh, H., Lewin, G., Birtwhistle, R., Fitzpatrick-Lewis, D., Hodgson, N., Ciliska, D., Gauld, M., & Liu, Y. Y. (2011). Recommendations on screening for breast cancer in average-risk women aged 40-74 years. Cmaj, 183(17), 1991-2001. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.110334
- Triantafillidis, J. K., Vagianos, C., Gikas, A., Korontzi, M., & Papalois, A. (2017). Screening for colorectal cancer: the role of the primary care physician. Eur

J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 29(1), e1-e7. https://doi.org/10.1097/meg.000000000000759

- Tung, J., Politis, C. E., Chadder, J., Han, J., Niu, J., Fung, S., Rahal, R., & Earle, C. C. (2018). The north-south and east-west gradient in colorectal cancer risk: a look at the distribution of modifiable risk factors and incidence across Canada. Curr Oncol, 25(3), 231-235. https://doi.org/10.3747/co.25.4071
- Unanue-Arza, S., Solís-Ibinagagoitia, M., Díaz-Seoane, M., Mosquera-Metcalfe, I., Idigoras, I., Bilbao, I., & Portillo, I. (2021). Inequalities and risk factors related to non-participation in colorectal cancer screening programmes: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health, 31(2), 346-355. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckaa203
- US Preventive Services Task Force. (2021). Screening for Colorectal Cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA, 325(19), 1965-1977. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.6238
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (2008). Screening for colorectal cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *Annals of internal medicine*, *149*(9), 627–637. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-149-9-200811040-00243
- Vahabi, M., Lofters, A., Kumar, M., & Glazier, R. H. (2016). Breast cancer screening disparities among immigrant women by world region of origin: a population-based study in Ontario, Canada. Cancer Med, 5(7), 1670-1686. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.700
- Vahabi, M., Lofters, A. K., Kopp, A., & Glazier, R. H. (2021). Correlates of nonadherence to breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening among screen-eligible women: a population-based cohort study in Ontario,

Canada. Cancer Causes Control, 32(2), 147-155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-020-01369-y

- van Rossum, L. G., van Rijn, A. F., Laheij, R. J., van Oijen, M. G., Fockens, P., van Krieken, H. H., Verbeek, A. L., Jansen, J. B., & Dekker, E. (2008).
 Random comparison of guaiac and immunochemical fecal occult blood tests for colorectal cancer in a screening population. Gastroenterology, 135(1), 82-90. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.040
- Walker, M. J., Meggetto, O., Gao, J., Espino-Hernández, G., Jembere, N., Bravo, C. A., Rey, M., Aslam, U., Sheppard, A. J., Lofters, A. K., Tammemägi, M. C., Tinmouth, J., Kupets, R., Chiarelli, A. M., & Rabeneck, L. (2021).
 Measuring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on organized cancer screening and diagnostic follow-up care in Ontario, Canada: A provincial, population-based study. Prev Med, 151, 106586.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106586
- Wardle, J., von Wagner, C., Kralj-Hans, I., Halloran, S. P., Smith, S. G., McGregor, L. M., Vart, G., Howe, R., Snowball, J., Handley, G., Logan, R. F., Rainbow, S., Smith, S., Thomas, M. C., Counsell, N., Morris, S., Duffy, S. W., Hackshaw, A., Moss, S., Atkin, W., & Raine, R. (2016). Effects of evidence-based strategies to reduce the socioeconomic gradient of uptake in the English NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme (ASCEND): four cluster-randomised controlled trials. Lancet, 387(10020), 751-759. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(15)01154-x
- Warren Andersen, S., Blot, W. J., Lipworth, L., Steinwandel, M., Murff, H. J., & Zheng, W. (2019). Association of Race and Socioeconomic Status With Colorectal Cancer Screening, Colorectal Cancer Risk, and Mortality in Southern US Adults. JAMA Netw Open, 2(12), e1917995. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.17995

- Wilkinson, A. N., Lieberman, D., Leontiadis, G. I., Tse, F., Barkun, A. N., Abou-Setta, A., Marshall, J. K., Samadder, J., Singh, H., Telford, J. J., Tinmouth, J., & Leddin, D. (2019). Colorectal cancer screening for patients with a family history of colorectal cancer or adenomas. Can Fam Physician, 65(11), 784-789.
- Wilkinson, A. N., Billette, J.-M., Ellison, L. F., Killip, M. A., Islam, N., & Seely, J.
 M. (2022). The Impact of Organised Screening Programs on Breast Cancer
 Stage at Diagnosis for Canadian Women Aged 40–49 and
 50–59. Current Oncology, 29(8), 5627-5643.
- Winawer, S. J., & Zauber, A. G. (2002). The advanced adenoma as the primary target of screening. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am, 12(1), 1-9, v. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1052-5157(03)00053-9
- Winawer, S. J., Zauber, A. G., Ho, M. N., O'Brien, M. J., Gottlieb, L. S., Sternberg, S. S., Waye, J. D., Schapiro, M., Bond, J. H., Panish, J. F., & et al. (1993).
 Prevention of colorectal cancer by colonoscopic polypectomy. The National Polyp Study Workgroup. N Engl J Med, 329(27), 1977-1981. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199312303292701
- World Cancer Research Fund. (2018). Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Cancer: A Global Perspective. Continous Update Project Expert Report 2018. https://wcrf.org/diet-activity-and-cancer/
- Yamagishi, H., Kuroda, H., Imai, Y., & Hiraishi, H. (2016). Molecular pathogenesis of sporadic colorectal cancers. Chin J Cancer, 35, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40880-015-0066-y
- Yong, J. H., & Garner, R. E. (2021). Colorectal cancer screening during the COVID-19 pandemic: Impact of paused screening and evaluation of strategies to reduce delays. S. Canada.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/45-28-0001/2021001/article/00018-eng.pdf?st=KLOV3mDw

- Yong, J. H., Mainprize, J. G., Yaffe, M. J., Ruan, Y., Poirier, A. E., Coldman, A., Nadeau, C., Iragorri, N., Hilsden, R. J., & Brenner, D. R. (2021). The impact of episodic screening interruption: COVID-19 and population-based cancer screening in Canada. Journal of Medical Screening, 28(2), 100-107. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969141320974711
- You, J. J., Liu, Y., Kirby, J., Vora, P., & Moayyedi, P. (2015). Virtual colonoscopy, optical colonoscopy, or fecal occult blood testing for colorectal cancer screening: results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. Trials, 16(101263253), 296. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-0826-7
- Young, G. P., & Cole, S. R. (2009). Which fecal occult blood test is best to screen for colorectal cancer? Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol, 6(3), 140-141. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpgasthep1358
- Zarychanski, R., Chen, Y., Bernstein, C. N., & Hébert, P. C. (2007). Frequency of colorectal cancer screening and the impact of family physicians on screening behaviour. Cmaj, 177(6), 593-597. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.070558
- Zhu, X., Weiser, E., Jacobson, D. J., Griffin, J. M., Limburg, P. J., & Finney Rutten, L. J. (2022). Provider-perceived barriers to patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening. Prev Med Rep, 25, 101681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101681 7

Appendix A: Research Contract/Approval for CCHS Data

Contract number : 21-MAPA-NFLD-7079

MICRODATA RESEARCH CONTRACT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "Contract")

BETWEEN:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA, as represented by the Minister responsible for Statistics Canada,

(Hereinafter referred to as "Statistics Canada"),

AND :

Kazeem Adefemi ;

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Peter Wang ;

Memorial University of Newfoundland

(Hereinafter referred to as Researcher(s))

Each a "Party" and collectively referred to as "Parties".

Recitals

- Paragraph 3(a) of Statistics Act R.S.C. 1985 chapter S-19 (the "Act") mandates Statistics Canada to collect, compile, analyse, abstract and publish statistical information relating to the commercial, industrial, financial, social, economic and general activities and condition of the people;
- Statistics Canada requires the services of the Researcher(s) to perform Special Services
 of statistical research and analysis, as described herein, pursuant to the Act;
- The performance of these Special Services requires that the Researcher(s) has/have access to the Information in Appendix D;
- 4. Subsection 5(3) of the Statistics Act provides that any persons retained under contract to perform Special Services for the Chief Statistician pursuant to the Statistics Act, and the employees and agents of those persons shall, for the purposes of the Statistics Act, be deemed to be employed under the Statistics Act while performing those services;
- Subsection 6(1) of the Statistics Act provides that any person deemed to be employed pursuant to the Statistics Act shall, before entering on his/her duties, take and subscribe the oath or solemn affirmation contained in that subsection;
- 6. To perform these services and to have access to confidential information, the Researcher(s) must become Deemed Employee(s) of Statistics Canada, and is/are required to take the Oath of Secrecy and must adhere to Statistics Canada's security and confidentiality requirements;
- 7. Researchers can also gather and bring into Statistics Canada Premises, Publicly Available

Information required for the purpose of this Contract;

- The Proposed Output and all materials (excluding Other Source Data) brought into Statistics Canada premises (which includes Research Data Centres) by Researcher(s) pursuant to the execution of the Special Services will be subject to the Access to Information Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. A-1 and the Privacy Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. P-21;
- Administrative Data brought into Statistics Canada premises by Researcher(s) pursuant to the execution of the Special Services will be subject to the confidentiality provisions of subsection 17(1) of the Act and subsection 24(1) of the Access to Information Act;
- 10. Statistics Canada wishes to establish the terms and conditions under which the Researcher(s) is/are retained to perform Special Services for the Minister pursuant to the Statistics Act, notably to ensure the appropriate use and the protection of the confidentiality of the Information to which the Researcher(s) may have access during the performance of these Special Services;

NOW THEREFORE the Parties agree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

1.1 Definitions

In this Contract, a capitalized term has the meaning given to it in this section, unless the context indicates otherwise:

"Administrative Data"

For the purpose of this contract, Administrative Data means information that is collected by other organizations and departments of governments and individuals for their own purposes and is brought onto Statistics Canada's premises by a Deemed Employee and sought at the micro or aggregate level by Statistics Canada in respect to the objects of the Statistics Act solely for the purpose of the Special Services. It excludes Publicly Available Information and data held by an individual.

"Deemed Employee"

Deemed Employee means any person, not currently an employee of Statistics Canada, retained to perform Special Services for Statistics Canada pursuant to the *Statistics Act*, for which access to Information protected by the *Statistics Act* is required in order to perform the Special Services.

"Information"

Information means the confidential identifiable microdata provided to Researcher(s) by Statistics Canada and listed in Appendix D, pursuant to this Contract, and statistical aggregates thereof that could directly or indirectly identify a Person.

"Person"

Person means an individual, a corporation incorporated under any Act of Canada or a province or territory, a partnership, an association or an unincorporated business.

"Personal Identifiers"

Personal Identifiers refers to information that may lead to the direct identification of an individual.

"Proposed Output"

Proposed Output means output/work created by Deemed Employee(s) as a result of providing Special Services outlined in Appendix C.

"Publicly Available Information"

Publicly Available Information means data obtained from the internet, as well as data obtained under licence with or without a fee, and can be made available

2

to any member of the public under a licence agreement. Publicly Available Information is not brought into Statistics Canada under the Act.

"Special Services"

Refers to statement of work described in Appendix C.

"Statistics Canada Premises"

Statistics Canada Premises refers to a building or part of a building designated as Statistics Canada premises. This includes all Statistics Canada Research Data Centres.

1.2 Interpretation of Appendices

This Contract contains the following Appendices, which form an integral part of this contract:

- (a) Appendix A Security Requirements
- (b) Appendix B Operational Requirements
- (c) Appendix C Description of Special Services to be provided to Statistics Canada by Researcher(s)
- (d) Appendix D Information and related documentation provided to Researcher(s)
- (e) Appendix E Documents to be provided to Researcher(s)
- (f) Appendix F Conflict of Interest Declaration Form
- (g) Appendix G Administrative Data Metadata

In case of inconsistency or conflict between a provision contained in the part of the Contract preceding the signatures and a provision contained in any of the appendices, the provision contained in the part of the Contract preceding the signatures will prevail.

2. STATEMENT OF WORK

- 2.1 The Researcher(s) is/are hereby retained to perform the Special Services as documented in Appendix C, for the Minister pursuant to the Statistics Act.
- 2.2 Special Services shall consist of carrying out the research project and in providing the Proposed Output as described in Appendix C, in accordance with the requirements contained in this Contract.

3. INFORMATION ACCESSED BY DEEMED EMPLOYEE (S)

Subject to this Contract, Statistics Canada shall grant Deemed Employees access to the Information required to perform Special Services for Statistics Canada.

4. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF ACCESS TO THE MICRODATA

- 4.1 Subject to the terms and conditions contained in this section and the Security Requirements in Appendix A as well as the Operational Requirements in Appendix B, Statistics Canada will provide access to the Information to the Researcher(s) for the purpose of performing the Special Services.
- 4.2 Such access will be provided only to the extent necessary, at Statistics Canada's discretion, for the performance of the Special Services.

3

- 4.3 Such access will only be provided on Statistics Canada premises and using equipment provided and/or specifically designated by Statistics Canada.
- 4.4 The Researcher(s) acknowledge and agree that, in order to have and maintain access to the Information, the Researcher(s) shall comply with the following pre-access requirements:
 - 4.4.1 Having been granted at minimum, a "Reliability" security status as defined in the federal Policy on Government Security;
 - 4.4.2 Having taken the oath of office, as required by section 6 of the Statistics Act;
 - 4.4.3 Having read, understood and will comply with the relevant Statistics Canada policies, directives, guides and guidelines listed in Appendix E;
 - 4.4.4 Having read, understood and will comply with the Values and Ethics Code for the Public Sector, Statistics Canada Code of Conduct and the Directive on Conflict of Interest listed in Appendix E;
 - 4.4.5 Having declared in Appendix C:
 - 4.4.5.1 That the sole purpose of the research project is statistical research,
 - 4.4.5.2 The sources of monetary or in kind support they are receiving to carry out the Research Project;
 - 4.4.6 The Researcher(s) understand the potential penalties should they contravene the terms and conditions of access to the Information and the penalties should the Researcher(s) contravene the Statistics Act and any applicable related Acts, including the Income Tax Act or the Excise Tax Act.

5. LIMITATIONS ON USE OF INFORMATION

- 5.1 The Researcher(s), in the course of carrying out this Contract, may not use any of the information gained by accessing the Information for any other purpose except that which was agreed upon in this Contract.
- 5.2 Access to the Information is being provided for the statistical and research purpose outlined in the Statement of Work in Appendix C.
- 5.3 The Researcher(s) shall not disclose any of the Information to anyone other than current Statistics Canada employees involved in the review or evaluation of any aspect of the research project or to other Deemed Employees who have been approved for the same Special Services and therefore are also authorized to have access to the same Information.
- 5.4 The Researcher(s) shall ensure that no attempts are made to link the Information supplied herein to any other files in order to relate the particulars to any identifiable Person.

6. PENALTIES

As Deemed Employees of Statistics Canada, and having taken the oath/solemn affirmation

of secrecy set out in section 6 of the Statistics Act, Researcher(s):

- 6.1 Remains/Remain subject to the oath/solemn affirmation of secrecy even after the term of the Contract has ended.
- 6.2 Is/are subject to all the applicable penalties provided for in the Statistics Act for contravention of any of the confidentiality provisions and are liable on summary conviction to any of the applicable fines or imprisonment terms.
- 6.3 Is/are prohibited from disclosing information related to any Person (subsection 17(1) of the Statistics Act) obtained under the Statistics Act. Researcher(s) contravening subsection 17(1) of the Statistics Act is/are guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding one thousand dollars or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six months or to both (paragraph 30(c) of the Statistics Act).
- 6.4 Is/are prohibited from disclosing confidential information obtained through the course of their employment that might exert an influence on or affect the market value of any stocks, bonds or other security or any product or article, or using the same information to speculate in any stocks, bonds or other security or any product or article (section 34 of the *Statistics* Act). Researcher(s) contravening section 34 of the *Statistics* Act is/are guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding five thousand dollars or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding five years or to both.
- 6.5 Is/are reminded that if they are accessing data from sources other than Statistics Canada, in accordance to this Contract, then they are subject to all the applicable penalties provided for in related and applicable laws for contravention of any of the confidentiality provisions and are liable on summary conviction to any of the applicable fines or imprisonment terms.

7. OWNERSHIP AND COPYRIGHT OF INFORMATION

- 7.1 Statistics Canada is the owner and/or steward of the Information and related documentation listed in Appendix D and Parties agree that this Contract pertains to the use of the Information and related documentation to produce the Proposed Output for Statistics Canada. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to convey any title or ownership interest in the Information or the related documentation to the Researcher(s).
- 7.2 Statistics Canada is also the steward of Administrative Data and all associated documentation, as well as Publicly Available Information brought onto Statistics Canada Premises by Researcher(s).
- 7.3 Copyright in the Proposed Output shall vest in Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada. The Researcher(s) may be required to provide to Statistics Canada, at the completion of the Contract, or at such other time as Statistics Canada may require; a written permanent waiver of Moral rights from every author who contributed to the Proposed Output.
- 7.3 Copyright in any subsequent work created by the Researcher(s) using the Proposed Output shall vest in the Researcher(s).

8. USE OF AND PUBLISHING OF PROPOSED OUTPUT

- 8.1 Release of the Proposed Output by Statistics Canada may be considered by Statistics Canada in consultation with the Principal Researcher.
- 8.2 Statistics Canada reserves the right:

5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Contract has been executed on behalf of:

FOR STATISTICS CANADA:



(Complete for all deemed employees signing contract)

9

Appendix B: CRC Module/Questionnaire in CCHS

Variable Name:	DOCCT	Ler	ngth:	1.0		Position: 1179
Question Name:						
Concept:	Colorectal cancer testing	- Inclusion F	lag - (l	F)		
Question Text:						
Universe:	All respondents					
Note:	Questions for this module were not asked in proxy interviews. Proxy interviews were coded as "not stated" which mostly explains the higher proportion of this category com- pared to modules where proxy was allowed.					
Source:						
Answer Categories		Code	Fre	equency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>
Yes	Total	1		56,950 56,950	30,985,500 30,985,500	100.0 100.0
Variable Name:	CCT_005	Ler	ngth:	1.0		Position: 1180
Question Name:	CCT_Q005					
Concept:	Had a fecal test - lifetime					
Question Text:	A fecal test is a test to check for blood in the stool, in which a stick is used to smear a small stool sample on a special card.					

Page 334 - 627

	Have you ever had this test	t?						
Universe:	Respondents aged 40 to 74 with DOCCT = 1							
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews							
Source:								
Answer Categories	<u>c</u>	Code	Fre	quency	Weighted Frequency	%		
Yes No		1 2		16,100 14,050	7,310,000 7,947,500	23.6 25.6		
Valid skip		6		26,000	15,186,000	49.0		
Don't know Refusal		7		200 50	121,500 80.000	0.4		
Not stated		9		500	340,500	1.1		
	Total			56,950	30,985,500	100.0		
Variable Name:	CCT_010		Length:	1.0		Position: 1181		
Question Name:	CCT_Q010							
Concept:	Fecal test - last time							
Question Text:	When was the last time?							
Universe:	Respondents aged 40 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 1							
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews							
Source:								
Answer Categories	<u>c</u>	Code	Fre	quency	Weighted Frequency	%		
6 months ago or less		1		3,150	1,420,500	4.6		
More than 1 year to 2 years ago		3		3,800	1,529,000	4.9		
More than 2 years to 5 years ago		4		3,200	1,433,500	4.6		
More than 5 years ago		5		2,550	1,158,500	3.7		
Don't know		7		40,050	23,133,500 81,500	0.3		
Refusal		8		0	1,000	0.0		
Not stated	Total	9		750	542,000	1.7		
	Iotal			56,950	30,965,500	100.0		
Variable Name:	CCT_015A		Length:	1.0		Position: 1182		
Question Name:	CCT_Q015							
Concept:	No fecal test - 2 yrs - lack o	of time						
Question Text:	What are the reasons you did not have a fecal test [in the past 2 years]? - Lack of time							
Universe:	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 2 or (CCT_005 = 1 and CCT_010 = (4 or 5))							
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews							

Page 335 - 627

Source:									
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	%				
Yes		1	550	273,500	0.9				
No		2	12,400	5,891,000	19.0				
Valid skip		6	42,850	24,182,500	78.0				
Befusal		8	350	1.000	0.4				
Not stated		9	850	502,000	1.6				
	Total		56,950	30,985,500	100.0				
Variable Name:	CCT_015B	Len	gth: 1.0		Position: 1183				
Question Name:	CCT_Q015								
Concept:	No fecal test- 2 yrs - no a	access to test							
Question Text:	What are the reasons you did not have a fecal test [in the past 2 years]? - No access to test (distance, clinic hours or cost)								
Universe:	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 2 or (CCT_005 = 1 and CCT_010 = (4 or 5))								
Note:	Was not asked in proxy i	interviews							
Source:									
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>				
Yes		1	100	41,000	0.1				
No		2	12,850	6,123,500	19.8				
Valid skip		6	42,850	24,182,500	78.0				
Refusal		8	0	1.000	0.0				
Not stated		9	850	502,000	1.6				
	Total		56,950	30,985,500	100.0				
Variable Name	CCT 015C	Len	ath: 10		Position: 1184				
variable name.	001_0100	Lon	gun. 1.0						
Question Name:	CCT_Q015								
Concept:	No fecal test- 2 yrs - respondent did not think necessary								
Question Text:	What are the reasons you did not have a fecal test [in the past 2 years]? - Respondent did not think it was necessary								
Universe:	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 2 or (CCT_005 = 1 and CCT_010 = (4 or 5))								
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews								
Source:									
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>				
Yes		1	4,200	1,803,000	5.8				
Valid skip		2	0,750 42,850	4,361,500	78.0				
and only		~	-12,000	24,102,000	1010				

Page 336 - 627

Answer Categories Don't know Refusal Not stated	Total	Code 7 8 9	Frequency 350 0 850 56,950	Weighted Frequency 135,500 1,000 502,000 30,985,500	<u>%</u> 0.4 0.0 1.6 100.0					
Variable Name:	CCT_015D	Len	gth: 1.0		Position: 1185					
Question Name:	CCT_Q015	115								
Concept:	No fecal test- 2 yrs - doctor did not think necessary									
Question Text:	What are the reasons you did not have a fecal test [in the past 2 years]? - Doctor did not think it was necessary/ he never brought it up									
Universe:	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 2 or (CCT_005 = 1 and CCT_010 = (4 or 5))									
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews									
Source:										
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	%					
Yes No Valid skip Don't know Refusal Not stated	Total	1 2 6 7 8 9	5,200 7,750 42,850 350 0 850 56,950	2,682,500 3,482,000 24,182,500 135,500 1,000 502,000 30,985,500	8.7 11.2 78.0 0.4 0.0 1.6 100.0					
Variable Name:	CCT_015E	Len	gth: 1.0		Position: 1186					
Question Name:	CCT_Q015									
Concept:	No fecal test- 2 yrs - fea	r / discomfort								
Question Text:	What are the reasons you did not have a fecal test [in the past 2 years]? - Feelings of fear or discomfort									
Universe:	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_005 = 2 or (CCT_005 = 1 and CCT_010 = (4 or 5))									
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews									
Source:										
Answer Categories Yes No Valid skip Don't know Refusal Not stated	Total	Code 1 2 6 7 8 9	Frequency 250 12,700 42,850 350 0 850 56,950	Weighted Frequency 98,000 6,066,500 24,182,500 135,500 1,000 502,000 30,985,500	<u>%</u> 0.3 19.6 78.0 0.4 0.0 1.6 100.0					

Page 337 - 627

Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews							
Source:								
Answer Categories It was the first time More than once a year Every year Every 2 years Less than once every 2 years No fixed frequency Valid skip Don't know Refusal Not stated	Total	Code 01 02 03 04 05 06 96 97 98 99	Fre	quency 2,500 250 2,950 500 1,650 45,850 200 0 750 56,950	Weighted Frequency 1,262,500 107,500 1,046,000 1,281,000 227,500 702,500 25,726,000 86,500 3,000 543,000 30,985,500	% 4.1 0.3 3.4 4.1 0.7 2.3 83.0 0.3 0.0 1.8 100.0		
Variable Name:	CCT_025		Length:	1.0		Position: 1193		
Question Name:	CCT_Q025							
Concept:	Had sigmoidoscopy / colo	noscopy	- lifetime					
Question Text:	A sigmoidoscopy and a colonoscopy are two tests in which a tube is inserted into the rectum in order to detect signs of cancer or other health problems. A colonoscopy examines the entire colon, while a sigmoidoscopy only examines the first section of the colon. The sigmoidoscopy requires less preparation. Have you ever had either one of these tests?							
Universe:	Respondents who answered CCT_005 = (1, 2 or 7) and CCT_015 = (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 96, 97 or 98)							
Note:	Was not asked in proxy interviews. If a respondent answered CCT_015 = 7, the variable CCT_025 was given the value of 1.							
Source:								
Answer Categories		Code	Fre	quency	Weighted Frequency	%		
Yes No Valid skip Don't know Refusal Not stated	Total	1 2 6 7 8 9		12,850 17,400 26,000 100 0 550 56,950	5,964,500 9,330,000 15,186,000 76,500 8,000 420,500 30,985,500	19.2 30.1 49.0 0.2 0.0 1.4 100.0		
Variable Name:	CCT_030A		Length:	1.0		Position: 1194		
Question Name:	CCT_Q030							
Concept:	No sigmoidoscopy / color	ioscopy -	lack of tim	e				
Question Text:	What are the reasons you - Lack of time	I have no	t had thes	e tests?				

Page 340 - 627
CCHS 2017 - Data Dictionary Master File - 12 Month (Rounded frequencies) June 2018

Variable Name:	CCT_030F	Le	ength: 1.0		Position: 1199			
Question Name:	CCT Q030		•					
Concept:	No sigmoidoscopy /	No sigmoidescopy / colonescopy - no doctor						
Question Texts	What are the reason							
Question Text:	- Don't have a docto	What are the reasons you have not had these tests? - Don't have a doctor						
Universe:	Respondents aged §	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_025 = 2						
Note:	Was not asked in pro	Was not asked in proxy interviews						
Source:								
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>			
Yes		1	350	157.000	0.5			
No		2	11.200	5.330.500	17.2			
Valid skip		6	44,650	24,995,500	80.7			
Don't know		7	200	86,500	0.3			
Refusal		8	0	3,000	0.0			
Not stated		9	600	412,500	1.3			
	Total	-	56,950	30,985,500	100.0			
Variable Name:	CCT_030G	Le	ength: 1.0		Position: 1200			
Question Name:	CCT_Q030		-					
Concept:	No sigmoidoscopy /	No sigmoidoscopy / colonoscopy - had a fecal test						
Question Text:	What are the reason - Had a fecal test ins	What are the reasons you have not had these tests? - Had a fecal test instead						
Universe:	Respondents aged 8	Respondents aged 50 to 74 who answered CCT_025 = 2						
Note:	Was not asked in pro If CCT_005 <> 1 this	Was not asked in proxy interviews. If CCT_005 <> 1 this category was not an available option.						
Source:								
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>			
Yes		1	650	282.000	0.9			
No		2	10,850	5,205,500	16.8			
Valid skip		6	44,650	24.995.500	80.7			
Don't know		7	200	86.500	0.3			
Refusal		8	0	3.000	0.0			
Not stated		9	000	412,500	1.3			
	Total	•	56.950	30.985.500	100.0			
			00,000	30,000,000				
Variable Name:	CCT_030H	Le	ength: 1.0		Position: 1201			
Question Name:	CCT Q030							
Concent:	Na sigmaidasaanu (aslanasaanu, did ast kasuuli suisted							
concept.	no signouoscopy / colonoscopy - ala not know it existed							

Page 343 - 627

Variable Name:	PAADVWHO	Len	gth: 1.0		Position: 825	
Question Name:						
Concept:	Physically active based on WHO guidelines - (D)					
Question Text:						
Universe:	See documentation on derived variables.					
Note:						
Source:	Derived from DHH_AGE, PAADVVOL					
Answer Categories		Code	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	%	
Active Moderately active Somewhat active Sedentary Valid skip Not stated	Total	1 2 3 4 6 9	20,150 8,250 10,950 11,650 4,400 1,550 56,950	11,656,000 4,831,000 5,838,000 5,641,500 2,235,000 784,000 30,985,500	37.6 15.6 18.8 18.2 7.2 2.5 100.0	
Variable Name:	PAADVMON	Len	gth: 1.0		Position: 826	
Question Name:						

Page 228 - 627

Variable Name:	SMK_005	Leng	th: 1.0		Position: 549		
Question Name:	SMK_Q005						
Concept:	Type of smoker (daily / occasionally / not at all) - presently						
Question Text:	At the present time, do you smoke cigarettes every day, occasionally or not at all?						
Universe:	Respondents with DOSMK = 1						
Note:							
Source:							
Answer Categories	<u>c</u>	ode	Frequency	Weighted Frequency	%		
Daily		1	7,400	3,577,000	11.5		
Occasionally Not at all		2	2,400 47 100	1,429,000	4.6 83.8		
Don't know		7	47,100	2,500	0.0		
Refusal		8	0	10,500	0.0		
	Total		56,950	30,985,500	100.0		
Variable Name:	SMK_010	Leng	th: 1.0		Position: 550		
Question Name:	SMK_Q010						
Concept:	Smoked - 30 d						

Page 156 - 627

Variable Name:	SDCDVCGT	Length:	2.0		Position: 1810		
Question Name:							
Concept:	Cultural / racial background - (D)						
Question Text:							
Universe:	See documentation on derived variables.						
Note:							
Source:	Derived from SDC_015, SDC_020A, SDC_020B, SDC_020C, SDC_020D, SDC_020E, SDC_020F, SDC_020F, SDC_020H, SDC_020I, SDC_020J, SDC_020K, SDC_020L						
Answer Categories	Cod	<u>e</u> <u>Fr</u>	equency	Weighted Frequency	<u>%</u>		
White only South Asian only Chinese only Black only Filipino only Latin American only Arab only Southeast Asian only West Asian only Korean only	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2 1 2 3 4 5 5 5 7 7 3 9 9 9 9 9	46,450 1,200 1,300 850 700 450 450 450 300 150	22,387,500 1,405,000 1,203,000 828,000 708,500 476,500 416,000 351,000 168,500 151,500	72.3 4.5 3.9 2.7 2.3 1.5 1.3 1.1 0.5 0.5		
Answer Categories	Coc	e F	requency	Weighted Frequency	%		
Japanese only	1	1	100	74,500	0.2		
Other racial or cultural origin (only Multiple racial or cultural origins	/)	3	550 850	433,000	1.4		
Valid skip	9	6	2.850	1.132.000	3.7		
Not stated		9	600	528,000	1.7		
	Total		56,950	30,985,500	100.0		